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The cover design of our 2011 
Annual Report refl ects our faith 
in Malaysia’s economy and global 
competitiveness, in the potential 
of our industry, in our capabilities 
as a visionary organisation, in our 
resourceful people, in our mission 
to contribute to the good of 
society, in everything that we call 
PROGRESS. 
 
In 2011, Dijaya once again 
continued to expand, acquiring 
land banks in the Klang Valley, 
Penang and Johor. The year 
also saw us venture into the 
hospitality and education sectors, 
with W Hotel and the Tropicana 
International School. As at 
31 December 2011, our 
ongoing projects had a Gross 
Development Value of RM28 
billion, and we are progressing 
rapidly towards our target of 
boosting our market capitalisation 
from RM600 million to RM2 to 
RM3 billion. 

Through an Amalgamation 
Exercise Agreement in 2012, we 
will again expand our land banks 
in the Klang Valley and Sabah to 
further strengthen our fi nancial 
position and give the Group 
better access to larger scale 
business opportunities. 
 
However, it is on the calibre, 
location and high appreciation 
value of our projects that our 
success rests, and in this year’s 
annual report, we focus on a 
selection of our current and new 
developments.



corporate information 
 About Dijaya 002
 Our Mission Statement 003
  and Our Business Principles
 Our Signature Developments 004
 Our Core Business 006
 Performance at a Glance (KPI’s) 007
 Group Corporate Structure 010
 Corporate Information 011
 Delivering Excellence  012
 Dijaya News 014

performance review
 Chairman’s Statement 018
 Group CEO’s Message 022
 Managing Director’s Review 028
 Value Added Statement 032
 Financial Calendar 2011 033

leadership 
 Board of Directors 036
 Directors’ Profi le 038
 Management Team 044
 Management Profi le 046

corporate responsibility
 Community 050
 Environment 052
 Marketplace 052
 Workplace 052
 Investor Relations  053

event highlights 2011
 Dijaya Event Highlights 056
 Tropicana Golf & 
  Country Resort Event Highlights 058
 Tropicana City Mall Event Highlights 058

contents
corporate governance
 Statement on Corporate Governance 062
 Additional Compliance Information  068
 Statement on Internal Control 069
 Risk Management Statement 070
 Audit Committee Report 071
 
fi nancial results
 Directors’ Report 076
 Statement by Directors 081
 Statutory Declaration 081
 Independent Auditors’ Report 082
 Statement of Comprehensive Income 084
 Statement of Financial Position - Group 085
 Statement of Financial Position - Company 087
 Statement of Changes in Equity - Group 088
 Statement of Changes in Equity - Company 090
 Statement of Cash Flow 091
 Notes to the Financial Statements 095

other information 
 Analysis of Shareholdings 178
 Analysis of Warrant Holdings 180
 List of Properties 182
 Corporate Directory 189
 Notice of Annual General Meeting 191
 Statement Accompanying 
  the Notice of Annual General Meeting  192
 Proxy Form



Dijaya Corporation Berhad 
is a fast-evolving company 
with diversified business 
interests including Property and 
Resort Development, Property 
Investment, Manufacturing and 
Investment Holding. Owing to 
its successful ventures in these 
chosen areas, the Group was 
listed on the Main Board of Bursa 
Malaysia in 1992 and today, 
90% of the Group’s revenue 
is generated by its property 
development, resort operations 
and property investment.

about
dijaya

In March 2012, YBhg Tan Sri Dato’ 
Danny Tan, Group Chief Executive 
Officer of Dijaya, executed 
an Amalgamation Exercise 
Agreement to streamline and 
rationalise majority of the lands 
and properties held privately into 
Dijaya. The exercise will positively 
strengthen the fi nancial position of 
Dijaya and give the Group better 
access to larger scale business 
opportunities. Upon completion 
of the Proposed Amalgamation 
Exercise, Dijaya’s land bank will 
increase to 870 acres and the 
Gross Development Value (GDV) 
will increase to RM37 billion. 
In addition, the lettable area of 
Dijaya’s investment properties will 
increase to 1.4 million square feet.

With aggressive expansion 
plans and a pipeline of innovative 
projects, the Group is poised for 
new growth. The management 
team remains focused on the 
Group’s mission to be one of the 
largest property development 
companies in the country by 
delivering quality and award-
winning products to the public.

With a credible and established 
track record in residential and 
commercial developments in 
Malaysia, Dijaya pioneered 
the concept of resort-style 
development. The Group is well 
known for some of its distinctive 
and innovative properties such as 
Tropicana Golf & Country Resort, 
housing Malaysia’s largest and 
award-winning clubhouse; 
Tropicana Indah Resort Homes; 
and Tropicana City, an integrated 
development consisting of 
Damansara Intan e-Business 
Park, Tropicana City Offi ce Tower, 
Tropicana City Mall and Tropicana 
City Tropics serviced apartments.

Dijaya has garnered many 
prestigious industry awards, 
such as the FIABCI Malaysian 
Chapter Leisure Development 
Award in 1995 and Bloomberg 
Best Golf Development Award 
2010 with highest fi ve-star rating 
in Asia Pacifi c. In 2011, Dijaya’s 
Tropicana Grande was named 
the Best Residential High-rise 
Development with the highest 
fi ve-star rating in Malaysia and 
Best Residential High-rise 
Development in Asia Pacifi c at 
the International Property Award 
in association with Bloomberg 
Television and Google.

In keeping with its growth 
strategies, the Group continues 
to explore new frontiers and high- 
potential business opportunities 
to include retail and offi ce spaces, 
hospitality and education sectors, 
amongst others. In 2011, the 
Group entered into a strategic 
collaboration with Starwood 
Hotels & Resorts Worldwide Inc 
to develop a fi ve-star W Hotel in 
Kuala Lumpur. The development 
of W Kuala Lumpur Hotel and 
Residences has already been 
initiated in early 2012. 

The Group is also fast expanding 
its geographical reach with new 
development blueprints and 
special projects in Klang Valley, 
Penang and Johor. Some of 
the key projects in early stages 
of planning include Tropicana 
Gardens in Tropicana Indah 
Resort Homes, Tropicana Bayou 
in Balakong, Tropicana Hills in 
Subang and Tropicana Heights in 
Kajang. Down south in Johor, the 
Group launched a fl agship, mixed-
use development, Tropicana 
Danga Bay, in the fi rst economic 
corridor of the country – Iskandar 
Malaysia. Similarly, in Penang, the 
Group entered into a joint venture 
agreement with Ivory Properties 
Group Berhad to develop a mixed 
development project in Bayan 
Mutiara.

ABOUT DIJAYA
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In delivering innovative 
products and services, 
we work towards optimum 
customer satisfaction. We 
recognise and reward our 
loyal customers, who are 
our pillars of strength and 
a driving force behind the 
success of our Company.

As a performance-driven 
organisation, our greatest 
assets are our people and 
their dedication to deliver 
the best. We are not only 
committed to the growth of 
our human capital, but we 
also encourage a culture of 
excellence and leadership 
towards greater successes.

In practicing principles of 
good governance, we 
endeavour to create 
shareholder value through 
our sustainable strategies, 
full accountability, business 
continuity and profi tability.

We have built a nurturing 
organisation, with shared 
values and culture, and we 
are motivated to think and 
deliver as One Team and 
One Organisation with One 
Mission and One Vision. 

mission 

business

statement

principles

our 

our 

OUR CUSTOMERS 
COME FIRST

OUR PEOPLE 
ARE OUR 
GREATEST ASSETS

OUR COMMITMENT 
TO OUR 
SHAREHOLDERS

OUR 
TEAMWORK

We STRIVE 
to be the 
LEADING 
PROPERTY 
DEVELOPER 
in Malaysia

We believe in a common set of principles, which not only drives our business objectives but 
also defi nes our corporate cultures

OUR MISSION STATEMENT
OUR BUSINESS PRINCIPLES
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our signature 
developments

Tropicana Golf 
& Country Resort 
Petaling Jaya, Selangor

RESIDENTIAL
•   Tropicana Grande golf-fronted 

condominiums 
 (under construction)
•  Casa Tropicana condominiums 
  (fi nal Block E is under construction)
•  Eva townhouses
•  Ana and Bella linked houses
•  Cora and Dora semi-dees
•   Green Acres 1 Gloria and Floria 

semi-dees
•   Green Acres 2 linked houses, 

semi-dees, bungalows and prime 
bungalow lots

COMMERCIAL
•   Tropicana Avenue retail, offi ces and 

serviced apartments 
 (just launched)
•  Merchant Square shop offi ces

Tropicana Indah 
Resort Homes 
Petaling Jaya, Selangor

RESIDENTIAL
•   Grand Villas bungalows
 (under construction)
•   Golf Villas bungalows (just launched)
•   Pool Villas semi-dees 

(under construction)
•   Link Villas linked houses 

(under construction)
•  Adam and Eve linked houses
•  Romeo and Juliet linked houses
•   Mustika and Persona linked houses
•  Green Haven bungalow lots
•  Green Haven 1 resort villas
•  Villa Green 1 linked bungalows
•  Villa Green 2 semi-dees
•  Villa Green semi-dees
•   Casa Indah 1 and 2 condominiums

COMMERCIAL AND EDUCATION
• T ropicana International School
 (coming soon)
•   Tropicana Gardens commercial centre 

(coming soon)

Tropicana City
Petaling Jaya, Selangor

RESIDENTIAL
•   Tropicana City Tropics serviced 

apartments
•   Casa Damansara 1 and 2 

condominiums

RETAIL AND COMMERCIAL
•  Tropicana City Mall
•  Tropicana City Offi ce Tower
•  Damansara Intan e-Business Park

OUR SIGNATURE DEVELOPMENTS
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our signature 
developments

Klang Valley 
Developments
Petaling Jaya, Selangor

RESIDENTIAL
•   Tropicana Cheras linked houses, semi-dees and bungalows, 

Cheras, Selangor (just launched)
•   Tropicana Bayou mixed development, Balakong, Selangor 

(coming soon)
•   Tropicana Hills mixed development, Subang, Selangor 
 (coming soon)
•   Tropicana Heights mixed development, Kajang, Selangor 
 (coming soon)
•  Fortune Park apartments, Kuala Lumpur
•  Casa Kiara 1 and 2 condominiums, Mont’ Kiara, Kuala Lumpur*
•  Casa Suites apartments, Petaling Jaya, Selangor

RETAIL, COMMERCIAL AND HOSPITALITY
•  W Kuala Lumpur Hotel and Residences (coming soon)
•  TSB Commercial Centre, Sungai Buloh, Selangor
•   Arena Mentari shop offi ces, Dataran Mentari, Petaling Jaya, 

Selangor**

OUR SIGNATURE DEVELOPMENTS

Penang and Johor 
Developments

RESIDENTIAL
•  Mix development, Bayan Mutiara, Penang*** (coming soon)
•   10 Island Resort condominiums, Batu Ferringhi, Penang* 

(under construction)
•   Aston Villa linked houses, semi-dees and shop offi ces, Bukit 

Mertajam, Penang (under construction)
•   Tropicana Danga Bay mixed development, Iskandar Malaysia, 

Johor (coming soon)

*  Project Manager
**  Joint venture project with Aliran Firasat Sdn Bhd
*** Joint venture project with Ivory Properties Group Berhad
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our 
core business

Property Development and 
Resort Operations 

Property development is the core business of Dijaya. 

Over the last 10 years, the company’s assets have increased fi ve-fold from 

RM500 million to RM2.5 billion, with unbilled sales in excess of RM500 million as at 31 December 2011. 

The Group also enjoys a commanding position in the property market attributable to the 870 acres of 

quality land bank with an approximate total Gross Development Value (GDV) of RM37 billion. 

Supplementing the core business is the resort operations of Tropicana Golf & Country Resort. Established since 1992, 

the Resort has won numerous awards, making it a household name amongst residents in Petaling Jaya. 

With a strong foundation of past and present successes in property and resort development, 

Dijaya is committed to building fi ne, resort-theme lifestyle developments and 

commercial properties for discerning customers. 

Property Investment 

Launched in 2009, Tropicana City marks Dijaya’s maiden venture into 

property investment. The mixed commercial development comprises Tropicana City Mall, 

Tropicana City Offi ce Tower, Tropicana City Tropics serviced apartments and Damansara Intan e-Business

Park. To-date, occupancy rates for the mall and offi ce tower are 95% and 100% respectively. 

With remarkable success, the Group marks its debut into the hospitality industry by 

introducing the W brand to Malaysia. W Kuala Lumpur Hotel and Residences, 

located adjacent to Petronas Twin Towers, is expected to be completed by 2016. 

OUR CORE BUSINESS
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performance 
at a glance

  2011 2010  2009  2008  2007 
Revenue (RM’000)  375,218  292,258  311,777  244,090  270,371
Profi t after tax and minority interests (RM’000) 65,067 43,252  50,512  34,436  48,589
Total assets (RM’000)  2,471,095 1,540,295  1,427,425  1,270,093  1,008,112
Shareholders’ equity (RM’000)  950,629  898,836  839,843  635,250  606,623
Earnings per share (sen) (basic)  14.3  9.5  18.8  13.3  18.7
Net assets per share (RM)  2.08  1.98  1.85  2.45  2.34
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PERFORMANCE AT A GLANCE
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leading
the

life 
Dijaya’s high-rise residential developments set the 
benchmark for upscale living. Blending convenience, 
comfort and luxury, every one of our condominiums 
possesses an address in a prime location. Typical is 
Tropicana Grande, where spectacular modern design 
and surprisingly low density are combined with superb 
facilities, spacious layouts and panoramic vistas 
across the verdant golfi ng greens of the Tropicana 
Golf & Country Resort.

Set amidst manicured lawns and glittering water 
features, in 2011 Tropicana Grande was named the 
Best Residential High-Rise Development with the 
highest fi ve-star rating in Malaysia, and the Best 
Residential High-Rise Development in Asia Pacifi c by 
the International Property Awards in association with 
Bloomberg Television.

high





group corporate 
structure

PROPERTY & 
RESORT

DEVELOPMENT/
INVESTMENT

MANUFACTURING

100%  Tropicana Golf & 
 Country Resort Berhad

100% Bakat Rampai Sdn Bhd

100% Arah Pelangi Sdn Bhd

100% Tropicana Serdang Suria 
 Sdn Bhd
 (fka Aspek Analisa Sdn Bhd)

100% Dijaya Management 
 Services Sdn Bhd

100% Dijaya Property Sdn Bhd

100% Tropicana Senibong Sdn Bhd
 (fka Aman Petaling Sdn Bhd)

100% Tropicana KL Development Sdn Bhd 
 (fka Ace Rhythm Sdn Bhd)

100% Tropicana Subang Development Sdn Bhd 
 (fka Tropicana Mall Management Sdn Bhd)

100% Tropicana Kampar Development Sdn Bhd 
 (fka Atlantic Marketing Sdn Bhd)

100% Dijaya Tropicana Cove 
 Sdn Bhd 
 (fka Accroway Sdn Bhd)

100% Tropicana Development 
 (Penang) Sdn Bhd 
 (fka Seleksi Kembara 
 Sdn Bhd)

100% Dijaya Tropicana 
 Danga Bay Sdn Bhd

100% Dijaya Development 
 Sdn Bhd

100% Sumber Saujana 
 Sdn Bhd

100% Terbit Berkat Sdn Bhd

100% Tropicana Land Sdn Bhd

100% Tropicana Education Sdn Bhd

100% Star Honour Limited

100% Dijaya Credit & Leasing Sdn Bhd

100% Dijaya (Mauritius) Limited

70% Tropicana Education 
 Management Sdn Bhd

100% Tropicana Management
 Services Sdn Bhd

100% Tropicana Desa Mentari 
 Sdn. Bhd.
 (fka Mawar Hebat Sdn Bhd)

100% Tropicana Sungai Buloh
 Sdn. Bhd.
 (fka Nadi Jelita Sdn Bhd)

100% Tropicana City Sdn Bhd

100% Dicorp Land Sdn Bhd

100% Dijaya Indah Sdn. Bhd.
 (fka Irama Sejati Sdn Bhd)

50% Tropicana Danga Cove 
 Sdn Bhd 
 (fka Magical Heights Sdn Bhd)

55% Tropicana Ivory Sdn Bhd

60% Dijaya Wangsa Sdn Bhd

100% Desiran Realiti Sdn Bhd

60% Tropicana Danga Bay Sdn. Bhd.

100% Dijaya Tenaga Kimia 
 Sdn. Bhd.
 (fka Sinbor Corporation
 Sdn Bhd)

72% Dijaya-Malind JV 
 (Mauritius) Limited

100% Tropicana City Management
 Sdn Bhd

100% Tropicana City Parking 
 Sdn Bhd

100% Tropicana Kajang Hill 
 Sdn. Bhd.
 (fka Tropicana City
 Service Suites Sdn Bhd)

100% Dicasa Management 
 Services Sdn Bhd

70% Tropicana Indah Sdn. Bhd.

33% Tenaga Kimia Sdn Bhd

74% Dijaya-Malind Properties
 (India) Private Limited

 (fka - formerly known as)

GROUP CORPORATE STRUCTURE

OTHER 
INVESTMENT
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corporate 
information

CORPORATE INFORMATION

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

DATUK ROHANA BINTI 
TAN SRI MAHMOOD 
Independent 
Non-Executive Chairman

TAN SRI DATO’ 
TAN CHEE SING
Group Chief Executive Offi cer

DATO’ TONG KIEN ONN
Managing Director

DICKSON TAN YONG LOONG
Deputy Managing Director

KONG WOON JUN
Executive Director

KOONG WAI SENG
Executive Director

DATO’ KHOO POH CHYE 
Executive Director

DIANA TAN SHEIK NI 
Non-Independent 
Non-Executive Director

LOH CHEN PENG 
Independent 
Non-Executive Director

TANG VEE MUN 
Independent 
Non-Executive Director

DATUK SERI PANGLIMA
MOHD ANNUAR BIN ZAINI 
Independent 
Non-Executive Director

DATO’ NG TIAN SANG 
@ NG KEK CHUAN
Independent 
Non-Executive Director

AUDIT COMMITTEE

LOH CHEN PENG 
Chairman

DATUK SERI PANGLIMA 
MOHD ANNUAR BIN ZAINI 

DATO’ NG TIAN SANG 
@ NG KEK CHUAN

TANG VEE MUN

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

DATO’ NG TIAN SANG 
@ NG KEK CHUAN
Chairman

LOH CHEN PENG

DATUK SERI PANGLIMA 
MOHD ANNUAR BIN ZAINI 

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

LOH CHEN PENG 
Chairman

DATO’ NG TIAN SANG 
@ NG KEK CHUAN 

DATUK SERI PANGLIMA 
MOHD ANNUAR BIN ZAINI

OPTION COMMITTEE

DATO’ TONG KIEN ONN 
Chairman

DICKSON TAN YONG LOONG

KOONG WAI SENG

KONG WOON JUN

TAN KAR ENG

INVESTMENT COMMITTEE

LOH CHEN PENG 
Chairman

TANG VEE MUN

DATUK SERI PANGLIMA 
MOHD ANNUAR BIN ZAINI 

DICKSON TAN YONG LOONG

HEAD OFFICE
Level 10-12, 
Tropicana City Offi ce Tower
No. 3, Jalan SS 20/27 
47400 Petaling Jaya 
Selangor Darul Ehsan
Malaysia
Tel : 03-7710 1018 
Fax : 03-7725 3035 

REGISTERED OFFICE

C-06-02
6th Floor, Block C, Wisma TT
No. 1, Jalan PJS 8/15
Dataran Mentari
46150 Petaling Jaya
Selangor Darul Ehsan 
Malaysia 
Tel : 03-5621 3808
Fax : 03-5621 3807

COMPANY SECRETARY

Teh Peng Peng 

AUDITORS 

Ernst & Young 
Chartered Accountants
Level 23A, Menara Milenium
Jalan Damanlela 
Pusat Bandar Damansara 
50490 Kuala Lumpur 
Malaysia
Tel : 03-7495 8000 
Fax : 03-2095 9076

SHARE REGISTRAR

Symphony Share Registrars 
Sdn Bhd
Level 6, Symphony House
Pusat Dagangan Dana 1
Jalan PJU 1A/46
47301 Petaling Jaya
Selangor Darul Ehsan
Malaysia 
Tel : 03-7841 8000
Fax : 03-7841 8008

WEBSITE

www.DIJAYA.com.my

EMAIL

corpcomm@dijayacorp.com

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Alliance Bank Malaysia Berhad
AmBank (M) Berhad
Affi n Bank Berhad
CIMB Bank Berhad
Malayan Banking Berhad
OCBC Bank (Malaysia) Berhad
RHB Bank Berhad

STOCK EXCHANGE LISTING

Main Market of
Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad

Stock name : DIJACOR

Stock code : 5401
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Dijaya’s 
Triumph at 

the 2011 
International 

Property 
Awards

delivering 
excellence

On 31 May 2011, hundreds of 
prominent property professionals 
gathered at The Longemont 
Hotel in Shanghai, China, for 
announcement of the winners 
of the hotly contested Asia 
Pacific Property Awards. 
Dijaya Corporation Berhad 
was honoured to be amongst 
the winners. Dijaya’s Tropicana 
Grande, the golf-fronted luxury 
condominium, was named the 
Best Residential High-Rise 
Development with the highest 
fi ve-star rating in Malaysia and 
Best Residential High-Rise 
Development in Asia Pacifi c.

BEST RESIDENTIAL 
HIGH-RISE 

DEVELOPMENT 
MALAYSIA

Tropicana Grande by Dijaya 
Corporation Berhad

RESIDENTIAL HIGH-RISE 
DEVELOPMENT
ASIA PACIFIC

Tropicana Grande by
Dijaya Corporation Berhad

Dato’ Tong Kien Onn, Managing 
Director of Dijaya, said, “These 
awards are testimonies of our 
ongoing endeavour to create the 
much sought-after Tropicana-
branded products that offer 
buyers more than just properties, 
but contemporary lifestyle living. 
We are honoured to win these 
awards and we attribute this 
success to all the employees 
of Dijaya for their passion, 
dedication and hard work as well 
as the trust which our customers 
have in our Company.”

Chris Brooke (far left), President and 
CEO of CB Richard Ellis Asia and 
Chairman of The Royal Institution 
of Chartered Surveyors (RICS) Asia 
presented the prestigious Best 
Residential High-Rise Development in 
Asia Pacifi c award to Dato’ Tong Kien 
Onn (second from left), Managing 
Director of Dijaya. The presentation 
was also witnessed by Edmund 
Kong (far right), Executive Director of 
Dijaya, and Lillian Lung (second from 
right), General Manager, Sales and 
Marketing of Dijaya

DELIVERING EXCELLENCE
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delivering 
excellence

Good things come in a pair. Dijaya also bagged the Best Residential High-Rise 
Development with the highest fi ve-star rating in Malaysia. Seen here, from 
left: Everlyn Khaw, Deputy General Manager, Sales & Marketing of Dijaya; Lee 
Wee Kee, General Manager, Property Development of Dijaya; Edmund Kong; 
Dato’ Tong and Lillian Lung

These awards are in association 
with Bloomberg Television and 
Google. Established 17 years 
ago, the Asia Pacifi c Property 
Awards forms part of the 
International Property Awards 
which is the world’s most 
prestigious property competition 
covering residential and 
commercial categories. Each 
year, they set out to identify the 
very best real estate professionals 
across the globe. This is carried 
out through a meticulous process 
involving a judging panel of over 
50 experts chaired by Lord Bates 
of Langbaurgh and covering 
every aspect of the property 
business such as development, 
architecture, interior design 
and marketing.

MILESTONES AND AWARDS

Dijaya is honoured that its 
commitment to continuous 
improvement is consistently 
recognised by a range of industry 
awards.

Each award represents an 
independent validation of 
achievement and together, they 
serve as important yardsticks of 
the progress that Dijaya has made 
over the years.

LIST OF AWARDS / ACHIEVEMENTS (by year)

Development : Tropicana Grande golf-fronted condominiums
Category :  Best residential high-rise development 2011
  with the highest fi ve-star rating in Malaysia
  Best residential high-rise development 2011 
  in Asia Pacifi c
Awarded by :  International Property Awards in association 
  with Bloomberg Television

Development : Casa Indah 1 condominiums
Category : Best medium-high-cost apartment
Awarded by : Dream Home Award 2011

Development : Tropicana Golf & Country Resort
Category :  Best Golf Development 2010 with the highest 5-star 

rating in Malaysia
  Best Golf Development 2010 in Asia Pacifi c
Awarded by :  International Property Awards in association 
  with Bloomberg Television

Development : Villa Green semi-dees
Category :  Best Residential Development 2009 
  with the highest fi ve-star rating in Malaysia
  Best Residential Development 2009 in Asia Pacifi c
  Best Residential Development 2009 in the World
Awarded by : International Property Awards in association 
  with CNBC

Development : Tropicana Golf & Country Club
Category : Best Golf Course 1995 in Malaysia
  Best Golf Course 2003/2004 in Malaysia
  Best Golf Course 2005/2006 in Malaysia
Awarded by : Golf Malaysia

Development : Tropicana Golf & Country Club
Category : Best Customer Service Club 2005/2006 in Malaysia
Awarded by : Golf Malaysia

Development : Tropicana Golf & Country Club
Category : Best Clubhouse / Facilities 1997 in Malaysia
  Best Clubhouse / Facilities 1999/2000 in Malaysia
  Best Clubhouse / Facilities 2001/2002 in Malaysia
  Best Clubhouse / Facilities 2003/2004 in Malaysia
  Best Clubhouse / Facilities 2005/2006 in Malaysia
Awarded by : Golf Malaysia

Development : Tropicana Golf & Country Club
Category : Best Landscape 1997 (Hotel / Tourism Complex /
  Condominium / Luxury Apartments Category) 
  in Selangor, Malaysia
Awarded by : Selangor State Government

Development : Tropicana Golf & Country Resort
Category : Best Leisure Development 1995 in Malaysia
Awarded by : FIABCI Malaysia Chapter

DELIVERING EXCELLENCE
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newpulse
of

jaya 

Leveraging on Dijaya’s status as one of Malaysia’s 
leading property developers, Tropicana City is a fully 
integrated mixed commercial, retail and residential 
development that comprises Tropicana City Mall, 
Damansara Intan e-Business Park, Tropicana City 
Offi ce Tower and Tropicana City Tropics serviced 
apartments. Served by major highways, Tropicana 
City Mall offers ardent shoppers a variety of retail, 
dining and entertainment choices, while to canny 
business people it represents a captive market in a 
prime location. 

the 

petaling





CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

chairman’s 
statement

A journey of a thousand miles may begin with 
one small step; but, when you are closer to achieving 
your bigger vision, you will fi nd yourself leaping forward 
with giant steps and growth aspirations.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

chairman’s 
statement

The year 2011 has proven to be 
a landmark year to us for ACE 
reasons: our Acquisition of land 
banks across Peninsular Malaysia 
with a total Gross Development 
Value (GDV) of RM28 billion, 
and a formidable footprint in 
Klang Valley, Penang and Johor; 
Consolidation of our fl agship 
projects and development 
blueprints to include practical 
and innovative residential and 
commercial developments; and 
above all, Equity mark-up with 
enhanced brand value, and an 
ambitious growth plan to raise 
market capitalisation to RM2 
billion to RM3 billion, to be 
achieved in the next fi ve to six 
years from the current value of 
RM600 million.

Overall, the growth objectives are 
accelerated by new management 
teams in Klang Valley, Penang 
and Johor, with their strategic 
involvement to positively impact 
our corporate reputation and 
business performance.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

For the fi nancial year ended 31 
December 2011 (FY2011), Dijaya 
reported over RM538 million in 
sales. The total Group revenue 
recorded at RM375 million, 
while profi t before tax is RM87 
million. The operating revenues 
showed a 74% growth over 
2010 to RM92 million. The key 
contributing factors for our good-
to-great performance have been 
our forward-looking strategies, 
encouraging market response 
to our iconic projects and new 
project launches, recorded at 
RM700 million for FY2011.

DIVIDENDS

The Board has proposed, subject 
to the shareholders’ approval, a 
fi rst and fi nal dividend of 3% per 
ordinary share of RM1.00 less 
income tax of 25% for the fi scal 
year ending 2011. 

“Our journey through 2011 has 
been exciting and bullish, both in 
terms of enhancing shareholder value 
as well as our brand equity, placing 
us in a strengthened position in 
the marketplace.”

Dear Shareholders,

I am delighted to present the 
Annual Report of Dijaya Group, 
for the year ended 31 December 
2011, on behalf of the Board of 
Directors. 

History has witnessed Asia’s 
resilience in times of global 
fi nancial crisis and Malaysia 
is reasonably well placed and 
well positioned in the region in 
terms of its economic stability. 
In the past two years, we have 
seen a soft transition in the 
Malaysian property market, with 
a paradigm shift from demand-
driven approach to need-
based solutions, more to suit 
the fast-evolving lifestyles and 
infrastructure development. In the 
midst of all this, Dijaya has only 
grown from strength to strength, 
with us re-engineering our 
business model in 2011, leaping 
forward to emerge as one of the 
leading and larger competitive 
players in the country. Our journey 
through 2011 has been exciting 
and bullish, both in terms of 
enhancing shareholder value as 
well as our brand equity, placing 
us in a strengthened position in 
the marketplace.

A LEAP OF FAITH,
 FROM ‘GOOD TO GREAT’

Growth is inevitable for Dijaya, 
as it sets the wheel of wisdom 
and experience in motion to 
defi ne and achieve new levels of 
progress. Towards this, we are 
closely looking at our business 
imperatives:

1. Governance at its Best: 
  Dijaya has been ranked 

amongst the top 25 
companies on the MCG 
(Malaysian Corporate 
Governance) Index 2011*, 
which rates and ranks PLCs 
on various aspects such as 
compliance with corporate 
governance best practices, 
quality of disclosures, 
fi nancial sustainability and 
corporate responsibility 
efforts. Our attempt, in the 
long-run, will be to improve 
our governance frameworks 
to not only encourage and 
sustain the interest of local 
and regional investors, 
but also to promote better 
integrity and transparency 
in capital market and 
encourage greater corporate 
responsibility towards our 
stakeholder communities.

  (*MCG Index 2011 Report has 
been published by Minority 
Shareholder Watchdog Group)
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Independent Non-Executive 
Chairman of Dijaya, Datuk Rohana 
Binti Tan Sri Mahmood (left) fi elding 
questions from the shareholders 
in the presence of YBhg Tan Sri 
Dato’ Danny Tan Chee Sing, 
Group Chief Executive Offi cer of 
Dijaya

Dijaya extended help and cheer 
to the underprivileged in Beautiful 
Gate Foundation, Petaling Jaya

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

chairman’s 
statement

2.  Responsible and Socially 
Inclusive Development:

  While the purpose of our 
very existence rests on our 
business intent or objectives, 
we are mindful of our greater 
responsibility as a Corporate 
Citizen towards worthy social 
causes. Our commitment has 
been to bring about a positive 
attitudinal change in the social 
fabric of the society through 
integration of disadvantaged, 
disabled, underprivileged and 
underserved communities, 
institutions and individuals into 
the mainstream developed 
economy. We have been 
undertaking several initiatives 
towards improving quality of 
lives, investing in our future 
and inspiring talent; also by 
supporting programmes, and 
related to education, health 
and environment.

3. Employee Engagement: 
  Employees are not just our 

biggest assets but they 
are the ‘push’ behind the 
‘performance’, catalysing 
the success of our projects 
as well as the organisation. 
Hence, we recognise their 
contributions and enlist 
them as partners in growth 
through various corporate 
schemes such as Employees’ 
Share Option Scheme 
(ESOS) and employee 
enrichment programmes to 
include mentoring sessions, 
training and workshops as 
well as career progression 
plans. We also encourage 
our employees to embrace 
and take pride in our CSR 
philosophy by volunteering 
quality time for social 
objectives and initiatives.

4. Shareholder Value:
  Our business will gain 

more momentum through 
continuous improvement 
in our operating standards, 
which in turn will drive 
shareholder value. Improved 
efficiencies, business 
continuity and sustainability 
are critical to help deliver 
tangible results, and generate 
real value. Towards this, our 
near-term objectives are 
implemented not in isolation 
but in view of our long-term 
direction and development 
blueprints.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

On behalf of the Board of 
Directors, I would like to express 
my sincere appreciation to our 
valued shareholders for their 
continuing association with us 
and our brand. I also take this 
opportunity to thank all our loyal 
customers, bankers, contractors, 
consultants, suppliers and 
business associates for resting 
their confi dence in us. With a note 
of special gratitude to the relevant 
authorities, I also applaud my 
fellow Board members for their 
guidance during the year under 
review and most importantly, for 
the contributions of the senior 
leadership team as well as the 
employees of Dijaya Group 
in meeting the fi nancial and 
operational objectives and targets 
of fi nancial year 2011.

Datuk Rohana Binti 
Tan Sri Mahmood
Chairman
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Dijaya Headquarters at Tropicana 
City Offi ce Tower, Petaling Jaya



What keeps us growing from strength to strength 
is our faith in Malaysia’s economy and global 
competitiveness, in the potential of our industry, 
in our capabilities as a visionary organisation, 
in our resourceful people, in our mission to 
contribute to the good of society, in everything 
that we call PROGRESS.

GROUP CEO’S MESSAGE

group ceo’s
message022
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ECONOMIC STRENGTH

Malaysia rose five spots 
to 21st place in the World 
Economic Forum’s Global 
Competitiveness Index 2011 
ranking, which is also an 
indication of the market readiness 
to explore new opportunities 
of growth locally, regionally 
and internationally. While 
the Government’s Economic 
Transformation Programme (ETP)
continued to drive our economic 
growth in 2011, private sector 
initiatives including robust 
business blueprints and organic 
growth plans augured well for 
the market and income stability.

Malaysia is prioritising urban 
agglomerations and corridors 
around clusters in high economic 
impact sectors under the 10th 
Malaysia Plan (10MP) (2011-
2015), and we recognise the 
need as well as see the potential 
to participate in this growth 
journey. In keeping with this, 
Dijaya subscribes to the value of 
Iskandar Malaysia, which will 
emerge as the new corridor of 
power, prestige and progress. 
In the fourth quarter of 2010, 
through a joint venture with 
Iskandar Waterfront Sdn Bhd, 
we acquired 37 acres of prime 
land in Iskandar Malaysia, 
Johor Bahru, to develop an 

GROUP CEO’S MESSAGE

group ceo’s 
message

Grand Villas at Tropicana 
Indah Resort Homes

iconic and integrated commercial 
development – Tropicana Danga 
Bay. We are well positioned to
introduce lifestyles of international 
standards through this RM3.8 
billion development. Our key 
projects within this development 
include a comprehensive mix of 
retail street-mall, offi ce tower, 
residential properties, SoHo, 
hotel, medical centre and 
international school. The entire 
development will be connected by 
a walkway at level six, providing 
a refreshing alfresco escape 
for everyone.
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POISED FOR GROWTH

In 2011, we re-engineered our 
business model to include new 
potential areas of growth. Some 
of the landmark decisions that 
continue to contribute to the big 
picture were:

•  Aquisition of land banks across 
Peninsular Malaysia

•  Venture into investment 
properties for recurring income

•  Develop projects with potential 
growth for sustainable 
development

We also diversifi ed our line of 
business to include hospitality, 
education and mixed commercial 
components.

In the fi rst quarter of 2011, 
Dijaya signed an agreement 
with Starwood Hotels & Resorts 
Worldwide Inc to develop a 
fi ve-star W Hotel and private 
residences in Kuala Lumpur. This 
iconic move into the hospitality 
industry underlines the Group’s 
commitment to continued growth. 
The development of W Kuala 
Lumpur Hotel and Residences is 
expected to commence by 2012.

In the second quarter of 2011, the 
Group purchased four parcels 
of freehold land in Subang, 
Pekan Country Heights. The 
development, known as Tropicana 
Hills, will transform 88.5 acres 
of land into a mixed residential 
and commercial enclave with an 
expected Gross Development 
Value (GDV) of RM2.5 billion.

In the third quarter of 2011, 
through a joint venture with 
Iskandar Waterfront Sdn Bhd 
again, Dijaya acquired a freehold 
land, measuring approximately 
227 acres in Plentong, Johor 
Bahru; this land has been 
allocated for a mixed development 
with an expected GDV of RM2.8 
billion. The decision to venture 
into the Johor market via the 
purchase of new land banks is 
in line with our strategy to grow 
our foot-print in the Southern 
Region of Malaysia. In Johor, we 
adopted a diverse and balanced 
approach, with Plentong 
development focusing on landed 
residential and commercial 
properties, and Tropicana Danga 
Bay offering high-rise residential 
and commercial developments. 
The Plentong development will 
cater for the growing demand 
from purchasers who prefer to 
stay close to the city centre and 
those who commute to Singapore 
daily via Singapore-Malaysia 
causeway. 

GROUP CEO’S MESSAGE

group ceo’s 
message

W Kuala Lumpur Hotel 
and Residences
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Tropez Residences at 
Tropicana Danga Bay, 
Iskandar Malaysia, Johor

We also bought 198.5 acres 
of freehold land in Kajang, an 
area of increasing population 
as well as expanding residential 
and commercial developments. 
The land (currently held under 
the operations of Kajang Hill 
Golf Club), with an estimated 
GDV of RM1.5 billion, will 
also be transformed into a 
mixed development. Branded 
as Tropicana Heights, the 
development will comprise 
landed houses, condominiums, 
apartments and shop offi ces. 
This land deal will provide 

group ceo’s 
message

GROUP CEO’S MESSAGE

“In Johor, we adopted a diverse and 
balanced approach to cater to the 
growing demand.”

an opportunity for the Group 
to introduce the proposed 
condominium development in 
Kajang, with the same quality 
and prestige associated with 
the ‘Tropicana’ brand. This 
development will be another future 
profi t generator for the Group and 
shall contribute positively to its 
fi nancial performance.

In the last quarter of 2011, Dijaya 
purchased three parcels of 
freehold land along Jalan Sultan 
Ismail, Kuala Lumpur. The prime 
lands have great development 
potential because of their strategic 
location in the central district of 
Kuala Lumpur City Centre. The 
lands, measuring approximately 
one acre, will be transformed into 
a mixed development with a GDV 
of RM650 million.

Up north in Penang, the company 
entered into a joint venture 
agreement with Ivory Properties 
Group Berhad to develop a mixed 
development project in Bayan 
Mutiara. The development covers 
a land size of 102.56 acres and 
has a gross GDV of RM10 billion. 

Additionally, the Group offi cially 
launched pioneering projects 
such as Tropicana Avenue retail, 
offi ces and serviced apartments in 
Tropicana Golf & Country Resort, 
Golf Villas in Tropicana Indah 
Resort Homes and Tropicana 
Cheras residential development 
in Sungai Long. 

In December 2011, the Group 
launched Tropez Residences, a 
world-class, high-rise residential 
development located within the 
Tropicana Danga Bay mixed 
development.

Some of the new projects that 
are in the planning stage include 
Tropicana Gardens in Tropicana 
Indah Resort Homes and 
Tropicana Bayou in Balakong.
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GROUP CEO’S MESSAGE

group ceo’s 
message

The Group now has its footprint 
in Central, Southern and Northern 
regions, which are also amongst 
the major property development 
areas. With all these projects 
in the pipeline, we believe the 
Group is poised for new growth.

The new land acquisition in 
regional growth markets – to 
include Klang Valley, Johor  and 
Penang – will yield a GDV of 
RM28 billion over the next eight to 
10 years.

We launched RM700 million worth 
of new projects during the fi nancial 
year ending 31 December 2011, 
and are geared for more in 2012 
estimated at RM1.6 billion.

Our new growth pillars are being 
built on the strong and credible 
‘Tropicana’ brand, backed by its 
two anchor projects – the 625-
acre Tropicana Golf & Country 
Resort and 409-acre Tropicana 
Indah Resort Homes.

QUALITY OF LIFE

Our aspiration is to achieve 
phenomenal growth and raise 
our market capitalisation to RM2 
to RM3 billion mark in the next 
fi ve to six years. While we pursue 
this mission, we also endeavour 
to enhance quality of life through 
improved lifestyle concepts. All 
our residential and commercial 
developments are unique in 
terms of the lifestyle experience 
that they create for Malaysians, 
while instilling a sense of pride 
from association with our fl agship 
brand Tropicana.

OUR FAITH IN GOOD

Dijaya’s position in 2011 and 
in the coming years will also 
be strengthened by its faith in 
all that is good for the society, 
alongside its pragmatic business 
solutions. Last year, we decided 
to institutionalise our corporate 
charitable initiatives under the 
newly set-up Dijaya Tropicana 
Foundation, after having 
contributed to society through 
various resources and platforms 
over the last decade in Malaysia. 

Going forward, the Foundation 
will be a platform dedicated 
to improve the lives of 
the underprivileged and 
disadvantaged communities. In 
2011, the Foundation contributed 
over RM2.3 million to various 
charitable and social causes 
including initiatives that secure 
the future of our country, our 
young children, their education 
and health, well-being of the sick 
and elderly as well as supporting 
social upliftment and community 
development.

Tropicana Avenue at 
Tropicana Golf & Country 
Resort

Pool Villas at Tropicana 
Indah Resort Homes
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group ceo’s 
message

GROUP CEO’S MESSAGE

PROPELLERS OF GROWTH

Our business stands tall not just 
because of our vision and drive 
to make it big, but also for our 
people, who have believed in us, 
walked with us and demonstrated 
highest standards of work 
ethics. We remain committed to 
the professional and personal 
development of our people 
through our innovative employee 
engagement and career 
advancement programmes. 

Likewise, we also synergise our 
efforts and plans with potential 
industry partners to explore new 

areas of development and growth. 
There are many partners in our 
journey and we congratulate 
each one of our stakeholders for 
their untiring efforts, unwavering 
commitment and continuing 
association with us. We look 
forward to many more milestones 
and more accomplishments in the 
years to come.

YBhg Tan Sri Dato’ 
Danny Tan Chee Sing
Group Chief Executive Offi cer

Dijaya Tropicana 
Foundation hosted 
its fi rst gala dinner in 
5 April 2011. A total 
of RM1 million was 
donated to 11 non-
profi t groups and 
underprivileged schools. 
Guest-of-Honour 
YB Datuk Seri Dr Chua 
Soi Lek, President of 
MCA, was also present 
to witness the cheque 
presentation

YBhg Tan Sri Dato’ Danny Tan (far right) exchanging documents with 
Tuan Haji Johar Salim (far left) of Iskandar Waterfront Sdn Bhd during the 
signing ceremony witnessed by YAB Dato’ Haji Abdul Ghani bin Othman 
(second from left), Menteri Besar of Johor, and YBhg Dato’ Lim Kang Hoo 
(second from right) of Danga Bay Sdn Bhd

“Our aspiration is to achieve 
phenomenal growth and raise 
our market capitalisation to RM2 
to RM3 billion mark in the next 
fi ve to six years.”
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THE IDEAL GROWTH 

2011 speaks of Dijaya’s 
formidable and growing network 
of credible partners, acreages 
of land bank, visionary projects 
and development blueprints. We 
have extended our goals from 
building residential homes, offi ce 
premises and retail commercial 
malls to developing world-class 
hotel, education institution and 
commercial complexes.

Dijaya started the year with an 
exciting announcement of its new 
projects to include the luxurious 
golf-fronted condominiums 
in Tropicana Golf & Country 
Resort, a series of stylish villas in 
Tropicana Indah Resort Homes 
and other signature projects in 
Penang as well as Johor.

In the fi rst quarter of fi nancial 
year 2011, Dijaya entered into 
a strategic partnership with 
Starwood Hotels & Resorts 
Worldwide Inc to develop a W 
Hotel in Kuala Lumpur. Known 
to evoke an international luxury 
lifestyle experience, W Hotel will 
be our pioneering introduction to 
Malaysia as well as our diversifi ed 
venture.

managing 
director’s review

MANAGING DIRECTOR’S REVIEW

The year 2011 was a landmark year - when 
we expanded our horizons, consolidated our 
strengths, forged new partnerships and took 
a quantum leap; writing more success stories 
for Dijaya.
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INNOVATION TRIGGERS
SALES: FROM CONCEPTS 
TO SOLUTIONS

Beyond brick and mortar, we are in 
the business of selling innovative 
concepts with a secured and 
luxurious lifestyle. 

In 2011, we launched Dijaya 
Privilege Card for loyal customers 
to provide special rebates on 
properties, cash rewards for 
property referrals and members-
only pricing from selected 
merchant partners. To show our 
heartfelt appreciation for the loyal 
support of our customers, we also 
organised a fun-fi lled Customer 
Appreciation Night in conjunction 
with the launch of Dijaya Privilege 
Card. The event saw a grand 
turnout with guests coming from 
as far as Singapore, Indonesia 
and Hong Kong. 

In the last three quarters of 
2011, we acquired strategically 
located land banks of more 
than 630 acres, spread across 
Klang Valley, Penang and Johor. 
Our far-reaching foot-print in 
these regions refl ects not just 
our capacity and expertise but 
also our confi dence in driving 
high-value iconic projects in fast-
developing cities and locations 
beyond the urban Kuala Lumpur. 

GROWTH PLANS AND
STRATEGIES

Our strength will continue to be 
the brand, Tropicana, which will 
also fl ag itself in the economic 
zones of infl uence, such as the 
rising transformation zone of 
Iskandar Malaysia in Johor, which 
is the new up-and-coming corridor 
of power, prestige and progress. 
The plan is to conceptualise more 
developments beyond Tropicana 
Golf & Country Resort and 
Tropicana Indah Resort Homes; 
through acquisition of new, high-
potential, strategically located 
land banks and expansion of 
our foot-print across Peninsular 
Malaysia.

Dijaya is bringing 
the Tropicana brand 
further into the 
booming Cheras 
precinct with a 
new residential 
development –  
Tropicana Cheras

managing 
director’s review

MANAGING DIRECTOR’S REVIEW

Tropicana Grande, the luxurious 
golf-fronted condominium at 
Tropicana Golf & Country Resort

029

ANNUAL REPORT 2011DIJAYA CORPORATION BERHAD
(47908-K)



In 2011, Dijaya Privilege Card was offi cially 
launched. A Customer Appreciation Night was 
held in conjunction with the launch and saw 
great turnout with guests coming from as far as 
Singapore, Indonesia and Hong Kong

managing 
director’s review

MANAGING DIRECTOR’S REVIEW

Dijaya’s 
successful track 
record of being 
a versatile and 
high-quality 
developer will 
drive its growth 
engines to further 
achieve its 
ambitious target 
of RM2 to RM3 
billion market 
capitalisation in 
the next fi ve to 
six years.
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The Grand Villas development 
consists of only 12 bungalows 
within the green enclave of 
Tropicana Indah Resort Homes

POISED FOR GROWTH, 
WITH MANY PARTNERS 
IN PROGRESS

The Group currently has RM538 
million in unbilled property sales 
and is expected to launch about 
RM1.6 billion worth of new 
property projects in 2012. With a 
sizeable land bank worth RM36.6 
billion in GDV spread across the 
Peninsular and East Malaysia over 
a period of 10 years and beyond, 
Dijaya is poised for growth – both 
in the country and the region.

We continued in our efforts to 
organise special gatherings for 
our new and existing purchasers 
to promote exclusive lifestyles at 
Dijaya properties. These include 
High-Tea Party with Citibank 
and Malaysia Tatler Homes, 
Family Day, Buka Puasa Feast, 
Moon-Cake Festival and Special 
Previews at Tropicana Grande 
Sales Gallery. In keeping with our 
aspirations to attract international 
attention, Dijaya also participated 
in property exhibitions in 
Shanghai, China, and Jakarta, 
Indonesia.

The journey is only getting 
more exciting, with passionate 
employees of Dijaya geared for 
even better performance in 2012 
and beyond. I congratulate and 
thank the Board of Directors, the 
management, the staff as well as 
our partners for their commitment 
and contributions towards a 
successful 2011.

Dato’ Tong Kien Onn
Managing Director

managing 
director’s review

MANAGING DIRECTOR’S REVIEW
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value added
statement

VALUE ADDED STATEMENT

   2011  2010
   RM’000  RM’000

Value Added
Total turnover  375,218  292,258
Purchases of goods and services  (217,857)  (190,692)

Value Added by the Group  157,361  101,566
Share of profi ts of associates 6,361 6,605
Share of profi ts of jointly controlled entities (91) –

Total Value Added 163,631 108,171

Reconciliation:
Profi t for the year 65,067  43,252
Add: Depreciation and amortisation 16,395  14,593 
  Finance costs 11,359 6,001
  Staff costs 49,230  34,183
  Taxation 13,959  5,725
  Minority interest 7,621  4,417

Total Value Added 163,631  108,171

VALUE DISTRIBUTED
Employees
 Salaries and other staff costs 49,230  34,183
Government
 Corporate taxation 13,959  5,725
Providers of capital
 Dividends 17,087  10,237
 Finance costs 11,359  6,001
 Minority interest 7,621  4,417
Reinvestment and growth
 Depreciation and amortisation 16,395  14,593
 Income retained by the Group 47,980  33,015

Total Distributed 163,631  108,171

VALUE DISTRIBUTED

 2011 2010

30%
32%

Employees

9%
5%

Government

22%
19%

Providers of capital

44%
39%

Reinvestment and growth
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financial 
calendar 2011

FINANCIAL CALENDAR 2011

CALENDAR IN RESPECT OF THE
FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2011

Announcement of Unaudited Consolidated Quarterly Results

26 MAY 2011 • First Quarter ended 31 March 2011
25 AUGUST 2011 • Second Quarter ended 30 June 2011
24 NOVEMBER 2011 • Third Quarter ended 30 September 2011
28 FEBRUARY 2012 • Fourth Quarter ended 31 December 2011

Annual Report 2011 and 33rd Annual General Meeting

6 JUNE 2012 • Notice convening the 
  33rd Annual General Meeting
6 JUNE 2012 • Issuance of the Annual Report 2011
28 JUNE 2012 • 33rd Annual General Meeting

First and Final Dividend of 3% or 3 sen per share less 25% income tax
in respect of the fi nancial year ended 31 December 2011

6 JUNE 2012 • Announcement of the notice
  of entitlement and payment
9 AUGUST 2012 • Entitlement date
6 SEPTEMBER 2012 • Payment date
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where
avant-garde

hospitality

design 

In its quest for growth, Dijaya is exploring new frontiers 
with signifi cant potential. In April 2011, W Kuala 
Lumpur marked our debut into the hospitality arena 
as well as the entry of the W brand into Malaysia. 
Located adjacent to the Petronas Twin Towers, the 
W Kuala Lumpur Hotel and Residences will be the 
choice of discerning and style-conscious trendsetters 
who want to be wowed by the fi ner things in life – 
particularly those inspired by W brand’s iconic blend 
of revolutionary design concepts and innovative 
lifestyles. 

meets 
fi ve-star 



board
of directors

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
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seated from left to right

DATO’ TONG KIEN ONN
Managing Director

TAN SRI DATO’
DANNY TAN CHEE SING
Group Chief 
Executive Offi cer

DICKSON TAN YONG LOONG
Deputy Managing Director

DIANA TAN SHEIK NI
Non-Independent 
Non-Executive Director

DATUK ROHANA
BINTI TAN SRI MAHMOOD
Independent 
Non-Executive Chairman

standing from left to right

KONG WOON JUN
Executive Director

DATUK SERI PANGLIMA
MOHD ANNUAR BIN ZAINI
Independent 
Non-Executive Director

KOONG WAI SENG
Executive Director

DATO’ ANDY KHOO POH CHYE
Executive Director

DATO’ NG TIAN SANG
@ NG KEK CHUAN
Independent 
Non-Executive Director

LOH CHEN PENG
Independent 
Non-Executive Director

MICHAEL TANG VEE MUN
Independent 
Non-Executive Director
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Datuk Rohana Binti Tan Sri 
Mahmood, a Malaysian aged 58, 
was appointed to the Board of 
Directors of Dijaya Corporation 
Berhad (“Dijaya”) on 10 November 
2004 and was later appointed 
as the Chairman of Dijaya on 22 
January 2010.

Datuk Rohana holds a Bachelor 
of Arts Degree (Hons) in Politics 
from the University of Essex, 
United Kingdom and Masters 
in International Relations from 
the University of Sussex, United 
Kingdom.

Datuk Rohana’s working 
experience encompasses both the 
private and government sectors 
and has extensive political and 
business network in Malaysia and 
the Asia Pacifi c region. She is 
the Chairman and co-founder of 
Ethos Capital, a Malaysian private 
equity fund that invests in Asian 
companies since 2007. She is the 
Chairman of RM Capital Partners 
Sdn Bhd and OMNI Petromaritime 
Sdn Bhd, and a Board member 
of various private and listed 
companies including AMMB 
Holdings Berhad, Paramount 
Corporation Berhad, AmWater 
Investments Management Pte Ltd, 
KDU University College Sdn Bhd 
and YIM Technology Resources 

Sdn Bhd. She is the President 
and founding member of the 
Kuala Lumpur Business Club, a 
Distinguished Fellow and Board 
member of the Institute of Strategic 
and International Studies (ISIS) 
Malaysia. Prior to ISIS, Datuk 
Rohana was attached to the Ministry 
of Foreign Affairs Malaysia. She is 
a Member of Board of Trustees of 
the Asia Society, New York and a 
Board Member of Pacifi c Basin 
Economic Council (PBEC). She is 
also a Trustee of Dijaya Tropicana 
Foundation, Member Founder and 
Member of Board of Trustees of 
Yayasan Inovasi Malaysia, Member 
of the Malaysian Committee of the 
Council for Security Cooperation in 
the Asia Pacifi c and Member of the 
National Information Technology 
Council and also a Member of 
Trustees of Malaysian Youth 
Orchestra Foundation.

Datuk Rohana does not have any 
family relationship with any Directors 
and/or major shareholders of Dijaya 
nor any personal interest in any 
business arrangement involving 
Dijaya. She has not been convicted 
for any offence within the past 
10 years.
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Tan Sri Dato’ Tan Chee Sing, 
a Malaysian aged 57, was 
appointed to the Board of Dijaya 
on 5 July 1995. He is currently the 
Group Chief Executive Offi cer 
of Dijaya. He is a businessman 
and entrepreneur having a 
wide spectrum of businesses 
with extensive experience in 
property development, resort 
management, restaurants, leisure 
and entertainment operations 
through his investments in public 
and private limited corporations.

Tan Sri Dato’ Tan is also the Chief 
Executive Offi cer of Tropicana 
Golf & Country Resort Berhad 
and the Executive Vice-Chairman 
of TT Resources Bhd. He is 
a Director of Berjaya Capital 
Berhad, Bukit Kiara Resort 
Berhad, KDE Recreation Berhad, 
Tioman Island Resort Berhad and 
Berjaya Golf Resort Berhad. He 
is also the Chairman of Sports 
Toto Malaysia Sdn Bhd and a 
Director of U Mobile Sdn Bhd, 
a 3G mobile service provider. In 
addition, he is a trustee of Dijaya 
Tropicana Foundation.

His son, Mr Dickson Tan Yong 
Loong and his daughter, Ms 
Diana Tan Sheik Ni are also 
members of the Board. Save as 
disclosed, Tan Sri Dato’ Tan does 

not have any family relationship 
with any other Directors and/
or major shareholders of Dijaya, 
nor any personal interest in 
any business arrangement 
involving the Company except 
for certain recurrent related party 
transactions of revenue or trading 
nature which are necessary for 
the day-to-day operations of 
Dijaya Group.

He has not been convicted for any 
offence within the past 10 years.

TAN SRI DATO’ 
TAN CHEE SING
Group Chief 
Executive Offi cer

DATUK ROHANA BINTI 
TAN SRI MAHMOOD
Independent 
Non-Executive Chairman
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Dato’ Tong Kien Onn, a Malaysian 
aged 53, was appointed to the 
Board of Dijaya on 18 January 
2002. He was appointed as the 
Managing Director of Dijaya on 10 
May 2007. He is also the Chairman 
of the Option Committee.

Dato’ is an Accountant by 
profession and an Associate 
member of The Chartered Institute 
of Management Accountants, 
United Kingdom.

He has more than 25 years of 
experience in the fi nance and 
accounting fi elds through his 
employments with a number of 
Malaysian companies including 
United Prime Corporation 
Berhad. He joined Dijaya in 1991 
as Senior Finance Manager, 
primarily responsible for Dijaya 
Group’s fi nance, accounting and 
treasury functions. He was then 
promoted as General Manager 
of Finance and Administration in 
2000 and was then promoted 
as Senior General Manager of 
Finance and Administration in 
the same year before he was 
appointed as the Executive 
Director in 2002. He sits on 
the Board of Tropicana Golf & 
Country Resort Berhad, Berjaya 
Corporation Berhad Group and 
other private limited companies. 

He is also a trustee of Dijaya 
Tropicana Foundation.

Dato’ Tong Kien Onn does not 
have any family relationship 
with any Directors and/or major 
shareholders of Dijaya nor any 
personal interest in any business 
arrangement involving Dijaya. He 
has not been convicted for any 
offence within the past 10 years.

DATO’ TONG KIEN ONN
Managing Director

Mr Dickson Tan Yong Loong, a 
Malaysian aged 31, was appointed 
to the Board of Dijaya on 20 May 
2009 and was subsequently 
appointed as the Executive 
Director of Dijaya on 1 April 2010. 
He was designated as Deputy 
Managing Director of Dijaya on 
8 October 2010. He is also a 
member of the Option Committee 
and Investment Committee.

Mr Tan graduated with a Bachelor 
of Science (Honours) in Business 
Management from King’s College, 
University of London, United 
Kingdom in 2002. He obtained a 
Master of Science in Internal Auditing 
and Management from Cass 
Business School, City University, 
United Kingdom in 2003.

He started his career with 
CIMB Securities Sdn Bhd as 
an Equities Analyst in 2004 
and joined Dijaya as Business 
Development Manager in 2005. 
He is presently overseeing group 
corporate strategy, planning and 
risk management of Dijaya Group. 
He currently serves on the board of 
Tropicana Golf & Country Resort 
Berhad, TT Resources Berhad, 
Berjaya Corporation Berhad, 
Berjaya Sports Toto Berhad, 
Berjaya Land Berhad, Berjaya 
Assets Berhad, Tropicana Indah 

Sdn Bhd, Tropicana City Sdn 
Bhd, Tenaga Kimia Sdn Bhd and 
several other local and international 
private limited companies involving 
manufacturing, services, media, 
leisure, retail, property development 
and property investment.

Mr Tan is affi liated with certain 
non-profi t organisations, including 
as a trustee of Dijaya Tropicana 
Foundation, a member of the Kuala 
Lumpur Business Club and a 
member of the Malaysian Institute 
of Management. His father, Tan Sri 
Dato’ Tan Chee Sing (“TSDTCS”), 
is the Group Chief Executive 
Offi cer and a major shareholder 
of Dijaya. His sister, Ms Diana Tan 
Sheik Ni is a Non-Independent 
Non-Executive Director of Dijaya. 
Save as disclosed, he does not 
have any family relationship with 
any other Directors and/or major 
shareholders of Dijaya, nor any 
personal interest in any business 
arrangement involving Dijaya 
except for certain recurrent related 
party transactions of revenue or 
trading nature which are necessary 
for the day-to-day operations of 
Dijaya Group by virtue of him being 
the son of TSDTCS.

He has not been convicted for 
any offence within the past 
10 years.

DICKSON 
TAN YONG LOONG
Deputy 
Managing Director 
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Mr Kong Woon Jun, a Malaysian 
aged 49, was appointed to the 
Board of Dijaya as Executive 
Director on 1 March 2011. He 
is also a member of the Option 
Committee.

Mr Kong graduated with a Bachelor 
of Architecture (Honours) from 
University of Wales Institute 
of Science and Technology 
(UWIST), Wales, United Kingdom 
in 1989. He is a Member of the 
Architects Registration Board 
(ARB) in United Kingdom and a 
corporate member of Pertubuhan 
Akitek Malaysia (PAM).

Mr Kong has more than 20 years 
of experience in property 
development and construction 
industry. He started his career as 
a Senior Architect in BEP Arkitek 
Sdn Bhd in-charge of high end 
property developments in year 
1994. He served as the Director 
of Project and Product Planning 
of Perdana Parkcity Sdn Bhd from 
year 2003 to 2008, where he 
played a major role in the planning 
and designing of the township 
called Desa ParkCity, Kuala 
Lumpur. Prior to joining Dijaya, he 
joined TA Global Berhad in April 
2008 as the Director of Planning 
& Design and was then promoted 
to Chief Operating Offi cer in 

August 2008. With his experience 
in township master plan, he was 
actively involved in concept 
planning and product design for 
the projects under his supervision.

Mr Kong does not have any family 
relationship with any Directors and/
or major shareholders of Dijaya, 
nor any personal interest in any 
business arrangement involving 
Dijaya. He has not been convicted 
for any offence within the past 
10 years.

KONG WOON JUN
Executive Director

Mr Koong Wai Seng, a Malaysian 
aged 45, was appointed to the 
Board of Dijaya on 8 July 2011. 
He is also a member of the Option 
Committee.

He is an Accountant by 
profession and a member of the 
Malaysia Institute of Certifi ed 
Public Accountant (MICPA) 
and Malaysian Institute of 
Accountants (MIA).

He has more than 17 years of 
fi nancial management experience 
in a variety of industries including 
audit, fi nancial advisory, leisure, 
hospitality, health care, property 
development and property 
investment. He started his career 
in Arthur Andersen & Company. 
Later, he was with Sunway City 
Berhad for 13 years and was 
promoted to Chief Financial 
Offi cer. Subsequently, he joined 
Sunway Holdings Berhad as a 
Finance Director and Director 
of Investment with 1Malaysia 
Development Berhad prior to 
joining Dijaya.

Mr Koong does not have 
any family relationship with 
any Directors and/or major 
shareholders of Dijaya, nor any 
personal interest in any business 
arrangement involving Dijaya. 

He has not been convicted 
for any offence within the past 
10 years.

KOONG WAI SENG
Executive Director 
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Dato’ Khoo Poh Chye, a Malaysian 
aged 45, was appointed to the 
Board of Dijaya on 15 July 2011. 
He obtained the certifi cation of 
Masters in Business Administration 
(Marketing) from Heriot Watt 
University, Edinburgh, Scotland in 
1993 and his Diploma in Accounting 
& Finance, Chartered Association 
of Certifi ed Accountants (ACCA, 
UK) in 1992.

He has over 20 years of experience 
in the property industry including 
a 7 years stint with Pengurusan 
Danaharta Nasional Berhad 
(Danaharta), Malaysia’s National 
Asset Management Agency as 
the Deputy General Manager of 
its Property Division.

He had held several key 
management positions among 
others, as the Managing Director 
of GLM REIT Management Sdn 
Bhd (a wholly-owned subsidiary 
of Guocoland Malaysia Berhad), 
the Manager for Tower Real 
Estate Investment Trust, a real 
estate investment trust listed 
on Bursa Malaysia; Executive 
Director of Guocoland Malaysia 
Berhad, Hong Leong Malaysia’s 
property development company 

listed in Bursa Malaysia and the 
Executive Director of SunwayMas 
Sdn Bhd, the property division of 
Sunway Holdings Berhad.

He does not hold any other 
directorship in other public 
company.

Dato’ Khoo does not have 
any family relationship with 
any Directors and/or major 
shareholders of Dijaya, nor any 
personal interest in any business 
arrangement involving Dijaya. He 
has not been convicted for any 
offence within the past 10 years.

DATO’ KHOO POH CHYE
Executive Director 

Dato’ Ng Tian Sang @ Ng Kek 
Chuan, a Malaysian aged 65, 
was appointed to the Board of 
Dijaya on 29 March 2011. He 
was appointed as member of the 
Audit Committee on 1 July 2011. 
In addition, he is the Chairman of 
the Nomination Committee and 
a member of the Remuneration 
Committee.

Dato’ Ng graduated with a 
Bachelor of Commerce degree 
from the University of Western 
Australia in 1971. He is a member 
of the Malaysian Institute of 
Accountants and Australian 
Association of Certifi ed Practising 
Accountants. He is a member 
of the Australilan Institute of 
Company Directors (AICD).

Dato’ Ng was attached with 
IBM World Trade Corporation 
from 1973 to 1979 as a 
Business Controller. From 
1980 to 1992, he ventured as 
an entrepreneur involved in real 
estate development and other 
businesses.

Dato’ Ng was the Executive 
Deputy Chairman of PanGlobal 
Bhd and the Chairman of 

PanGlobal Insurance Bhd from 
1995 to 1999. From 1996 to 1999, 
he was the Executive Chairman of 
Econstate Bhd and the Deputy 
President of REHDA from 1997 
to 1999. He was accorded the 
International Honorary President 
of the Western Australia Chinese 
Chamber of Commerce in 
1997. He was appointed as the 
Chairman and Chief Executive 
Offi cer of Datong Bhd and was 
also a Director of TT Resources 
Bhd from July 2001 to November 
2008. He was the Executive 
Director of Midwest Corporation 
Ltd (Midwest) from 2006 to 
2009. Midwest is involved in iron 
ore mining in west Australia.

Dato’ Ng does not have any family 
relationship with any Directors 
and/or major shareholders of 
Dijaya, nor any personal interest 
in any business arrangement 
involving Dijaya. He has not been 
convicted for any offences within 
the past 10 years.

DATO’ NG TIAN SANG
@ NG KEK CHUAN
Independent 
Non-Executive Director 
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Mr Loh Chen Peng, a Malaysian 
aged 58, was appointed to the 
Board of Dijaya on 22 March 
2004. He has been a member 
of the Audit Committee since 
16 August 2004 and was 
subsequently re-designated as 
Chairman of the Audit Committee 
on 1 July 2011. He is also the 
Chairman of the Remuneration 
Committee and Investment 
Committee and a member of the 
Nomination Committee.

Mr Loh is an accountant by 
profession and a member of the 
Malaysian Institute of Certifi ed 
Public Accountants (“MICPA”). 
He started his career with an 
international accounting fi rm in 
1975 and gained membership 
to MICPA. He then joined a 
merchant banking group in 
1980 and for the next 13 years, 
he held senior management 
positions in the areas of corporate 
fi nance and corporate banking. 
Thereafter, he had a short stint 
with a stock broking group. In 
1994, he assisted in establishing 
a commercial bank and served 
on its Executive Committee of 
Directors until 2001.

He is now involved in some 
private ventures and is currently 

an Independent Non-Executive 
Director of Berjaya Media Berhad.

Mr Loh does not have any family 
relationship with any Directors 
and/or major shareholders of 
Dijaya, nor any personal interest 
in any business arrangement 
involving Dijaya. He has not been 
convicted for any offence within 
the past 10 years.

LOH CHEN PENG
Independent 
Non-Executive Director 

Mr Tang Vee Mun, a Malaysian 
aged 39, was appointed to the 
Board of Dijaya on 13 November 
2009. He was appointed a 
member of the Audit Committee 
on 24 November 2011 and also 
a member of the Investment 
Committee.

He is the principal of Mettiz 
Capital Limited, an investment 
fi rm with particular focus on 
private equity and alternative 
investments.

Mr Tang has signifi cant experience 
in corporate, commercial, 
financial and operational 
matters spanning across various 
business sectors including 
manufacturing, engineering, 
real property development and 
investment, power generation, 
insurance broking, wholesaling 
and retailing. He commenced his 
career as a legal practitioner and 
was previously a partner of one of 
the oldest and largest law fi rms in 
Malaysia.

He sits on the boards of several 
companies where he contributes 
time to their businesses with the 
objective of achieving strategic 
and corporate improvements.
Beyond the business sphere, he is 
a trustee of 1Malaysia Community 

Alliance Foundation, a charitable 
foundation dedicated to crisis 
relief and community services, an 
investment committee member 
of Koperasi Jayadiri Berhad, an 
education loans and micro credit 
provider to the underprivileged, 
a committee member of the 
Gold Coast Dharma Realm 
Incorporated, and a disciplinary 
committee member of the Royal 
Selangor Golf Club.

Mr Tang graduated with a 
Bachelor of Laws (Honours) 
degree from the London School 
of Economics and Political 
Science, University of London 
and was admitted as a Barrister-
at-Law of the Honourable Society 
of Lincoln’s Inn, London.

Mr Tang does not have any family 
relationship with any Directors 
and/or major shareholders of 
Dijaya, nor any personal interest 
in any business arrangement 
involving Dijaya. He has not been 
convicted for any offence within 
the past 10 years, other than 
traffi c offences.

TANG VEE MUN
Independent 
Non-Executive Director 
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Datuk Seri Panglima Mohd 
Annuar Bin Zaini, a Malaysian 
aged 61, was appointed to the 
Board of Dijaya on 27 January 
2010. He is a member of several 
committees of Dijaya such as 
Audit Committee, Nomination 
Committee, Remuneration 
Committee and Investment 
Committee.

Datuk Seri Panglima holds a 
Master of Arts in Law & Diplomacy 
from The Fletcher School of Laws 
& Diplomacy, Tufts University, 
United States of America and a 
Bachelor of Arts with honours 
in Economics from University 
Kebangsaan Malaysia.

He began his career in the 
government service as an 
Administrative and Diplomatic 
Offi cer in 1977. He served 
at various ministries and 
departments in the Malaysian 
Government and also the Perak 
State Government until he chose 
to take an optional retirement from 
the government service in 1999.

He was the Advisor and Chief 
Executive of Northern Corridor 
Implementation Authority from 
2007 to 2009 and the Chairman 
of the Malaysian National News 
Agency (BERNAMA) from 

February 2004 to January 2010. 
In February 2004, His Royal 
Highness The Sultan of Perak 
consented his appointment as 
Member of the Council of Elders 
to His Royal Highness Sultan 
of Perak. He is a Member of the 
Perak Council of Islamic Religion 
and Malay Customs and the 
Perak State Islamic Economic 
Development Corporation. He 
is also a Distinguished Fellow 
to Institute of Strategic and 
International Studies (ISIS) 
Malaysia and Adjunct Professor 
of Northern Corridor Economic 
Region Research Centre, 
Universiti Utara Malaysia. He sits 
on the board of Manulife Holdings 
Berhad and several private limited 
companies.

Datuk Seri Panglima Mohd 
Annuar does not have any family 
relationship with any Directors 
and/or major shareholders 
of Dijaya, nor any personal 
interest in any business 
arrangement involving Dijaya. 
He has not been convicted 
for any offence within the past 
10 years.

DATUK SERI PANGLIMA
MOHD ANNUAR BIN ZAINI
Independent 
Non-Executive Director 

Ms Diana Tan Sheik Ni, a 
Malaysian aged 26, was 
appointed to the Board on 28 
February 2012.

Ms Diana Tan graduated with 
a Bachelor of Laws (LLB) from 
King’s College, University of 
London, United Kingdom in 2007.

She is an Executive Director of 
TT Resources Bhd where she 
oversees the strategic planning 
and management of the group’s 
business operations.

She is a Director of Tropicana 
Golf & Country Resort Bhd and 
also holds directorships in other 
private limited companies. She 
also sits on the Board of Trustees 
of Dijaya Tropicana Foundation, a 
non-profi t organisation.

Her father, Tan Sri Dato’ Tan 
Chee Sing (“TSDTCS”), is the 
Group Chief Executive Offi cer 
and a major shareholder of 
Dijaya. Her brother, Mr Dickson 
Tan Yong Loong, is the Deputy 
Managing Director of Dijaya. 
Save as disclosed, she does 
not have any family relationship 
with any other Directors and/
or major shareholders of Dijaya, 
nor any personal interest in any 
business arrangement involving 

Dijaya except for certain recurrent 
related party transactions of 
revenue or trading nature which 
are necessary for the day-to-day 
operations of Dijaya Group by 
virtue of her being a daughter of 
TSDTCS.

She has not been convicted for 
any offence within the past 10 years.

DIANA TAN SHEIK NI
Non-Independent 
Non-Executive Director 
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seated from left to right

EASON PHAN 
Senior General Manager
Property Development 

JOANNE LEE 
Procurement Director
Group Procurement

SERENA LIM 
Senior Manager
Communications and 
Promotions

LEE PENG THIAM 
Chief Operating Offi cer
Tropicana Danga Bay 
at Johor Bahru

HO HON CHIAP 
General Manager
Property Management 

DANIEL TEH 
General Manager
Property Development

TEH PENG PENG 
General Manager
Group Company Secretary

YAP KIAN LEONG 
General Manager
Finance

standing from left to right

ALLAN NGU 
General Manager
Group Corporate and 
Investment

YEW KONG CHEE 
Deputy General Manager
Sales Administration

ADELYNN CHAN 
Senior General Manager
Group Human Resource

LEE WEE KEE
General Manager
Property Development

LILLIAN LUNG 
General Manager
Sales and Marketing

YOU BOON PENG 
Senior General Manager
Property Development of 
Tropicana Ivory at Penang

LESLIE KHO 
Executive Director
Property Development of 
Tropicana Danga Bay at 
Johor Bahru

HERMAN TAN
Senior General Manager
Tropicana Golf & 
Country Resort 

JEFFREY TAN 
Deputy General Manager
Group Legal
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HERMAN TAN
Senior General Manager
Tropicana Golf & Country 
Resort

Mr Herman Tan has wide 
experience in the food and 
beverage, hospitality and club 
industry having served as Food 
and Beverage Manager of 
Federal Hotel, Ferringhi Hotel, 
Phoenix Hotel Singapore and 
Hotel Manager Renaissance 
Cruise. His Club and Resort 
Management experience 
includes his serving period as a 
General Manager of Bukit Kiara 
Equestrian & Country Resort and 
Kelab Darul Ehsan. He joined 
Tropicana Golf & Country Resort 
as Deputy General Manager in 
April 2003 and was promoted 
to General Manager in 2005 and 
Senior General Manager in 2009.

DANIEL TEH 
General Manager,
Property Development

Mr Teh holds a Bachelor of 
Architecture (Hons II), Newcastle, 
NSW, Aust and Bachelor of 
Science (Arch), Newcastle, NSW, 
Aust. He commenced his career 
practising architecture from 1989 
with various architecture fi rms 
as Project Architect for Veritas 
Architects, Akitek Binarjaya 
and CS Lim. In the year 2004, 
he joined Gerbang Perdana 
Selatan Bersepadu to head 
their Design Management team, 
as part of the “Design & Built” 
contract under the Government 
of Malaysia. On completing 
the project, Daniel seized an 
opportunity in Dubai, UAE with 
the reputable Nakheel Group, 
one of the prime developers to 
plan the New Waterfront City in 
Jebel Ali. On return to Malaysia 
in 2009, he joined 1Malaysia 
Development Berhad (1MDB), as 
a Director, Project Management; 
to conceptualise their fl agship 
developments, Sungai Besi 
Airport Redevelopment and 
Kuala Lumpur International 
Financial District in Jalan Imbi. 
In 2010, Daniel joined Dijaya as 
General Manager of Property 
Development.

LEE PENG THIAM 
Chief Operating Offi cer
Tropicana Danga Bay at Johor 
Bahru

Ir Lee is a registered Professional 
Engineer with a B Eng (Civil) 
Degree from National University 
of Singapore, an MBA from 
University of Dubuque, Iowa, 
USA and a Professional 
Residential Real Estate Appraiser 
Diploma from National College of 
Appraisal, Atlanta, Georgia, USA. 
Ir Lee is a member of Harvard 
Business School Alumni Club 
of Malaysia; and has over 27 
years of experience in company 
and operation management. His 
leadership experience spans 
full project life cycle of property 
development from market 
feasibility study to land banking, 
development planning, market 
launch, project implementation, 
liaison with authorities, fi nancing 
schemes, handing over 
programmes.

EASON PHAN 
Senior General Manager
Property Development 

Mr Phan has 16 years of 
experience in construction 
and property development. 
He began his career with local 
conglomerate Sunway as a 
Graduate Engineer and rose 
through the ranks; from being 
a hands-on engineer to holding 
various senior managerial roles in 
planning, operation management, 
business development, process 
improvement; and his last 
position was Head of Special Unit 
at Group level. Prior to joining 
Dijaya, he was with a boutique 
developer involved with niche 
high-end property developments. 
Mr Phan’s principles were 
infl uenced by the many successes 
he and his team achieved in 
turning around businesses and 
development projects, through 
sound engineering practices and 
continuous improvement. 

LESLIE KHO 
Executive Director
Property Development of 
Tropicana Danga Bay at Johor 
Bahru

Mr Leslie Kho holds a MBA in 
Construction and Real Estate 
(Reading, UK); Post Graduate 
Diploma in Project Management 
(RICS, UK); BBA in Valuation and 
Land Economy (Curtin, Australia); 
Membership of Royal Institution 
of Chartered Surveyors (UK), 
Membership of Royal Institution of 
Surveyors Malaysia; Registered 
Valuer, Estate Agent and Property 
Manager with the Board of 
Valuers, Appraisers and Estate 
Agents Malaysia. He has over 22 
years of experience in property 
consultancy, development, 
marketing and management. 
Prior to joining Dijaya, Kho was a 
Director at Knight Frank Malaysia 
and had also previously worked 
with public-listed developer 
companies in Malaysia and 
Singapore at senior management 
level.

YOU BOON PENG 
Senior General Manager
Property Development of 
Tropicana Ivory at Penang

Mr You is a Civil Engineering 
graduate from UMIST, UK and is 
currently a member of IEM and 
a Professional Engineer with the 
Board of Engineers, Malaysia. 
He has 31 years of working 
experience in engineering and 
property development and 
this includes a 14-year stint at 
Horsedale Development Berhad 
(a subsidiary of DRB-Hicom). 
His last position before joining 
Dijaya was of a General Manager 
at Plenitude Berhad in Kedah and 
Penang.

LEE WEE KEE
General Manager
Property Development

Mr Lee is a graduate in BE 
(Hons) in Civil Engineering from 
University of Malaya. He is also 
a Graduate Member of Institute 
of Engineers Malaysia and The 
Board of Engineers Malaysia. Mr 
Lee has more than 21 years of 
property development experience 
and has extensive exposure in 
handling large scale integrated 
mixed developments and high-
end residential or commercial 
projects. Prior to joining Dijaya, 
he was the General Manager of 
GuocoLand (M) Bhd, heading 
the Commercial/Integrated 
development division.

HO HON CHIAP 
General Manager
Property Management 

Mr Ho worked as a Construction 
Manager and Quantity Surveyor 
(Purchasing) for 11 years in 
Statecom Development Sdn Bhd 
and Amedeo Development Sdn 
Bhd (Brunei), after graduating 
from Tunku Abdul Rahman 
College. Upon completing his 
Masters Degree, Mr Ho joined 
Cempaka Asset Management 
Services Sdn Bhd as a Building 
Manager and served tenure of 
eight years before starting his 
employment with Dijaya.
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LILLIAN LUNG 
General Manager
Sales and Marketing

Ms Lillian Lung joined Dijaya in 
February 2005 and was appointed 
as General Manager of Marketing 
and Sales in 2010. With more 
than 22 years of experience in the 
property industry, Lillian has had 
the opportunity to hold various 
positions in sales, marketing as 
well as sales documentation. 
Prior to joining Dijaya, Lillian 
was working with the Hong 
Leong Group (now known as 
GuocoLand (M) Berhad), a 
reputable property developer 
in the country. She started her 
career as a Marketing Executive, 
a position she held for seven 
years before being promoted as 
Assistant Manager. Within two 
years, she was moved up to the 
position of Marketing Manager 
and subsequently, appointed 
as Sales and Documentation 
Manager.

YEW KONG CHEE 
Deputy General Manager
Sales Administration

Mr Yew has 17 years of sales 
and administration experience in 
property industry. He had worked 
with S P Setia Berhad for 11 years 
as a sales executive and later 
promoted as Senior Manager. 
He joined Dijaya in year 2007 
as Senior Manager and currently 
holds the position of a Deputy 
General Manager.

TEH PENG PENG 
General Manager
Group Company Secretary

A Chartered Secretary of The 
Malaysian Institute of Chartered 
Secretaries and Administrators 
(MAICSA), with approximately 
20 years of corporate secretarial 
practice and exposure in both the 
secretarial services industry as well 
as the commercial environment.

YAP KIAN LEONG 
General Manager
Finance

Mr Yap is a Chartered Accountant 
of Malaysian Institute of 
Accountants and Fellows of 
Chartered Association of Certifi ed 
Accountants and Chartered 
Institute of Management 
Accountants. Mr Yap has 
more than 20 years of fi nancial 
accounting and management 
experience in audit, property 
development, IT, broadcasting 
and media. He started his career 
in London as a Trainee Accountant 
with Newman & Co, before 
returning to Malaysia to join Ernst 
& Young. Thereafter, he went into 
commercial industries and was in 
various roles as Senior Manager, 
Group Financial Controller, 
Principal Consultant and Partner 
in an accounting practice. Prior to 
joining Dijaya, he was the Head 
of Financial Services & Reporting 
with Astro Malaysia.

SERENA LIM 
Senior Manager
Communications and 
Promotions

Ms Lim gained experience in the 
communications, promotions and 
media industry during her tenure 
as an Account Manager with both 
local and international advertising 
agencies for more than six years. 
Prior to this, Ms Lim also worked 
with various international hotels 
such as The Ritz Carlton Kuala 
Lumpur and Renaissance Kuala 
Lumpur. Ms Lim joined Dijaya in 
2005 and was appointed as a 
Manager in Communications and 
Promotions department. She was 
promoted to her current position 
in 2011.

ALLAN NGU 
General Manager
Group Corporate and 
Investment

Mr Allan Ngu has 11 years of 
working experience in corporate 
fi nance and equity investments; 
covering mainly mergers and 
acquisitions, corporate and 
debt restructuring exercises 
as well as debt and equity fund 
raising exercises. He started 
his career with the corporate 
fi nance department of Southern 
Investment Bank Berhad in 2001. 
He then joined Kuwait Finance 
House (M) Berhad as Assistant 
Manager, Investment Banking in 
2006. Subsequently, he joined 
the Equities Dealing department 
of RHB Investment Bank Berhad 
in 2007 as Manager. He then left 
RHB Investment Bank Berhad 
to join Dijaya as Deputy General 
Manager of Group Corporate 
and Investment in 2010 and was 
promoted to his current position 
in 2011.

ADELYNN CHAN 
Senior General Manager
Group Human Resource

Ms Chan holds Certified 
Professional with Australian 
Human Resource Institute, and 
Bachelor of Arts from University 
of Western Australia, Australia. 
She has over 16 years of human 
resource experience in the ICT/
Telco, manufacturing, automotive 
and professional services 
industries. She started her career 
in Berjaya Land Bhd. Later she 
was with Goon Huat Holdings 
for three years. She joined Tan 
Chong Motors as Assistant 
Manager for four years and was 
promoted to Human Resource 
Manager. Subsequently, she 
joined Nasioncom as Assistant 
Vice President, Human Resource; 
Atos Origin Services as Senior 
Manager; Human Resource and 
Head of Human Resource with 
SGL Carbon; before joining 
Dijaya.

JEFFREY TAN 
Deputy General Manager
Group Legal

Mr Tan holds a LLB, B Commerce 
from Monash University, Australia 
and MSc (Information Technology 
in Business) from University 
of Lincoln, United Kingdom. 
He brings with him expertise 
and experience in corporate 
and commercial transactions, 
conveyancing, intellectual 
property commercialisation 
and technology procurement. 
Formerly, a partner in a leading 
law fi rm in Kuala Lumpur, he now 
heads Group Legal at Dijaya.

JOANNE LEE 
Procurement Director
Group Procurement

Ms Joanne Lee holds Bachelor 
of Business Administration from 
National University of Malaysia 
and Diploma in Purchasing 
and Materials Management 
from the Malaysian Institute 
of Purchasing and Materials 
Management (MIPMM). She 
has 18 years of Procurement, 
Purchasing and Logistic 
experience in various industries 
including Property Development, 
Construction (overseas and local), 
Manufacturing, Hospitality, Leisure 
and Entertainment, Shopping Mall 
Management, Food and Beverage 
and Healthcare. With her vast 
Procurement experience in the 
MNC and public-listed companies, 
she successfully established the 
Group Procurement Division for 
IGB, Nam Fatt and Dijaya Group. 
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At Tropicana Golf & Country Resort, Dijaya pioneered 
the concept of resort-style living in Malaysia. In line 
with this concept, we are currently enhancing our 
fl agship Tropicana Golf & Country Club. The 27-hole 
championship golf course is enjoying a multi-million 
ringgit upgrade, the expanded gymnasium now has a 
new look and the Grand Ballroom as well as function 
rooms spot an elegant appeal. The club also offers 
a multitude of other sports activities, ranging from 
indoor tennis and badminton to an Olympic-size 
swimming pool, while other amenities include a clinic, 
a kindergarten, function rooms, speciality restaurants 
and retail outlets. 

myriad 

leisure 

options
a 

forfi tnessand
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CORPORATE RESPONSIBILITY

For more than two decades of 
our meaningful existence, we 
have always strived to build 
and embrace an organisational 
culture that is amenable to social 
good. As a responsible corporate 
citizen and in keeping with the 
national developmental agenda 
as well as industry best practices, 
our CSR projects fall under 
four key categories Community, 
Marketplace, Workplace and 
Environment. 

Our CSR architecture is as 
dynamic as our organisation, 
with projects that are impactful 
and sustainable at the same time. 
And, as a credible and trusted 
developer, we endeavour to make 
a positive difference by improving 
lives (social upliftment), by 
investing in our future (ensuring 
good education and health for 
children), and by inspiring talent 
(inculcating a winning spirit for joy 
and welfare).

At Dijaya, Corporate Social 
Responsibility (CSR) goes beyond 
philanthropy to include forging 
partnerships that contribute to 
a worthy purpose, supporting 
meaningful progress and instilling 
a sense of pride amongst various 
stakeholders through our journey 
of growth. It is our leap of faith 
in good that keeps us going as a 
responsible corporate citizen.

Our continuing journey of 
good will be led by our newly 
introduced Dijaya Tropicana 
Foundation, established in the 
year 2011, which will not only 
measure the success of our CSR 
programmes, but, will also ensure 
sustainability. 

In 2011, more than RM2.3 
million was contributed to 
support underprivileged and 
disadvantaged communities, 
through the identifi ed 27 non-
profi t groups and schools.

Eason Phan (left), General Manager 
of Property Development of Dijaya, 
handing hampers to the single
mothers at fl at Lembah Subang

Dijaya Tropicana Foundation 
donates RM100,000 to Badan 
Amal dan Kebajikan Tenaga 
Isteri-isteri (BAKTI). Dickson 
Tan (far right), Deputy Managing 
Director of Dijaya, presented 
the mock cheque to Datin Seri 
Fauziah Bt Kamarudin (far left) 
and witnessed by YBhg Puan 
Sri Datin Ivy Tan (second from
right) and Sri Rossa Roslaina 
Handayani (second from left)
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IMPROVING LIVES: 
TOWARDS POSITIVE SOCIAL UPLIFTMENT

•  Provided food hampers through Klinik 1 Malaysia to support single 
mothers at Flat Lembah Subang

•  Contributed RM100,000 to help welfare projects for the less 
fortunate communities of Malaysia, driven by Badan Amal dan 
Kebajikan Tenaga Isteri-isteri (BAKTI)

•  Donated a sum of RM50,000 to the Buddhist Gem Fellowship 
(BGF) for construction of its new premises, to serve larger Buddhist 
community through its training, education and development 
programmes for all age groups

•  Hosted a community luncheon themed, “We are with You” for 
Rumah Amal Cheshire Homes and Pusat Pemulihan Dalam 
Komuniti Selayang (PPDKS); with our employees offering quality 
time, engaging activities, duit raya and goodie bags for the elderly

•  Offered daily provisions worth RM5,000 to Beautiful Gate 
Foundation, which provides accommodation, training and other 
support services to the disabled communities, improving their 
quality of life and helping their total integration into the mainstream 
Malaysian society

INVESTING IN OUR FUTURE: 
SUPPORTING CHILD EDUCATION AND HEALTH

•  Provided fi nancial support of RM50,000 to expand and upgrade 
the school facilities at SMJK Chong Hwa, Kuala Lumpur, to help 
meet the growing demand for education

•  Contributed RM100,000 to Pertubuhan Perkhidmatan Intervensi 
Awal (PPIA) in Batu Pahat, Johor for education, training and 
sheltered employment to intellectually challenged children and 
youth; with disabilities and impairments such as Down Syndrome, 
Autism, Global Developmental Delay, Dyslexia, Epilepsy, Attention 
Defi cit Disorder and Hyperactivity Disorder

•  Donated RM100,000 to Ti-Ratana Welfare Society Malaysia for 
edcation, shelter and care of children and senior citizens

•  Special Buka Puasa event – with vibrant, fun performances and 
art workshops – was organised for the Children from Rumah Kasih 
Sayang, Tasik Puteri, Rawang

INSPIRING TALENT: 
CULTIVATING A WINNING SPIRIT FOR JOY AND WELFARE

•  To nurture musically gifted, and talented Malaysian youth, offered 
fi nancial help to the Malaysian Youth Orchestra Foundation 
(MYOF) to organise its 5th Malaysian Youth Music Festival, 
which drawn participants from the region including Singapore, 
Indonesia and Brunei

•  In partnership with St John Ambulance Selangor and Balai Bomba 
Damansara, conducted fi rst-aid and bomba training respectively; 
for the members of Emergency Response Team (ERT) at Dijaya, 
to develop essential skills for emergencies and to uphold the 
quality of Dijaya Group’s ERT Services

•  Participated and won the second spot for the third consecutive 
year in the Team Spirit category at The Edge-Bursa Kuala Lumpur 
Rat Race 2011, which is being organised to support various 
social and charitable causes

•  Participated in the World Kidney Day Run 2011 at Dataran 
Merdeka, Kuala Lumpur to lend our carmaderie for the causes 
supported by the National Kidney Foundation Malaysia

Dijaya Deputy Managing Director, Dickson Tan (third from left) presented 
the mock cheque to Chong Hwa Secondary School’s Deputy Director Lim 
Jin Ching (third from right). The presentation was witnessed by YBhg Tan 
Sri Dato’ Danny Tan (fi fth from left), Group CEO of Dijaya; Dato’ Tong Kien 
Onn (fourth from left), Managing Director of Dijaya; Koong Wai Seng (second 
from left), Executive Director of Dijaya; Goh Wing Keong (second from 
right),  Chong Hwa Secondary School Finance Director cum Chong Hwa 
Secondary School Building Fund Treasurer; Lee Mook Kwee (far left) Chong 
Hwa Secondary School Assistant Headmaster cum Chong Hwa Secondary 
School Building Fund Secretary and Liew Wei Chai (far right) Director cum 
Chong Hwa Secondary School Building Fund Assistant Treasurer

Dickson Tan (third from left), Deputy Managing Director of Dijaya presented 
a cheque totalling RM50,000 to Datuk Dr Victor Wee (third from right), 
President of Buddhist Gem Fellowship (BGF). Also present were (from left) 
Ivan Ho, Senior Personal Assistant of Group CEO; Dato’ Tong Kien Onn, 
Managing Director of Dijaya; Dato’ Wei Chuan Beng, representative of BGF 
and Mooi Chee Onn, representative of BGF

The participating runners from Dijaya and the energetic cheerleading team 
from Tropicana Golf & Country Resort during The Edge-Bursa Malaysia 
Kuala Lumpur Rat Race 
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GOING BEYOND OUR environmental POLICY: 
WE THINK, THEREFORE, WE CARE …

At Dijaya, we realise that with new 
developments and fast growing 
urban infrastructure, the greater 
responsibility should be towards 
the environment  – to protect, 
preserve and minimise the impact. 
We take our environmental policy 
seriously to follow good standards 
and best practices in carrying 
out our business operations and 
services. These include planning 
and designing developments 
around natural landscapes; 
preserving age-old plant species, 
enhancing green spreads by 

planting mature trees and reducing 
carbon footprint through eco-
friendly technologies. 

At Tropicana Golf & Country 
Resort, the waste heat-recovering 
system harnesses heat from air-
conditioning compressors to heat 
up water, so, it could be used in 
the shower rooms. Energy saving 
equipment has also been installed 
to reduce electricity consumption. 

Similarly, cut branches and grass, 
also known as green waste, are 

recycled into agriculture compost. 
There are also special recycling 
collection centres at the Sports 
Wing for the purpose.

The architecture of the buildings 
within our developments are 
meticulously designed to make 
use of natural light, and energy 
saving features such as the 100% 
recyclable and durable “cool roof” 
(a special metal roofi ng system) in 
our Villa Green homes etc.

Tropicana’s East 2 
golf course boasts 
newly planted greens, 
re-shaped T boxes 
and deeper bunkers

HOW WE GET GOING IN THE marketplace:
GOVERNANCE, ETHICS, AND TRANSPARENCY

The launch of Tropicana Avenue 
drew a huge turnout from 
interested home owners. Lillian 
Lung (far right), General Manager of 
Sales and Marketing shared the 
uniqueness of Tropicana Avenue 
with keen purchasers 

Dijaya, as an organisation, sustains 
its business and operations with 
integrity, good will, and credibility 
in the marketplace. 

Our core area of expertise and 
business translates itself into 
tangible value for our customers, 
in terms of real property solutions. 
This further helps us to create and 
enhance our brand equity, also by 
continually improving the quality of 
our products and services. 

In the spirit of good governance 
and transparency; we maintain a 
clear, timely and open stakeholder 
communications, on the Group’s 
strategies, performance and 
growth prospects. We also take 
pride in our modus operandi 
and professional conduct, when 
establishing industry partnerships 
and customer relationships, 
engaging with employees and 
sourcing external supplier 
services.

As a responsible business entity, 
with robust practices and good 
industry standards, the Group is 
well positioned to represent the 
strength of Malaysian industry, 
with immense opportunities 
for investments and smart 
partnerships.

Our common goal is to create a 
work culture that values 
collaboration. We understand and 
believe that thinking, planning 
decisions and actions are better 
when done cooperatively

LEAPING FORWARD:
A workplace THAT’S MORE THAN JUST ‘WORK’

The organisation is empowered 
with more than 1,000-strong, 
resourceful people, who seek 
inspiration and motivation through 
shared knowledge, culture and 
values. At Dijaya, we place 
good emphasis on employee 
welfare, continuous learning and 
professional development, as well 
as career advancement.

An exciting workplace is what you 
will fi nd at Dijaya, with dynamic 

and ever-enthusiastic team of 
professionals, who are partners in 
our growth story. Our aspirational 
and talented employees are 
presented with opportunities 
to own a stake in the Company 
through Employees’ Share Option 
Scheme (ESOS).

Our human resource policies are 
not water-tight frameworks, but, 
nurturing and employee-friendly 
mechanisms, which foster good 

work relationships and responsible 
behaviour in an environment that is 
conducive to career progression.
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We are ever-committed 
to building and nurturing 
stakeholder relationships on 
a strong platform of trust 
and transparency. Open, 
timely and fair information 
disclosure and constructive 
communication helps 
us to drive our business 
with credibility, as well 
as to deliver value to our 
investors and shareholders.

SUSTAINING A MEANINGFUL DIALOGUE

In keeping with best global practices, we have always maintained 
communications with our shareholders and investors; to not only share 
market insights and intelligence, but to build a culture of trust and 
credibility through continual dialogue. 

We take conscious effort to meaningfully engage with our critical mass 
of stakeholders, the investor communities as well as our shareholders, 
keeping them abreast of the company performance, our parameters of 
growth, our continuing mission and our future business strategies.

From general briefi ngs to focussed sessions to corporates / investors 
and media presentations are various means to disseminate relevant 
information to various investor groups. The senior leadership of Dijaya 
Group take it upon themselves to identify strategic platforms such as 
forums, symposiums, conferences, and road shows for systematic 
networking with institutional – local and foreign – investors. For instance, 
during the last two quarters of fi nancial year 2011, we established 
contact with six sell-side analysts or research houses, and initiated two 
non-rated reports and one with neutral call. Similarly, we had organised 
meetings with over 10 fund managers and analysts on the buy-side as 
part of our continuing engagement efforts.

We also publish and constantly update relevant information on our 
corporate website, which can be accessed by our stakeholders 
including investor communities.

We aim to actively participate with the Malaysia Investor Relations 
Association, which provides us a platform to demonstrate our
commitment to highest standards of integrity and channelled 
communications with investor communities as well as other stakeholders 
to our business. 

INVESTOR RELATIONS CONTACT POINTS

Dijaya Group has had a culture of open dialogue and it maintains 
a communicative approach with all the key stakeholders of the 
organisation. We encourage investors to contact us directly for
any information support or queries. They can reach our IR Team
members Koong Wai Seng or Tan Shi Hui at kws@dijayacorp.com 
or shihui@dijayacorp.com respectively. Alternatively, investors
can visit the investor relations section on our corporate website
www.dijaya.com.my
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Boosting quality of life is central to Dijaya’s design 
philosophy. Today, having served members and 
residents for over 18 years, the Tropicana Golf & 
Country Club is undergoing a major transformation 
that combines leading-edge design with state-of-the-
art technology. The winner of numerous accolades 
and awards, the club is home to Malaysia’s largest 
clubhouse, spanning more than 380,000 square feet. 
Complementing our tradition of exceptional catering, 
the Clubhouse now features a dazzling new Grand 
Ballroom as well as intimate boutique function rooms. 

superb
catering

andexquisite 
ambience 
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10 FEBRUARY 2011
GROUP CNY LUNCHEON
The management and staff of 
Dijaya Corporation Berhad 
(DCB), TT Resources Berhad 
and Palmgold Corporation Sdn 
Bhd jointly celebrated Chinese 
New Year at the Grand Ballroom 
of Tropicana Golf & Country 
Resort (TGCR). Celebrating the 
Group’s success and growth, 
staff and guests were treated 
to a sumptuous lunch spread 
by Spring Garden Chinese 
Restaurant.

1 MARCH 2011
DIJAYA APPRECIATION NIGHT
Dijaya Corporation Berhad 
celebrated Customer 
Appreciation Night in conjunction 
with the launch of Dijaya 
Privilege Card. Specially invited 
purchasers of Tropicana Grande, 
Grand Villas, Pool Villas and TSB 
Commercial Centre were greeted 
with warm welcomes and door 
gifts. In addition, every purchaser 
of TSB Commercial Centre was 
presented with an Apple iPod 
Touch as a handover gift.

3 MARCH 2011
HOPE AND SMILE 
Dijaya Corporation Berhad 
donated RM20,000 to Hope & 
Smile, a 311 Japan Earthquake 
and Tsunami Charity Fundraiser 
organised by two-time badminton 
champion, Datuk Lee Chong 
Wei. There was also a charity 
match between Datuk Lee and 
Indonesian ace Taufi k Hidayat. 
A total of RM700,000 was 
collected in aid of tsunami-
earthquake victims in Japan. 

29 MARCH 2011
AFTERNOON TEA PARTY 
WITH MALAYSIA TATLER 
HOMES MAGAZINE
Tropicana Grande show unit 
and sales gallery provided the 

perfect venue for a celebratory 
afternoon tea party by Malaysia 
Tatler Homes magazine. Specially 
selected readers and supporters 
of Malaysia Tatler, the crème de 
la crème of reading choice among 
our country’s high society, were 
invited to delight in this event.

5 APRIL 2011
DIJAYA TROPICANA 
FOUNDATION GALA DINNER
Dijaya Tropicana Foundation, a 
newly set up charity organisation 
by Dijaya Corporation Berhad, 
hosted its fi rst gala dinner at 
Tropicana Golf & Country Club. 
A total of RM1 million was 
donated to 11 non-profi t groups 
and underprivileged schools. 
YB Datuk Seri Chua Soi Lek, 
President of MCA, graced the 
event and was full of praise for 
this Foundation, thanking the 
Foundation for the goodwill and 
timely support to the communities 
in need.

6 APRIL 2011
PARTNERSHIP WITH 
STARWOOD HOTELS & 
RESORTS WORLDWIDE INC
Dijaya Corporation Berhad 
offi cially sealed a partnership 
with Starwood Hotels & Resorts 
Worldwide Inc to develop fi ve-
star W Hotel in Kuala Lumpur. 
Minister of Tourism Malaysia, 
YB Dato’ Sri Dr Ng Yen Yen was 
present to witness the offi cial 
signing ceremony.

4 MAY 2011
DONATION TO PERTUBUHAN 
PERKHIDMATAN INTERVENSI 
AWAL
Dijaya Tropicana Foundation 
donated RM100,000 to 
Pertubuhan Perkhidmatan 
Intervensi Awal (PPIA) in Batu 
Pahat, Johor. The Foundation’s 
contribution to PPIA Building 
Fund supported a project to 
build an educational institution 
that offers education, training 
and sheltered employment to 

intellectually challenged children 
and youth with disabilities and 
impairments such as Down 
Syndrome, Autism, Global 
Developmental Delay, Dyslexia, 
Epilepsy, Attention Deficit 
Disorder and Hyperactivity 
Disorder. 

6 MAY 2011
BEAUTIFUL GATE 
FOUNDATION 
Dijaya Tropicana Foundation 
donated daily provisions totalling 
RM5,000 to Beautiful Gate 
Foundation. Among the items 
donated were water fi lter, hot 
water dispenser, medical aids, 
baby and adult diapers, vitamins, 
shower products and balloons.

8 MAY 2011
DONATION TO 
YAYASAN BUDDHA TZU CHI 
INDONESIA
Dijaya’s Group Chief Executive 
Offi cer and Founder of Dijaya 
Tropicana Foundation, YBhg Tan Sri 
Dato’ Danny Tan and his wife, YBhg 
Puan Sri Datin Ivy Tan travelled 
to Jakarta, Indonesia, to donate 
USD318,000 to Tzu Chi Buddhist 
Foundation in Indonesia. For over 
43 years, this Buddhist Foundation 
has been contributing to social and 
community services, medical care, 
education and humanism in Taiwan 
and around the world. 

31 MAY 2011
INTERNATIONAL PROPERTY 
AWARDS IN ASSOCIATION 
WITH BLOOMBERG 
TELEVISION AND GOOGLE
Tropicana Grande luxury golf-
fronted condominiums were 
named the Best Residential 
High-rise Development with the 
highest fi ve-star rating in Malaysia 
and Best Residential High-rise 
Development in Asia Pacifi c. 

10 JUNE 2011
DONATION TO BAKTI
In conjunction with Rossa’s 
two-day concert at the Grand 
Ballroom in Tropicana Golf & 
Country Resort, Dijaya Tropicana 
Foundation donated RM100,000 
to Badan Amal dan Kebajikan 
Tenaga Isteri-isteri (BAKTI). 
BAKTI, consisting of the wives of 
ministers and deputy ministers, 
supports many community 
and welfare projects to help all 
Malaysians regardless of race, 
religion and culture. 

10 TO 12 JUNE 2011
TROPICANA GRANDE 
FAMILY DAY
Families and friends were invited 
to partake in many fun-fi lled 
activities at Tropicana Grande 
Sales Gallery. A host of fun 
activities were lined up to keep 
everyone entertained and a 
generous spread of delicacies 
kept everyone’s energy high. 
This family day witnessed strong 
turnouts with several successful 
sales of Tropicana Grande and 
Block E of Casa Tropicana.

22 JUNE 2011
DIJAYA ANNUAL 
GENERAL MEETING
Last year’s Annual General 
Meeting brought good news 
to shareholders. Dijaya’s 
shareholders were given the fi nal 
dividend of 5% per ordinary share 
of RM1 less income tax of 25% 
for the fi scal year ending 2010, an 
increase of 2% from year 2009. 

23 JUNE 2011
DONATION TO SMJK CHONG 
HWA BUILDING FUND
Dijaya Tropicana Foundation, 
a newly set up charity organisation 
by Dijaya Corporation Berhad, 
donated RM50,000 to SMJK 
Chong Hwa, Kuala Lumpur. This 
donation is in support of a fund-
raising project to expand the 
school and upgrade its facilities.
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8 JULY 2011
DREAM HOME AWARD 2011
Casa Indah 1 was accorded 
the Dream Home Award 2011 
in Medium-high-cost Apartment 
Categories by the Petaling Jaya 
City Council (MBPJ). Buildings 
were judged by category, 
including building design, 
landscape, security, facilities 
and implementation of green 
technology.

1 AUGUST 2011
DONATION RM10,000 
TO MALAYSIAN YOUTH 
ORCHESTRA FOUNDATION 
Dijaya Tropicana Foundation 
donated RM10,000 to the 
Malaysian Youth Orchestra 
Foundation (MYOF) which 
went to organising the fi fth 
Malaysian Youth Music Festival 
in August 2011. Every year, the 
MYOF organises the Malaysian 
Youth Music Festival to give 
music students the platform to 
experience public performance. 

10 AUGUST 2011
FIRST AID TRAINING
A fi rst-aid training was conducted 
by St John Ambulance Selangor 
at Dijaya Corporation Berhad. 
Members of the Emergency 
Response Team (ERT), 
consisting of representatives from 
Dijaya, Tropicana Golf & Country 
Resort and Tropicana City Mall, 
were taught fi rst-aid responses 
such as treating fractures, burns 
and bleeding as well as other 
medical emergencies such as 
cardio-pulmonary resuscitation 
techniques. This training aimed to 
maintain and retain essential skills 
pertinent in an emergency as well 
as to uphold the quality of Dijaya 
Group’s ERT services.

20 AUG 2011
RAYA FEAST AT 
TROPICANA GRANDE
Dijaya treated loyal customers 
and friends to a Buka Puasa 
celebration at Tropicana Grande 

Sales Gallery during Ramadhan. 
The exclusive list of guests 
included members of Tropicana 
Golf & Country Resort as well as 
cardholders of Dijaya Privilege 
Card and their friends. 

20 TO 21 AUGUST 2011
PREVIEW OF 
TROPICANA CHERAS
After months of anticipation, 
Tropicana Cheras was fi nally 
unveiled to a select group. A soft 
launch was held at Tropicana 
City Mall Sales Gallery, which 
saw the attendance of existing 
Dijaya customers and interested 
registrants. 

10 SEPTEMBER 2011
MID-AUTUMN FESTIVAL 
AT TROPICANA GRANDE 
In celebration of Mid-Autumn 
Festival, Dijaya invited friends, 
families and privileged customers 
to Tropicana Grande Sales 
Gallery for a night of revelry. 
Guests were treated to delicious 
Tai Thong mooncakes. Children 
were not left out; the young ones 
were given lanterns to spread the 
warmth and glow. 

20 SEPTEMBER 2011
THE EDGE-BURSA KUALA 
LUMPUR RAT RACE
Once again, Dijaya participated 
in The Edge-Bursa Malaysia 
Kuala Lumpur Rat Race. The 
energetic cheerleading team 
from Tropicana Golf & Country 
Resort won the second spot for 
the third consecutive year in the 
Team Spirit category. Supported 
by Yayasan Bursa Malaysia and 
co-organised with The Edge, 
this 4.5-kilometre corporate race 
saw runners jogging around 
the Golden Triangle for a good 
cause. A total of RM1.93 million 
was collected and subsequently 
distributed equally to 20 selected 
organisations of various social 
and charitable causes. 

20 OCTOBER 2011
DONATION TO BUDDHIST 
GEM FELLOWSHIP
Dijaya Tropicana Foundation 
donated RM50,000 to the 
Buddhist Gem Fellowship 
(BGF) to assist the BGF in the 
construction of a new building. 
Established in 1989, the BGF is 
a non-profi t, non-governmental 
organisation that nurtures 
Dhamma-inspired Buddhist 
leaders to contribute towards 
the development of the Buddhist 
community. The new building will 
have expanded facilities to reach 
a larger Buddhist community 
with its training, education and 
development programmes for all 
age groups. 

22 OCTOBER 2011
HAMPER DONATION TO 
KLINIK 1 MALAYSIA
Dijaya Corporation Berhad 
donated a total of 100 hampers 
to ease the fi nancial burden of 
single mothers at Flat Lembah 
Subang. The contents of the 
hampers included essential food 
items such as rice, wheat fl our 
and cooking oil. 

29 TO 30 OCTOBER 2011
POOL VILLAS 
SPECIAL PREVIEW
Dijaya’s latest property gem – 
Pool Villas – created a splashing 
sensation when the show unit 
was unveiled at Tropicana 
Indah Resort Homes in Petaling 
Jaya. Prospective investors 
and discerning home buyers, 
consisting of Dijaya Privilege 
Card members and valued 
registrants, were impressed with 
the spaciousness of the home 
while others complimented on its 
practical layout.

2 NOVEMBER 2011
A DAY WITH CITIBANK
Citibank’s platinum card members 
were invited to a high-tea party at 
Tropicana Grande Sales Gallery. 
Dijaya sales team successfully 

clinched several property sales, 
further increasing the company’s 
homeowner database. 

3 NOVEMBER 2011
DIJAYA PROPERTY 
SHOWCASE IN SHANGHAI 
AND JAKARTA 
At the Shanghai property 
showcase, a two-day event 
organised by the Malaysia 
Property Incorporated (MPI), 
Dijaya presented its award-
winning luxurious condominium 
project – Tropicana Grande. 
Meanwhile, in Jakarta, Dijaya held 
a private viewing of Tropicana 
Grande high-rise residential 
development. Specially invited 
guests attended this two-day 
exhibition, where scale models 
and plans of interior layouts 
were presented. During both 
events, interested investors 
also submitted their registration 
requests to receive latest updates 
and special privileges from Dijaya 
on upcoming property launches. 

11 NOVEMBER 2011
DIJAYA AND IVORY IN RM10 
BILLION PENANG PROPERTY 
VENTURE
Dijaya Corporation Berhad and 
Ivory Properties Group Berhad 
entered into a joint venture 
agreement to develop mixed 
residential and commercial 
properties in Bayan Mutiara, 
Penang. The gross development 
value of the project is estimated 
at RM10 billion.

21 NOVEMBER 2011
LAUNCH OF 
TROPICANA AVENUE
Dijaya Privilege Card members 
and interested property buyers 
visited Dijaya Property Showcase in 
Tropicana City Mall during the launch 
to view the scale model and fi nd out 
more about this development. Home 
owners were equally attracted 
by the environmentally friendly 
and architecturally bold serviced 
apartment. 
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TROPICANA GOLF & TROPICANA GOLF & 
COUNTRY RESORT COUNTRY RESORT 
EVENT HIGHLIGHTSEVENT HIGHLIGHTS

18 JANUARY 2011
FOOD REVIEW FOR FAMILY 
PROSPERITY BUFFET
Tropicana Golf & Country Resort 
(TGCR) treated press members 
and invited guests to a round of 
sumptuous local and international 
buffet review. Later, there was a 
session of Question and Answer 
session, where representatives of 
TGCR addressed queries from 
the press members.

6 FEBRUARY 2012
LION AND DRAGON DANCE
To welcome Chinese New Year, 
TGCR treated its staff, residents 
and guests to a special lion and 
dragon dance. This dance troupe 
was very skilful and impressed 
the audience with thrilling 
movements and stunts.

10 MARCH 2011
WORLD KIDNEY DAY RUN 
2011 
TGCR participated in the World 
Kidney Day run 2011 at Dataran 
Merdeka, Kuala Lumpur. The 
event was organised by the 
National Kidney Foundation 
Malaysia, in collaboration with the 
Malaysia Society of Nephrology 
and the Ministry of Health, in 
conjunction with World Kidney 
Day on 10 March 2011.

18 AND 25 APRIL 2011
SECRETARY’S WEEK
TGCR proudly presented 
Secretary’s Week in aid of 
National Kidney Foundation 
of Malaysia (NKF) with the 
Carpenters from Kempsey. 
Many exciting performances 
were staged. Among them 
were opening acts by NKF teen 
ambassador Azizi Zakari, Marsha 
Lya Milan Londoh, and, of course, 
performance by the Carpenters 
from Kempsey. 

9 AND 10 JUNE 2011
AN EVENING WITH ROSSA 
TGCR hosted a magnifi cent 
dinner featuring Indonesian 
singing sensation Rossa. 
Dijaya Tropicana Foundation 
concurrently made a donation of 
RM100,000 to the Association 
of Wives of Ministers and Deputy 
Ministers for Community and 
Welfare (BAKTI).

18 JULY 2011
STAFF ANNUAL DINNER AND 
DANCE 2011
Staff of TGCR went “Back 
to School” during the Annual 
Dinner and Dance 2011. 
The entertainment that night 
included band performance by 
D Coolgang, show time by Zon 
Dancers and disco dancing by 
Fredo and the Flintstones.

1 TO 29 AUGUST 2011
BUKA PUASA AT TGCR
During the eighth year of 
presenting the famed Berbuka 
Puasa buffet at TGCR, the 
management and staff of TGCR 
once again teamed up to serve 
all-time favourite delicacies – 
lepat pisang, pengat labu, kuih 
koci, etc – among a smorgasbord 
of more than 100 items. 
Themed “Nostalgia Ramadan 
di Tropicana”, the kampong 
atmosphere was reminiscent of 
family togetherness and good old 
times. 

28 SEPTEMBER 2011
TGCR RAYA CHARITY 
TGCR hosted a Raya charity 
luncheon themed “We are with 
You” for Rumah Amal Cheshire 
Homes and Pusat Pemulihan 
Dalam Komuniti Selayang 
(PPDKS). TGCR made a 
RM5,000 donation to each charity 
home and handed out duit raya 
and goodie bags to the residents 
of the homes. The residents were 
also treated to an entertaining 
afternoon with fun games and a 
mouth-watering lunch buffet.

21 OCTOBER 2011
18TH ANNUAL RMHC 
MALAYSIA-TROPICANA 
CHARITY GOLF 
CHAMPIONSHIP
Ronald McDonald House 
Charities Malaysia (RMHC 
Malaysia) hosted their 18th annual 
RMHC Malaysia-Tropicana 
Charity Golf Championship at the 
Tropicana Golf & Country Resort. 
This event – held for 140 golfers 
– managed to raise RM180,000, 
channeled towards the building of 
more Ronald McDonald Sensory 
Rooms in aid of Malaysian 
children with learning disabilities.

31 OCTOBER 2011
HALLOWEEN PARTY 
TGCR hosted an annual fun 
and exciting Halloween party at 
Tropicana Clubhouse. Residents 
and guests gathered to celebrate 
this event. 

9 DECEMBER 2011
TGCR 18TH ANNIVERSARY 
CELEBRATION
In conjunction with TGCR 18th 
anniversary celebration, about 
300 Tropicana members and 
guests were recently treated to 
an exquisite dinner at the Grand 
Ballroom of Tropicana Clubhouse. 
The event, which was held in 
line with the club’s appreciation 
towards long-staying members and 
guests, featured a Shanghai Jazz 
Night with Pahang-born celebrity 
singer and songwriter Yudi Yap.

24 DECEMBER 2011
CHRISTMAS EVE PARTY
TGCR treated its residents 
and guests to a merry and fun-
fi lled Christmas Eve party at the 
clubhouse. Exciting games were 
prepared for the enjoyment of 
young and old alike. 

31 DECEMBER 2011
NEW YEAR COUNTDOWN 
TGCR organised a fun and 
memorable New Year Countdown 
party aptly themed “Wild Wild 

West”. After a wonderful buffet 
spread, music band Os Pombos 
entertained throughout the night, 
which also included games and a 
lucky draw.

TROPICANA CITY MALL TROPICANA CITY MALL 
EVENT HIGHLIGHTSEVENT HIGHLIGHTS 

14 JANUARY 2011 TO 13 
FEBRUARY 2011
SPRING TIME AT 
TROPICANA CITY MALL
The theme for the lunar season 
was “Spring Time @ Tropicana 
City Mall”, and shoppers were 
treated to a culturally fun 
experience with bazaar shopping, 
festive performances, rewards 
and loads of freebies at Tropicana 
City Mall (TCM). It was also a 
spirit of giving as TCM organised 
a charity loh sang with Charis 
Home for the senior citizens. 

18 TO 27 MARCH 2011
MOTOR SHOW 2011 
In conjunction with the Malaysian 
F1 Grand Prix fever, Tropicana 
City Mall revved up much 
excitement with its Motor Show 
2011. In addition to an impressive 
showcase of familiar car brands, 
a race car from Malaysia’s 
Team Lotus F1 was displayed. 
Other fast-and-furious themed 
competitions included the F1 
Drivers Introduction Audition, the 
Car Assembling Competition and 
the Car Making Competition. 

17 APRIL 2011
NST SPELL-IT-RIGHT 
STATE CHALLENGE
The News Straits Times (NST) 
Spell-It-Right State Challenge 
gathered students from the 
Government-funded primary and 
secondary school to show off 
their spelling skills. The winners 
proceeded to the National 
Challenge in July 2011. 

event
highlights 2011
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14 MAY 2011 
ROLAND V-DRUMS 
COMPETITION
Drummers from all over Malaysia 
convened at Tropicana City Mall for 
the Roland V-Drums Competition 
2011. A drum competition with a 
twist, participants battled it out 
on Roland’s V-Drums electronic 
drum kits. Some very creative use 
of technology was showcased as 
contestants vied for the top spots. 

21 TO 22 MAY 2011
C2AGE 2011
C2AGE stands for Cosplay, 
Comics, Anime and Games 
Exhibition. C2AGE exhibition 
featured the amazing and enticing 
world of the Japanese anime and 
manga, American comics and 
games from around the world.

23 MAY 2011 
CARREFOUR BABY 
AMBASSADOR 2011
Carrefour invited all the children 
in the country to vie for the 
coveted role as Carrefour’s little 
Ambassador this year. Fifteen-
month-old Marcella Nuerqa was 
the grand winner, taking home 
baby essentials worth RM1,200 
and Carrefour gift vouchers 
totalling RM3,800. 

28 MAY 2011 
KUALI’S CAKE DECORATING 
CHALLENGE
Kuali’s Cake Decorating 
Challenge was an excellent 
avenue to showcase one’s 
talents and cake-decorating 
fl air. Faith Lee’s creation of a 
sleeping baby fi gurine, nestled 
comfortably in a leaf surrounded 
by greenery, shrubs and fl owers 
won the fi rst prize as it portrayed 
the organiser’s chosen theme 
“Celebrate Life”. 

1 TO 12 JUNE 2011 
GREEN HEROES UNITE 
In conjunction with the World 
Environment Day, Mypartners 
Communications collaborated 

with EcoKnights to organise a 12-
day event called “Green Heroes 
Unite”. This event gathered green 
activists, vendors, corporate 
companies and experts to 
promote sustainable green living. 
The highlight of the event was 
the movie Green Lantern, which 
debuted in July 2012 at cinemas 
nationwide. 

17 JULY 2011
VIVA POOMSAE TAEKWONDO 
COMPETITION 
Tropicana City Mall organised 
a Taekwondo Competition, helping 
kids to learn and master self-defence 
techniques. The visiting crowd 
could witness young kids defending 
themselves and performing 
stunning sparring moves at the main 
atrium of the mall.

30 TO 31 JULY 2011 
RHB-STAR MIGHTY MINDS 
CHALLENGE 2011
The RHB-Star Mighty Minds 
National Challenge was 
introduced to raise the standards 
of Maths and Science, as well as 
to encourage reading beyond 
academic books while improving 
the level of general knowledge 
among lower and upper secondary 
students. Participants pitted their 
knowledge against each other 
while supporters turned up in full 
force to keep the mental spirits up. 

5 AUGUST TO 4 SEPTEMBER 
2011
HARI RAYA FAIR 
To mark the Hari Raya Aidilfi tri 
celebrations at Tropicana City Mall 
and to create an experience with 
colours, tastes and traditions of 
this wonderful festive season, many 
exciting events were planned at the 
Mall for a period of one month. 

18 AUGUST TO 11 
SEPTEMBER 2011
MOONCAKE FESTIVAL 
The Mid-Autumn Festival was 
welcomed at Tropicana City 
Mall with delectable moon 

cakes, lantern parades and 
cultural dances amongst other 
promotional offers and activities. 

20 AUGUST 2011 
BUKA PUASA AT TCM 
Children from Rumah Kasih 
Sayang in Tasik Puteri, Rawang, 
were treated to a delightful 
Buka Puasa feast at Tropicana 
City Mall (TCM). A vibrant mix 
of performances was lined up 
for the shoppers and children. 
The children were in great spirits 
as they left with goodie bags 
contributed by TCM. 

1 AND 2 OCTOBER 2011
2ND JUNIOR UNITY 
RHYTHMIC GYMNASTICS 
CARNIVAL 
The is the second competition 
organised by Sarina’s Rhythmic 
Gymnastics Club (SRGC) in 
collaboration with Nestle, Sports 
Unite, U Mobile and Tropicana City 
Mall. The competition was aimed at 
boosting the development of this 
sport while serving as a platform 
for the expansion of junior talents 
in the country. The event was open 
to all gymnastics schools and clubs 
affi liated to the Selangor Amateur 
Gymnastics Association (SAGA) 
and the Malaysian Gymnastics 
Federation (MGF), which were 
represented by multi-racial teams of 
16 gymnasts, all under 12 years old. 

7 TO 9 OCTOBER 2011 
OKTOBERFEST 
Tropicana City Mall organised 
the Oktoberfest with a line-
up of captivating weekend 
performances, live music, 
friendly contests, lucky draws, 
beer specials and the popular 
Oktoberfest Chicken Dance. The 
Oompah band entertained hearty 
drinkers while other shoppers 
took part in crazy shopping deals. 

25 TO 31 OCTOBER 2011
HALLOWEEN 
Shoppers at Tropicana City Mall 
were treated to a spooky and fun 

shopping experience in celebration 
of Halloween. Children dressed 
in Halloween costumes went 
trick-or-treating with their parents 
in the mall. Various activities 
and performances added to the 
celebratory mood, such as dazzling 
magic show and special mascot 
appearances by Mr Potato Head, 
Mr Monopoly and characters from 
the Sylvanian family. 

18 TO 20 NOVEMBER 2011
THE STAR ONLINE CARNIVAL 
COSPLAY, video games, light-
saber fi ghts, awesome freebies 
and prizes were aplenty at The 
Star Online Carnival. Shoppers 
were treated to three days of 
fun and excitement with plenty 
of fun activities including a 
dodge ball demonstration and 
mini tournament organised by 
the Malaysian Association of 
Dodgeball (MAD).

24 NOVEMBER TO 26 
DECEMBER 2011
A MAGICAL YULETIDE
To celebrate the celestial beauty 
of Christmas, Tropicana City Mall 
organised a Christmas Fair. The 
merriment of the yuletide season 
was created at the main atrium 
through festive food and great 
Christmas presents. 

31 DECEMBER 2011
2012 NEW YEAR 
EXTRAVAGANCE  
Tropicana City Mall wrapped up 
2011 in style and ushered in the 
New Year with extravagance. 
Local celebrity Hannah Tan 
made an appearance at the party, 
alongside Malaysia’s top hip-
hop act known as Point Blanc. 
Shoppers were mesmerised 
by street magicians, statue 
artistes as well as fi re-eating and 
belly-dancing performances. A 
breathtaking fi reworks display 
lit up the skies at the stroke of 
midnight.

event
highlights 2011

EVENTS HIGHLIGHTS 2011

059

ANNUAL REPORT 2011DIJAYA CORPORATION BERHAD
(47908-K)





The beauty of the natural environment is what inspires 
the design of Dijaya’s landed residential property. Lush 
greenery and low density merge with contemporary 
tropical design to offer the very best in resort 
living. Our latest exclusive developments include 
Grand Villas, Golf Villas, Pool Villas and Link Villas. 
At Pool Villas, nestled within  the secure and private
enclave of Tropicana Indah Resort Homes, residents 
enjoy shimmering private pool as well as a lift for the 
convenience of elderly residents.

the
of

lifestyle

epitome
resort
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statement on 
corporate governance

The Board of Directors (“Board”) of Dijaya Corporation Berhad (“Dijaya” or “Company”) is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate 
governance in tandem with the Malaysian Code on Corporate Governance (Revised 2007) (“Code”) throughout the Company and its group of 
companies (“Group”) to protect and enhance shareholders’ value as well as to support the Group’s continued growth and success.

This statement, which is made pursuant to paragraph 15.25 of the Listing Requirements of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad (“Bursa Securities”), 
sets out the manner in which the Group has applied the principles of good governance and the extent of compliance by the Group with the best 
practices recommended by the Code throughout the fi nancial year ended 31 December 2011 (“FY 2011”).

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Composition and Size of Board

The Board, at the date of this statement, consists of twelve (12) members, comprising fi ve (5) Independent Non-Executive Directors, one (1) 
Non-Independent Non-Executive Director and six (6) Executive Directors. The Board composition complied with paragraph 15.02 of the Listing 
Requirements of Bursa Securities whereby at least one-third of the Board must be made up of independent Directors.

As at the date of this statement, the Company has a signifi cant shareholder, who is defi ned in the Code as a shareholder having the ability to 
exercise a majority of votes for the election of directors. This signifi cant shareholder holds a total of approximately sixty-six per centum (66%) direct 
and indirect interests in the Company. The representations of fi ve (5) Independent Non-Executive Directors in the Board of the Company, which is 
equivalent to forty-one per centum (41%) of the Board members, more than fairly refl ects the investment of minority shareholders in the Company, 
which aggregated approximately thirty-four per centum (34%) of the issued and paid-up capital of the Company.

Board Balance and Board Effectiveness

The Board comprises members from diverse backgrounds ranging from legal, fi nance, corporate fi nance and corporate banking, architecture, 
property development, property investment, commerce, business management and public administration, all of which provide the Group with a 
wealth of expertise and experiences to draw upon. The profi les of the Directors are set out in pages 38 to 43 of this Annual Report.

The Board is responsible for reviewing and adopting the Group’s long term strategic plan and direction, overseeing the conduct of the Group’s 
businesses and utilisation of resources, monitoring the achievement of business objective and fi nancial performance, reviewing the adequacy and 
the integrity of internal controls and risks management systems and ensuring the effective implementation of these systems.

There is a clear division of responsibilities at the head of the Company. The Chairman represents the Board to the shareholders and is responsible 
for the effective running of the Board. The Group Chief Executive Offi cer, assisted by the Managing Director, the Deputy Managing Director and 
the Executive Directors, are fully responsible for the effective running of the Group’s operations and business activities and implementation of the 
Board’s policies and decisions. The presence of a sizable number of experienced Independent Non-Executive Directors, ensures proper check 
and balance in the Board, and provides unbiased and independent views, advice and judgement, besides playing key supporting roles. The clear 
distinction of responsibilities between the Chairman and the Group Chief Executive Offi cer ensures a balance of power and authority, such that 
no individual or small group of individuals can dominate the Board’s decision making. It is mandatory for all members of the Board to declare any 
of their interests in the transactions undertaken by the Group. In such instances, the interested Director(s) shall abstain from deliberation and the 
decision-making process.

Board Meetings

The Board meets at least once every quarter on a scheduled basis and additional meetings will be convened as and when deemed necessary by the 
Board. The quarterly Board meetings are scheduled in advance prior to or around the commencement of the fi nancial year to allow the Directors to 
plan their appointments ahead and as such to facilitate full attendance at Board meetings. All proceedings, deliberations and conclusions of Board 
meetings are minuted and are confi rmed by the Board members at the next Board meeting and subsequently signed by the Chairman of the next 
Board meeting as correct records of the proceedings of the meeting.
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A total of four Board meetings were held during the FY 2011. Attendance record of each of the Board member is set out below:-

    % OF  
NAME OF DIRECTORS ATTENDANCE ATTENDANCE

Datuk Rohana Binti Tan Sri Mahmood 4/4 100
Tan Sri Dato’ Tan Chee Sing 4/4 100
Dato’ Tong Kien Onn 4/4 100
Dickson Tan Yong Loong 4/4 100
Tan Seng Chye 4/4 100
Kong Woon Jun (appointed on 1 March 2011) 3/3 100
Koong Wai Seng (appointed on 8 July 2011) 2/2 100
Dato’ Khoo Poh Chye (appointed on 15 July 2011) 2/2 100
Loh Chen Peng  4/4 100
Tang Vee Mun 4/4 100
Datuk Seri Panglima Mohd Annuar Bin Zaini 3/4 75
Dato’ Ng Tian Sang @ Ng Kek Chuan (appointed on 29 March 2011) 3/3 100
Roslan Bin Hj Yahya (resigned on 1 July 2011) 2/2 100

All the Directors have complied with the minimum 50% attendance requirement in respect of Board meetings as stipulated in the Listing Requirements 
of Bursa Securities. In the intervals between Board meetings, for any matters requiring Board’s decisions, Board’s approvals are obtained through 
circular resolutions. The resolutions passed by way of such circular resolutions were then noted in the next Board meetings.

Supply of Information

The Directors have full and unrestricted access to all information pertaining to the Group’s business and affairs to enable them to discharge their 
duties. All Directors are provided with reports and other relevant information on timely manner, covering various aspects of the Group’s operations 
and performance. They are also provided with an agenda and a set of board papers pertaining to agenda items prior to Board meetings to allow 
suffi cient time for the Directors to review, consider and deliberate on the issues and, where necessary, to obtain further information and explanations 
to facilitate informed decision making.

The management is responsible for providing the Board with all information that may assist the Board in discharging its responsibilities and to 
facilitate informed decision making. The Company Secretary attends all Board meetings and ensures that accurate and adequate records of the 
proceedings of the Board meetings and decisions made are properly recorded. Senior management of the Group, external auditors and advisors are 
also invited to attend Board meetings on specifi c items on the agenda which require clarifi cation. The Board will also be briefed on latest updates 
on the Group’s business activities.

All Directors have access to the advice and services of the Company Secretary and senior management and may seek independent professional 
advice, at the Company’s expense, if required, in furtherance of their duties.

The Company Secretary is responsible for ensuring the board meeting procedures are followed and that applicable rules and regulations are 
complied with. The Company Secretary updated the Directors on any new changes and development to the statutory or regulatory requirements 
concerning their duties and responsibilities as well as general statutory compliances whenever the changes arise.
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Appointment and Re-election to the Board

In accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association (“Articles”), all Directors who are appointed by the Board either to fi ll a casual vacancy or 
as an addition to the existing Directors are subject to re-election by shareholders at the Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) following their appointment. 
The Articles also provide that at least one-third of the remaining directors be subject to re-election by rotation at each AGM including the Group 
Chief Executive Offi cer, the Managing Director, the Deputy Managing Director and the Executive Directors provided always that all the Directors 
shall retire from their offi ce at least once every three years. All retiring Directors are eligible to offer themselves for re-election at the AGM. Directors 
over 70 years of age are required to submit themselves for re-appointment annually in accordance with Section 129(6) of the Companies Act, 1965.

The Board continuously reviews its size and composition with particular consideration on its impact on the effective functioning of the Board.

Any proposed candidate for the appointment as director of the Board will be nominated by the Nomination Committee to the Board for 
full deliberation.

Directors’ Training

All Directors have attended the Mandatory Accreditation Programme prescribed by Bursa Securities. The Directors are encouraged to attend 
continuing education programmes and seminars to keep abreast with current developments in the market place and with new statutory and 
regulatory requirements. They are provided with updates from time to time on relevant new laws and regulations affecting their directorships and 
relevant compliances.

During the FY 2011, the Directors of the Company attended various training programmes and seminars which cover the following topics:-

NAME OF DIRECTOR TITLE OF SEMINAR/WORKSHOPS/COURSES

Kong Woon Jun Mandatory Accreditation Programme for Directors of Public Listed Companies
 Updates & Property Outlook 2012
Datuk Seri Panglima Mohd Annuar Bin Zaini Workshop on the Global Movement of the Moderates
 Fireside Chat “The Economic Transformation Programme”
 SC-OCIS Routable 2011 – Islamic Finance
 7th World Islamic Economic (WIEF) 2011
 Join High Level Conference on Islamic Finance
 Half Day Seminar on Wakaf Fund
Loh Chen Peng Sustainability Programme for Corporate Malaysia
 Risk Management and Internal Controls: Are The Boards Aware What They Up Against? 
Tan Seng Chye 4th Malaysian Property Summit 2011

Board Committees

The Board has delegated specifi c responsibilities to several committees, namely the Audit Committee, Nomination Committee, Remuneration 
Committee, Option Committee and Investment Committee. These Committees operate within their respective defi ned terms of reference approved 
and specifi c authority delegated by the Board. The Chairman of the respective committees will report to the Board the outcome of each of the 
committee meeting and the reporting of the outcome will be minuted accordingly. The Board, however, retains full responsibility for the fi nal decision 
on all matters.

statement on 
corporate governance064
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(i)  Audit Committee

   The Audit Committee consists of four (4) Independent Non-Executive Directors, one of whom is a qualifi ed Accountant with more than 20 years 
of experience in the fi nance and accounting fi elds.

   The Audit Committee assists and supports the Board in fulfi lling its fi duciary responsibilities relating to the Group’s fi nancial reporting practices, 
accounting policies, internal controls, business ethics policies and the independence of the Group’s external and internal auditors. The Audit 
Committee Report is set out in pages 71 to 74 of this Annual Report.

(ii)  Nomination Committee

   The Nomination Committee has been given the responsibility to recommend new appointments to the Board of Dijaya. The Nomination 
Committee also reviews the effectiveness of the existing Board, the committees of the Board and the contribution of each Director. The 
Nomination Committee, as at the date of this statement, comprises three (3) members, all being Independent Non-Executive Directors namely 
Dato’ Ng Tian Sang @ Ng Kek Chuan (Chairman), Loh Chen Peng and Datuk Seri Panglima Mohd Annuar Bin Zaini.

  The recommendations of the Nomination Committee are subject to the approval of the Board.

(iii)  Remuneration Committee

   The Remuneration Committee is comprised entirely of Independent Non-Executive Directors and as at the date of this statement, they are 
Loh Chen Peng (Chairman), Dato’ Ng Tian Sang @ Ng Kek Chuan and Datuk Seri Panglima Mohd Annuar Bin Zaini.

  The Remuneration Committee assists the Board in its responsibilities of assessing the remuneration packages of the Directors.

   The policy practised on Directors’ remuneration by the Remuneration Committee is that the level of remuneration should be suffi cient to attract, 
motivate and retain directors of the quality required to effectively manage the businesses of the Group. As for Non-Executive Directors, the 
fees refl ect the experience and level of responsibilities undertaken by the Non-Executive Directors concerned. All Directors had abstained from 
discussion and decision on their own remuneration.

  The details of the remuneration of Directors for the FY 2011 are as follows:-

    SALARIES   SHARE
    ALLOWANCES   OPTIONS
    AND OTHER  BENEFITS GRANTED
   FEES EMOLUMENTS BONUS IN KIND UNDER ESOS TOTAL
  CATEGORY (RM) (RM) (RM) (RM) (RM) (RM)

  Executive Directors – 6,808,000 1,749,000 – 208,000 8,765,000 
 
  Non-Executive Directors 253,000 165,000 – – – 418,000
  
  (The above disclosures include all Directors who held offi ce during the fi nancial year)
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  The aggregate remuneration of Directors categorised into appropriate band of RM50,000 are as follows:-

   NO. OF DIRECTORS
    NON-
   EXECUTIVE EXECUTIVE
  RANGE OF REMUNERATION DIRECTORS DIRECTORS

  Below RM50,000 – 4
  RM50,001 – RM100,000 – 2
  RM150,001 – RM200,000 – 1
  RM400,001 – RM450,000 3 –
  RM550,001 – RM600,000 1 –
  RM600,001 – RM650,000 3 –
  RM750,001 – RM800,000 1 –
  RM800,001 – RM1,200,000 2 –
  RM3,900,001 – RM4,500,000 1 –

  (The above disclosures include all Directors who held offi ce during the fi nancial year)

(iv)  Option Committee

   The Option Committee, established to administer the Company’s Employee Share Option Scheme (“ESOS Scheme”), as at the date of the 
statement, comprises the following members:-

  a. Dato’ Tong Kien Onn (Chairman)
  b.  Dickson Tan Yong Loong
  c.  Koong Wai Seng
  d.  Kong Woon Jun
  e.  Tan Kar Eng

   The primary responsibility of the Option Committee is to administer the ESOS Scheme in accordance with the objective and regulation thereof 
as set out in the ESOS Bye-Laws and in such manner as it shall deem fi t and with such powers and duties as are conferred upon it by the Board.

(v)  Investment Committee

   The Investment Committee (“IC”) was established by the Board on 19 May 2010 in order to assist the Board in its oversight of the Group’s 
investment decisions, in particular on reviewing of the groups’ overseas’ investments and investments in non-core business.

  As at the date of the statement, the IC comprises the following members:-
  a.  Loh Chen Peng (Chairman)
  b.  Tang Vee Mun
  c.  Dato’ Seri Panglima Mohd Annuar Bin Zaini
  d.  Dickson Tan Yong Loong

SHAREHOLDERS

Communications with Shareholders and Relationship with Investors

The Group recognises and practices transparency and accountability to its shareholders and investors. As such, the Group ensures timely 
dissemination of information through appropriate channels of communications to shareholders and investors to ensure that they are properly informed 
of major developments of the Group. Such information is also communicated to them through the Annual Report and the various disclosures and 
announcements made to Bursa Securities from time to time, including the Quarterly and Annual Results. These information and documents are 
accessible on Bursa Malaysia website at www.bursamalaysia.com. The Company obliges the requests of analysts and fund managers for briefi ngs 
from time to time.
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The Group’s website at www.DIJAYA.com.my also provides an avenue for shareholders and members of the public to access information pertaining 
to the Group which is being updated regularly.

The Chairman of the Board, Datuk Rohana Binti Tan Sri Mahmood, is the designated Senior Independent Non-Executive Director to whom concerns 
pertaining to the Group may be conveyed.

Annual General Meeting

The Company’s Annual General Meeting is the principal forum for dialogue and interaction with its shareholders at which the shareholders are 
informed and updated on current developments of the Group. The Board presents an overview of the performance of businesses in the Group and 
encourages shareholders to participate in the question and answer sessions. The Board members, senior management and the Group’s external 
auditors are available to respond to shareholders’ questions during the meeting.

The outcome of all resolutions proposed at the general meeting is announced to Bursa Securities at the end of the meeting day.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Financial Reporting

The Board is responsible for ensuring that all fi nancial statements of the Company and the Group are drawn up in accordance with the applicable 
approved accounting standards in Malaysia and the provisions of the Companies Act, 1965 so as to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs 
and the results of the Company and of the Group. The Board is committed to providing a clear, balanced and comprehensive meaningful assessment 
of the Group’s fi nancial performance and prospects, primarily through the annual fi nancial statements and quarterly announcements of results to 
shareholders as well as the Chairman’s Statement, the Group Chief Executive Offi cer’s Message and the Managing Director’s Review in the Annual 
Report. The Group’s audited fi nancial statements for the FY 2011 are presented in pages 76 to 177 in this Annual Report.

Internal Control

The Board has overall responsibility for maintaining a sound system of internal controls which includes fi nancial controls, operational and compliance 
controls and risk management to safeguard shareholders’ interest and the Company’s assets. The Group’s system of internal control is regularly 
reviewed to ensure its effectiveness. While acknowledging its responsibility for the system of internal control, the Board is aware that such a system 
cannot totally eliminate risks and thus can never be an absolute assurance against the Group failing to achieve its objectives. The Group’s Statement 
on Internal Control for the FY 2011 is set out on pages 69 to 70 of this Annual Report.

Relationship with External Auditors

The Board, through the Audit Committee, has always maintained a formal and transparent relationship with the external auditors. The Audit 
Committee meets up with the external auditors to discuss the audit planning memorandum and their audit fi ndings. The Committee also engages in 
private session with the external auditors without the presence of the Executive Directors and employees of the Company or Group.

The report by the Audit Committee for the FY 2011 is set out in pages 71 to 74 of this Annual Report.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CODE

The Board has complied with the best practices set in accordance with the Code during the fi nancial year under review.

This statement is made in accordance with a resolution of the Board dated 30 March 2012.
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STATUS OF UTILISATION OF PROCEEDS RAISED 
FROM ANY CORPORATE PROPOSAL

Dijaya Corporation Berhad (“Dijaya” or “the Company”) did not raise any 
proceeds from any corporate proposal during the fi nancial year ended 
31 December 2011.

SHARE BUYBACK

During the fi nancial year ended 31 December 2011, the Company did 
not undertake any share buyback.

OPTIONS, WARRANTS OR CONVERTIBLE SECURITIES

Dijaya did not issue any warrants during the fi nancial year.

The amount of share options issued by the Company and exercised by 
eligible employees during the fi nancial year under review are disclosed 
in the Directors’ Report and Note 32 to the Financial Statements for the 
year ended 31 December 2011.

DEPOSITORY RECEIPT PROGRAMME

The Company did not sponsor any Depository Receipt Programme 
during the fi nancial year ended 31 December 2011.

SANCTIONS AND/OR PENALTIES

No sanctions or penalties were imposed on the Company or its 
subsidiaries, Directors or management by the relevant regulatory bodies 
during the fi nancial year ended 31 December 2011.

NON-AUDIT FEES

The amount of non-audit fees incurred for services rendered to the 
Company and its subsidiaries for the fi nancial year ended 31 December 
2011 by the Company’s external auditors, Messrs Ernst & Young or their 
affi liates is RM171,296.

VARIANCE IN RESULTS

There was no profi t estimate, forecast or projection made by the 
Company for the fi nancial ended 31 December 2011.

There was no deviation of 10% or more in the profi t after tax and minority 
interest between the Group’s unaudited results announced earlier and 
the audited results for the fi nancial year ended 31 December 2011.

PROFIT GUARANTEES

The Company did not receive any profi t guarantee during the fi nancial year.

MATERIAL CONTRACTS INVOLVING DIRECTORS 
AND MAJOR SHAREHOLDERS

Save as disclosed below, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries 
had entered into any material contracts (not being contracts entered 
into in the ordinary course of business) which involved Directors and/
or major shareholders’ interests, either still subsisting at the end of the 
fi nancial year 31 December 2011, or entered into since the end of the 
previous fi nancial year:–

(i)   Amalgamation Exercise Agreement dated 6 March 2012 between 
Dijaya and Tan Sri Dato’ Tan Chee Sing and certain parties related 
to him (“the Vendors”) pursuant to which Dijaya and the Vendors 
propose to participate in and implement an asset amalgamation and 
rationalisation exercise involving the amalgamation of the assets 
and properties of Dijaya Group with certain identifi ed assets and 
properties of the Vendors. Please refer to the announcement made 
by the Company on 6 March 2012 for details.

(ii)   24 Sale and Purchase Agreements and 16 Share Sale Agreements 
all dated 9 April 2012 between Dijaya and the Vendors to acquire 
from the respective Vendors the entire equity interest in the 
identifi ed companies and the identifi ed properties at the purchase 
considerations as stated therein. Please refer to the announcement 
made by the Company on 9 April 2012 for details.

RECURRENT RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
OF REVENUE AND TRADING NATURE

Paragraph 10.09(1)(a) of the Listing Requirements of the Main Market 
of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad states that a listed issuer with an 
issued and paid-up capital of RM60 million and above shall make an 
immediate announcement to Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad if:-

(i)   the consideration, value of the assets, capital outlay or costs of the 
recurrent related party transactions is RM1 million or more; or

(ii)  the percentage ratio of such recurrent related party transaction is 
1% or more,

whichever is the higher.

The total values of the recurrent related party transactions of revenue 
and trading nature of the Group (“RRPTs”) falls below the above 
applicable threshold. In this respect, the Company is not required to 
make announcement to Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad in relation to 
the RRPTs of the Group. Without triggering the requirement to make 
announcement, the Company, in the same respect, is not required to 
seek shareholders’ mandate in respect of the RRPTs of the Group.
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INTRODUCTION

The Malaysian Code of Corporate Governance stipulates that the 
Board of Directors of public listed companies should maintain a sound 
system of internal controls in order to enhance the value of shareholders’ 
investments and to safeguard the companies’ assets. The Board of 
Directors is pleased to provide the following Statement on Internal 
Control made in compliance with paragraph 15.27 of the BMSB’s 
(“Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad”) Listing Requirements and the 
Statement on Internal Control Guidance for Directors of Public Listed 
Companies.

RESPONSIBILITY

The Board places importance on, and is committed to maintaining 
a sound system of internal control and effective risk management 
practices that covers all aspects of the Group to ensure good corporate 
governance. The Board affi rms its responsibility for reviewing the 
adequacy and integrity of the Group’s internal control which covers 
fi nancial, organizational, operational, compliance, strategic and 
commercial areas.

Due to limitations that are inherent in any systems of internal control, 
the system adopted by the Group is designed to manage rather than to 
eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives. The system of 
internal control can only provide reasonable but not absolute assurance 
against any material misstatement or loss. However, the extent of 
responsibility for internal control does not extend to include that of the 
Group’s associated companies for the purpose of this review.

KEY INTERNAL CONTROL PROCESSES

The Board is committed to maintain a strong control structure and 
environment for the proper conduct of the Group’s business operations. 
The Board has the following control processes in place:-

• Authorisation Procedures

  The Group has a clearly-defi ned authorization procedure and 
clear line of accountability, with strict authorization, approval and 
control procedures which provide a sound framework of authority 
and accountability within the organization and which facilitate 
proper corporate decision-making at the appropriate level in the 
organisation’s hierarchy. Responsibility levels are communicated 
throughout the Group which set out, amongst others, authorization 
levels, segregation of duties and other control procedures.

• Authority Levels

  The Group has designated authority levels for major project tenders, 
capital expenditures, assets and other signifi cant transactions. Such 
limits are subject to periodic reviews as to their implementation and 
continuing suitability.

• Staffi ng Policies

  There are policies and procedures for recruitment, performance 
appraisals and promotion to ensure that suitably qualifi ed and 
competent personnel are hired and retained, with individual business 
units having fl exibility to adapt these policies for their specifi c needs. 
High recruitment standards which identify talented individuals who 
possess qualities that fi t the Group’s culture of excellence ensure the 
integrity and competence of employees.

• Senior Management Meetings

  Regular meetings of senior management which comprises of the 
Group Chief Executive Offi cer, the Managing Director, Executive 
Directors and all divisional heads are conducted periodically to 
ensure effective implementation of all major decisions and business 
objectives are met.

• Financial Performance

  Management accounts and reports which compares against the 
approved budget are prepared on a monthly basis for review by the 
senior management for effective monitoring and decision making.

  The Board monitors the Group’s performance by reviewing the 
quarterly results and examines the announcement to be made to the 
BMSB. These results are reviewed by the Audit Committee before 
they are tabled to the Board.
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Monitoring and Review

The Group has an in-house internal audit function whose primary 
responsibility is to assure the Board, through the Audit Committee, 
that the internal control systems function as intended. In providing 
this assurance, the Internal Audit Department carries out regular audit 
for review of the adequacy and integrity of the internal control system 
and the report of shortcomings together with recommendations as 
appropriate are submitted to the Audit Committee. These together with 
the external auditors’ fi ndings arising from the audit of the statutory 
fi nancial statements provide further assurance of the soundness and 
effectiveness of the internal control systems.

Results of audits are reported to the Audit Committee.

Conclusion

The systems of internal control described in this statement are 
considered appropriate to the business operations. Also, that the risks 
taken are at an acceptable level within the context of the business 
environment throughout the Group. It should be noted that such 
arrangements do not eliminate the possibility of collusion or deliberate 
circumvention of procedures by employees. Human error and/or other 
unforeseen circumstances can result in poor judgment. However, the 
systems of internal control that exist throughout the year provide a level 
of confi dence on which the Board relies for assurance.

This statement is made in accordance with the resolution of the Board of Directors 
dated 28 February 2012 and has been duly reviewed by the external auditors, pursuant 
to paragraph 15.27 of the Bursa Malaysia Securities Listing Requirements. 

The Group has in place an ongoing risk management process embedded 
in the organization for identifying, evaluating, monitoring and managing 
the signifi cant risks affecting the achievement of its business objectives. 
The process is regularly reviewed by the Board and risks are managed at 
all levels of the organization. All departments have primary responsibility 
and accountability for the proactive identifi cation, ownership and 
management of risks in their day-to-day operations.

The Audit Committee, on behalf of the Board, assesses the key risks 
inherent in the business and the system of internal control necessary 
to manage such risks and to present their fi ndings to the Board. The 
Managing Director also reports to the Board on signifi cant changes in 
the business and external environment which may result in signifi cant 
risks.

The Group has also set up an Investment Committee whose Chairman 
reports to the Board. The Investment Committee’s main duties are 
to review and deliberate on issues and policies relating to signifi cant 
transactions and investment related matters and to make the necessary 
recommendations to the Board in relation thereto and also to consider 
and advise on whether there is any signifi cant risk to the Group as a 
result of a proposed investment decision.
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The Board of Directors of Dijaya Corporation Berhad (“Dijaya” or “Company”) presents the Audit Committee Report of Dijaya for the fi nancial year 
ended 31 December 2011 as follows:-

A.  COMPOSITION AND MEMBERS OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

 The Audit Committee comprises the following Directors:-

 Roslan Bin Hj Yahya
 (Former Chairman / Formerly, an Independent Non-Executive Director)
 (Resigned on 1 July 2011)

 Loh Chen Peng
 (Chairman / Independent Non-Executive Director)
 (Re-designated from member to Chairman on 1 July 2011)
 (A Certifi ed Public Accountant of the Malaysian Institute of Certifi ed Public Accountants)

 Datuk Seri Panglima Mohd Annuar Bin Zaini
 (Member / Independent Non-Executive Director)

 Dato’ Ng Tian Sang @ Ng Kek Chuan
 (Member / Independent Non-Executive Director)
 (Appointed on 1 July 2011)

 Tang Vee Mun
 (Member / Independent Non-Executive Director)
 (Appointed on 24 November 2011)

  Throughout the fi nancial year under review, the Audit Committee of the Board is made up of no fewer than three (3) members, who were all 
Independent Non-Executive Directors, including the Audit Committee Chairman. The Audit Committee Chairman, Mr Loh Chen Peng, is a 
member of the Malaysian Institute of Certifi ed Public Accountants. Mr Loh Chen Peng was re-designated from the position of member to 
Chairman of the Audit Committee on 1 July 2011 following the resignation of Encik Roslan Bin Hj Yahya on the same day. All members of the 
Audit Committee are fi nancially literate. The size of the Audit Committee was increased from three (3) to four (4) with effect from 24 November 
2011 to strengthen its composition. The composition of the Audit Committee meets the provisions of paragraphs 15.09 and 15.10 of the Listing 
Requirements of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad (“Bursa Securities”) and Part 2, BB, I of the Best Practices of the Malaysian Code on 
Corporate Governance (Revised 2007).

B.  KEY FUNCTIONS, ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

  The Audit Committee assists and supports the Board in fulfi lling its fi duciary responsibilities relating to the Group’s fi nancial reporting practices, 
accounting policies, internal controls, business ethics policies and the independence of the Group’s external and internal auditors. In this 
respect, the Board has specifi ed the duties of the Audit Committee in the terms of reference of the Audit Committee and they are tabled 
as below:-

 1.  To review the following and report the same to the Board:-
  a) with the external auditor, the audit plan;
  b) with the external auditor, his evaluation of the system of internal controls;
  c)  with the external auditor, the audit reports, the external auditors’ management letter and management’s response;
  d)  to discuss with the external auditor before the audit commences, the nature and scope of the audit, and ensure coordination where 

more than one audit fi rm is involved.
  e) the assistance given by the Company’s employees to the external auditor;
  f) the quarterly results and year end fi nancial statements, prior to the approval by the Board, focusing particularly on:-
   i)  changes in accounting policies and practices;
   ii)  signifi cant adjustments arising from the audit;
   iii)  compliance with accounting standards and other statutory and legal requirements;
   iv)  the going concern assumption; and
   v)  any major judgmental areas;
  g)   any related party transaction and confl ict of interest situation that may arise within the Company or Group including any transaction, 

procedure or course of conduct that raises questions of management integrity;
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 2.   To review any matters concerning the appointment and re-appointment, audit fee and any questions of resignation or dismissal of external 
auditors as well as on the external auditors’ independence, objective and effectiveness, taking into consideration their relevant professional 
and regulatory requirements.

 3.  To prepare the Audit Committee Report at the end of each fi nancial year.

 4.   To discuss all other problems and reservations arising from the interim and fi nal external audits and any matters the external auditors may 
wish to discuss in the absence of management and/or executive board members where necessary.

 5.   To promptly report to Bursa Securities where the Audit Committee is of the view that a matter reported by it to the Board has not been 
satisfactorily resolved resulting in a breach of the Listing Requirements of Bursa Securities.

 6.  To do the following in relation to the internal audit function:-
  a)   review the adequacy of the scope, functions, competency and resources of the internal audit function and that it has the necessary 

authority to carry out its work;
  b)  review the internal audit programme, processes, the results of the internal audit programme, processes or investigation undertaken 

and whether or not appropriate action is taken on the recommendations of the internal audit function;
  c)  review and approve any appointment, termination, appraisal and assessment of the members of the internal audit function; and
  d)   take cognisance of resignation of internal audit staff members and provide the resigning staff member an opportunity to submit his 

reason for resigning.

 7.  To consider the major fi ndings of internal investigations and management’s response; and

 8. To consider other related matters as defi ned by the Board. 

C.  MEETINGS

  The Audit Committee held four (4) meetings during the fi nancial year under review. The Managing Director, Executive Directors and Senior 
Management attended these meetings upon the invitation by the Chairman of the Committee. The Group’s head of internal audit attended all the 
Audit Committee meetings save for the third meeting when there was a vacancy to the position of the head of internal audit. The external auditors 
attended two (2) of the Audit Committee meetings during the fi nancial year. The details of the meeting attendance of the Audit Committee 
members during the fi nancial year ended 31 December 2011 are as follows:-

   
   ATTENDANCE*

 Loh Chen Peng 4/4
 Datuk Seri Panglima Mohd Annuar Bin Zaini 3/4
 Dato’ Ng Tian Sang @ Ng Kek Chuan (Appointed on 1 July 2011) 2/2
 Tang Vee Mun (Appointed on 24 November 2011) 0/0
 Roslan bin Hj Yahya (Resigned on 1 July 2011) 2/2
 (*Number of meetings attended/Number of meetings held during his tenure as Board member)

D.  SUMMARY OF ACTIVITIES DURING THE FINANCIAL YEAR

 During the fi nancial year under review, the Audit Committee carried out the following activities in accordance with its terms of reference:-

 •  Reviewed the unaudited interim consolidated results of the Group for the quarter ended 31 December 2010, 31 March 2011, 30 June 2011 
and 30 September 2011 as well as the audited fi nancial statements of the Group for the fi nancial year ended 31 December 2010 before 
the recommendation to the Board for approval and subsequent announcements to Bursa Securities and submission to the Securities 
Commission.

 •  Reviewed the quarterly report by the internal auditors in relation to the recurrent related party transactions of revenue nature entered into 
by the Group.

 •  Reviewed the reports by the internal auditors in regard to the fi ndings of the audit activities in line with the internal audit programme, 
the recommendations of the internal auditors and the management responses.

072



AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT ANNUAL REPORT 2011DIJAYA CORPORATION BERHAD
(47908-K)

audit committee 
report 073

 •  Discussed the signifi cant audit fi ndings of the external auditors in respect of the fi nancial statements of the Group for the fi nancial year 
ended 31 December 2010.

 •  Reviewed the Audit Committee Report and the Statement of Internal Control of the Group for the purpose of publication of the 
Annual Report 2010.

 •  Reviewed the proposed revisions to the terms of reference of the Audit Committee so as to be in line with the Malaysian Code on Corporate 
Governance.

 •  Reviewed the proposed revisions to the internal audit charter, which was last adopted in 2003, so as to ensure adequacy in the purpose, 
authority and responsibility of the internal audit function/department in order to accomplish its objectives.

 • Reviewed the fi nancial budgets of the Group for the fi nancial year ended 31 December 2011 and year 2012.

 • Reviewed the Internal Audit Planning Memorandum for the Company and its subsidiaries for the fi nancial year ending 2012.
 
 •  Reviewed and discussed the External Audit Planning Memorandum for the Company and its subsidiaries for the fi nancial year ended 

31 December 2011.

 • Meeting with the external auditors without the presence of the other Directors and employees of the Company or Group.
 
E.  INTERNAL AUDIT FUNCTION
 
  The Audit Committee is supported by an independent and adequately resourced in-house Internal Audit Department in the discharge of its 

duties and responsibilities.
 
  During the fi nancial year under review, the internal audit activities have been carried out by the Internal Audit Department according to the 

internal audit plan which had been approved by the Audit Committee. The scope of the internal audit covered the audits of all units and 
operations, including subsidiaries to provide the Audit Committee with assurance that the system of internal control of the Group achieved the 
following: -

 
 a) The business was planned and conducted in an orderly, prudent and cost effective manner;
 b) Transactions and commitments were entered into in accordance with management’s authority;
 c)  The management was able to safeguard the assets and control the liabilities of the Group, i.e., there were measures to minimise and detect 

any loss from irregularities, frauds and errors; and
 d)  The accounting and other records of the business provided complete, accurate and timely information.

  Eight (8) audit reports were issued during the fi nancial year incorporating fi ndings and recommendations with regard to system and control, 
weaknesses noted in the course of audit, the management’s responses and the remedial actions on the implementation of all fi ndings 
and recommendations in its review process.

  In the course of auditing, the Internal Auditors have identifi ed some internal control weaknesses which have been or are being addressed. 
None of the weaknesses have resulted in any material losses, contingencies or uncertainties that would require disclosure in the Company’s 
Annual Report.

  The internal audit function of the Group is performed in-house. The costs incurred for the internal audit function in respect of the fi nancial year 
ended 31 December 2011 was RM242,146.
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F.  EMPLOYEE SHARE OPTION SCHEME

  The Company implemented an Employee Share Option Scheme (“ESOS”) for the Executive Directors and the eligible employees of Dijaya 
Group on 21 September 2005 (“Commencement Date”) for a period of 10 years expiring on 20 September 2015. The set of bye-laws in relation 
to this ESOS was approved by the shareholders of the Company at an Extraordinary General Meeting (“EGM”) held on 24 June 2005 and was 
amended and approved by the shareholders at an EGM held on 30 October 2011.

  The salient terms of the ESOS and the movement of the options during the fi nancial year 31 December 2011 are set out in Note 32 to the 
fi nancial statements.

  During the fi nancial year under review, the Company granted a total of 23,947,740 options pursuant to the ESOS, out of which 977,560 options 
were exercised, leaving a balance of 22,970,180 options outstanding.  

  The options granted to the Directors and senior management of the Group since the Commencement Date up to the current fi nancial year under 
review are as follows :-

       NO. OF
    GRANT DATE/ NO. OF NO. OF OPTIONS 
    FINANCIAL  OPTIONS OPTIONS OUT- 
    YEAR END GRANTED EXERCISED STANDING

 Directors of the Group    16 July 2007 1,815,000 - 1,815,000
 (including the Group Chief Executive Offi cer of the Company,  13 April 2010 247,309 - 2,062,309 
 who is also a Director of the Company)  31 December 2010 - 655,230 1,407,079 
   10 October 2011 4,258,220 - 5,665,299 
   31 December 2011 - 759,371 4,905,928

    TOTAL 6,320,529 1,414,601 

      
    MAXIMUM  
    ALLOCATION ACTUAL 
    OF OPTIONS IN OPTIONS
    PERCENTAGE GRANTED
    (%) (%) 
    (Against total (Against total 
   GRANT DATE/ maximum allocation of options granted
   FINANCIAL options for the whole for the whole
   YEAR END ESOS scheme) ESOS scheme)

 Directors and senior management of the Group   16 July 2007 27.90 28.44
   13 April 2010 27.90 28.44 
   31 December 2010 27.90 28.44 
    10 October 2011 30.10 29.07 
   31 December 2011 30.10 29.07

 The Company does not grant any options to the Non-Executive Directors pursuant to the ESOS.

  At the end of the fi nancial year under review, the Audit Committee reviewed the report by the Internal Audit Department on the verifi cation of the 
allocation of the options to eligible employees under the ESOS, and the result of the said verifi cation indicates that the said allocation as being 
in compliance with the criteria for the allocation of options pursuant to the ESOS, as required under paragraph 8.17 of the Listing Requirements 
of Bursa Securities.

 This Audit Committee Report is made on 29 March 2012.
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The directors have pleasure in presenting their report together with the audited fi nancial statements of the Group and of the Company for the 
fi nancial year ended 31 December 2011.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activities of the Company are that of investment holding and provision of management services.

The principal activities of the subsidiaries, associate and jointly controlled entities are described in Notes 18, 19 and 20 to the fi nancial statements 
respectively.

There have been no signifi cant changes in the nature of these principal activities during the fi nancial year.

RESULTS

       Group   Company 
      RM’000   RM’000 

Profi t, net of tax     72,688   61,970 

Profi t attributable to:
Owners of the parent     65,067   61,970 
Non-controlling interests     7,621   – 

       72,688   61,970 

There were no material transfers to or from reserves or provisions during the fi nancial year other than as disclosed in the fi nancial statements.

In the opinion of the directors, the results of the operations of the Group and of the Company during the fi nancial year were not substantially affected 
by any item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature.

DIVIDENDS

The amount of dividends paid by the Company since 31 December 2010 were as follows:

In respect of the fi nancial year ended 31 December 2010 as reported in the directors’ report of that year:    RM’000 

First and fi nal dividend of 5 sen per share less 25% taxation, on 455,641,764
 ordinary shares, declared on 8 July 2011 and paid on 2 August 2011    17,087 

At the forthcoming Annual General Meeting, a fi rst and fi nal dividend in respect of the fi nancial year ended 31 December 2011, of 3 sen per share 
less 25% taxation on 458,118,959 ordinary shares, amounting to a dividend payable of RM10,307,677 (2.25 sen per ordinary share) (subject to 
change on the number of ordinary shares entitled to dividend on date of book closure) will be proposed for shareholders’ approval. The fi nancial 
statements for the current fi nancial year do not refl ect this proposed dividend. Such dividend, if approved by the shareholders, will be accounted for 
in equity as an appropriation of retained earnings in the fi nancial year ending 31 December 2012. 

directors’ 
report 
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DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company in offi ce since the date of the last report and as at the date of this report are:

Datuk Rohana Binti Tan Sri Mahmood
Tan Sri Dato’ Tan Chee Sing
Dato’ Tong Kien Onn 
Dickson Tan Yong Loong
Loh Chen Peng
Tang Vee Mun
Datuk Seri Panglima Mohd Annuar Bin Zaini
Kong Woon Jun
Dato’ Ng Tian Sang @ Ng Kek Chuan
Koong Wai Seng (appointed on 8 July 2011)
Dato’ Khoo Poh Chye (appointed on 15 July 2011)
Diana Tan Sheik Ni (appointed on 28 February 2012)
Roslan Bin Hj. Yahya (resigned on 1 July 2011)
Tan Seng Chye (resigned on 16 March 2012)

DIRECTORS’ BENEFITS

Neither at the end of the fi nancial year, nor at any time during that year, did there subsist any arrangement to which the Company was a party, whereby 
the directors might acquire benefi ts by means of acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company or any other body corporate, other than those 
arising from the share options granted under the Employee Share Options Scheme (“ESOS”).

Since the end of the previous fi nancial year, no director has received or become entitled to receive a benefi t (other than benefi ts included in the 
aggregate amount of emoluments received or due and receivable by the directors as shown in Note 11 to the fi nancial statements or the fi xed salary 
of a full-time employee of the Company) by reason of a contract made by the Company or a related corporation with any director or with a fi rm of 
which the director is a member, or with a company in which the director has a substantial fi nancial interest, except as disclosed in Note 41 to the 
fi nancial statements.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS

According to the register of directors’ shareholdings, the interests of directors in offi ce at the end of the fi nancial year, in shares, warrants and options 
over shares in the Company and its related corporations during the fi nancial year were as follows:

     Dijaya Corporation Berhad
 Number of ordinary shares of RM1 each
     As at
     1 January   As at
    2011 / Date of   31 December
    appointment  Acquired   Disposed   2011 

Direct interest
 Tan Sri Dato’ Tan Chee Sing   140,043,934   –   –   140,043,934
 Dato’ Tong Kien Onn    35,000   –   –   35,000
 Loh Chen Peng   210,000   –   –   210,000 
 Tan Seng Chye   –   173,900   –   173,900 
 Kong Woon Jun   –   173,000   –   173,000 

Indirect interest*
 Tan Sri Dato’ Tan Chee Sing   165,840,769   –   –   165,840,769 
 Dato’ Tong Kien Onn    89,250   –   –   89,250 
 Dato’ Khoo Poh Chye   100,000   5,000   (5,000)  100,000 

     Dijaya Corporation Berhad
 Number of warrants 2009/2019 
     As at     As at 
     1 January      31 December 
     2011   Acquired   Disposed   2011 

Direct interest
 Tan Sri Dato’ Tan Chee Sing   39,825,554   –   –   39,825,554 
 Loh Chen Peng   60,000   –   –   60,000 

Indirect interest*
 Tan Sri Dato’ Tan Chee Sing   20,033,077   –   –   20,033,077 
        
     Dijaya Corporation Berhad
 Number of options over ordinary 
 shares of RM1 each 
    As at     As at 
     1 January     31 December 
     2011   Granted   Exercised   2011 
   
Tan Sri Dato’ Tan Chee Sing   128,788   157,400   –   286,188 
Dato’ Tong Kien Onn    653,349   131,200   –   784,549 
Dickson Tan Yong Loong    312,471   403,800   –   716,271 
Tan Seng Chye   –   579,870   (173,900)   405,970 
Koong Wai Seng   –   579,870   –   579,870 
Dato’ Khoo Poh Chye   –   579,870   –   579,870 
Kong Woon Jun   –   579,870   (173,000)   406,870 

directors’ 
report
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS (cont’d)

Tan Sri Dato’ Tan Chee Sing, by virtue of his interest in shares in the Company, is also deemed interested in the shares in all the Company’s 
subsidiaries to the extent the Company has an interest. 

Other than as disclosed above, none of the other directors in offi ce at the end of the fi nancial year had any interest in shares in the Company or its 
related corporations during the fi nancial year.
        
* Indirect interest (shareholding held by companies in which the directors are deemed to have interest and/or shares held by spouse).  
  
ISSUE OF SHARES
  
During the fi nancial year, the Company increased its issued and paid-up ordinary shares capital from RM455,000,000 to RM458,118,959 by way 
of the issuance of:
  
a)   3,118,359 ordinary shares of RM1 each for cash pursuant to the Company’s Employee Share Options Scheme at an average exercise price of 

RM1.12 per ordinary share; and

b)  600 ordinary shares of RM1 each for cash pursuant to the Warrant 2009/2019 at an exercise price of RM1 per ordinary share.

The new ordinary shares issued during the fi nancial year ranked pari passu in all respects with the existing ordinary shares of the Company.

EMPLOYEE SHARE OPTIONS SCHEME 

The Company’s Employee Share Options Scheme (“ESOS”) is governed by the Bye-Laws approved by the shareholders at an Extraordinary 
General Meeting held on 24 June 2005. The ESOS was implemented on 21 September 2005 and is enforceable for a period of 10 years from the 
date of implementation. The salient features and other terms of the ESOS are disclosed in Note 32 to the fi nancial statements. 

The Company has been granted exemption by the Companies Commission of Malaysia from having to disclose the names of option holders, other 
than directors, who have been granted options to subscribe for less than 375,200 ordinary shares of RM1 each. 

Details of options granted to directors are disclosed in the directors’ interests section in this report.

OTHER STATUTORY INFORMATION

(a)  Before the statements of comprehensive income and statements of fi nancial position of the Group and of the Company were made out, the 
directors took reasonable steps:

  (i)  to ascertain that proper action had been taken in relation to the writing off of bad debts and the making of provision for doubtful debts and 
satisfi ed themselves that all known bad debts had been written off and that adequate provision had been made for doubtful debts; and

  (ii)  to ensure that any current assets which were unlikely to realise their values as shown in the accounting records in the ordinary course of 
business had been written down to an amount which they might be expected so to realise.

directors’ 
report
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OTHER STATUTORY INFORMATION (cont’d)

(b) At the date of this report, the directors are not aware of any circumstances which would render:

  (i)  the amount written off for bad debts or the amount of the provision for doubtful debts inadequate to any substantial extent in respect of 
these fi nancial statements; and

  (ii) the values attributed to the current assets in the fi nancial statements of the Group and of the Company misleading. 

(c)  At the date of this report, the directors are not aware of any circumstances which have arisen which would render adherence to the existing 
method of valuation of assets or liabilities of the Group and of the Company misleading or inappropriate.

(d)  At the date of this report, the directors are not aware of any circumstances not otherwise dealt with in this report or fi nancial statements of the 
Group and of the Company which would render any amount stated in the fi nancial statements misleading.

(e) As at the date of this report, there does not exist:

  (i)  any charge on the assets of the Group or of the Company which has arisen since the end of the fi nancial year which secures the liabilities 
of any other person; or

  (ii) any contingent liability of the Group or of the Company which has arisen since the end of the fi nancial year.

(f)  In the opinion of the directors:

  (i)  no contingent or other liability has become enforceable or is likely to become enforceable within the period of twelve months after the end 
of the fi nancial year which will or may affect the ability of the Group or of the Company to meet their obligations when they fall due; and 

  (ii)  no item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature has arisen in the interval between the end of the fi nancial year and the date of 
this report which is likely to affect substantially the results of the operations of the Group or of the Company for the fi nancial year in which 
this report is made.

SIGNIFICANT AND SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

In addition to the signifi cant events disclosed elsewhere in this report, other signifi cant events are disclosed in Notes 48 and 49 to the fi nancial 
statements.

AUDITORS
  
The auditors, Ernst & Young, have expressed their willingness to continue in offi ce.

Signed on behalf of the Board in accordance with a resolution of the directors dated 30 March 2012.

Tan Sri Dato’ Tan Chee Sing Dato’ Tong Kien Onn

Kuala Lumpur, Wilayah Persekutuan

directors’ 
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We, Tan Sri Dato’ Tan Chee Sing and Dato’ Tong Kien Onn, being two of the directors of Dijaya Corporation Berhad, do hereby state that, in the 
opinion of the directors, the accompanying fi nancial statements set out on pages 84 to 176 are drawn up in accordance with Financial Reporting 
Standards and the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia so as to give a true and fair view of the fi nancial position of the Group and of the Company as 
at 31 December 2011 and of their fi nancial performance and cash fl ows for the year then ended.

The information set out in Note 51 on page 177 to the fi nancial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Guidance on Special Matter 
No. 1, Determination of Realised and Unrealised Profi ts or Losses in the Context of Disclosure Pursuant to Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad Listing 
Requirements, as issued by the Malaysian Institute of Accountants.

Signed on behalf of the Board in accordance with a resolution of the directors dated 30 March 2012.

Tan Sri Dato’ Tan Chee Sing Dato’ Tong Kien Onn

Kuala Lumpur, Wilayah Persekutuan      
      
        
    
        
    

 
I, Koong Wai Seng, being the director primarily responsible for the fi nancial management of Dijaya Corporation Berhad, do solemnly and sincerely 
declare that the accompanying fi nancial statements set out on pages 84 to 177 are in my opinion correct, and I make this solemn declaration 
conscientiously believing the same to be true and by virtue of the provisions of the Statutory Declarations Act, 1960.

Subscribed and solemnly declared by
the abovenamed Koong Wai Seng
at Kuala Lumpur in the
State of Wilayah Persekutuan  Koong Wai Seng
on 30 March 2012.

Before me,

statement 
by directors

pursuant to section 169(15) of the companies act, 1965

statutory 
declaration 

pursuant to section 169(16) of the companies act, 1965

STATEMENT BY DIRECTORS
STATUTORY DECLARATION
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independent auditors report
to the members of Dijaya Corporation Berhad 
(Incorporated in Malaysia)

REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

We have audited the fi nancial statements of Dijaya Corporation Berhad, which comprise the statements of fi nancial position as at 31 December 
2011 of the Group and of the Company, and the statements of comprehensive income, statements of changes in equity and statements of cash 
fl ows of the Group and of the Company for the year then ended, and a summary of signifi cant accounting policies and other explanatory notes, as 
set out on pages 84 to 176. 

Directors’ responsibility for the fi nancial statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of fi nancial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with Financial 
Reporting Standards and the Companies Act 1965 in Malaysia, and for such internal control as the directors determine are necessary to enable the 
preparation of fi nancial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these fi nancial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with approved 
standards on auditing in Malaysia. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether the fi nancial statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the fi nancial statements. The procedures 
selected depend on our judgement, including the assessment of risks of material misstatement of the fi nancial statements, whether due to fraud 
or error. In making those risk assessments, we consider internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of the fi nancial statements that give a 
true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion 
on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of the accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the fi nancial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is suffi cient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the fi nancial statements have been properly drawn up in accordance with Financial Reporting Standards and the Companies Act, 
1965 in Malaysia so as to give a true and fair view of the fi nancial position of the Group and of the Company as at 31 December 2011 and of their 
fi nancial performance and cash fl ows for the year then ended.
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REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS

In accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia, we also report the following:

(a)  In our opinion, the accounting and other records and the registers required by the Act to be kept by the Company and its subsidiaries of which 
we have acted as auditors have been properly kept in accordance with the provisions of the Act.

(b)  We have considered the fi nancial statements and the auditors’ reports of all the subsidiaries of which we have not acted as auditors, which are 
indicated in Note 18 to the fi nancial statements, being fi nancial statements that have been included in the consolidated fi nancial statements.

(c)  We are satisfi ed that the fi nancial statements of the subsidiaries that have been consolidated with the fi nancial statements of the Company are 
in form and content appropriate and proper for the purposes of the preparation of the consolidated fi nancial statements and we have received 
satisfactory information and explanations required by us for those purposes.

(d)  The auditors’ reports on the fi nancial statements of the subsidiaries were not subject to any qualifi cation material to the consolidated fi nancial 
statements and did not include any comment required to be made under Section 174(3) of the Act.

OTHER REPORTING RESPONSIBILITIES

The supplementary information set out in Note 51 on page 177 is disclosed to meet the requirement of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad. The 
directors are responsible for the preparation of the supplementary information in accordance with Guidance on Special Matter No. 1, Determination 
of Realised and Unrealised Profi ts or Losses in the Context of Disclosure Pursuant to Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad Listing Requirements, 
as issued by the Malaysian Institute of Accountants (“MIA Guidance”) and the directive of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad. In our opinion, the 
supplementary information is prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with the MIA Guidance and the directive of Bursa Malaysia Securities 
Berhad.

OTHER MATTERS

This report is made solely to the members of the Company, as a body, in accordance with Section 174 of the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia and 
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility to any other person for the content of this report.

Ernst & Young  Low Khung Leong  
AF: 0039  No. 2697/01/13 (J)  
Chartered Accountants  Chartered Accountant   

Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia
30 March 2012

independent auditors report
to the members of Dijaya Corporation Berhad 

(Incorporated in Malaysia)
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statement of
comprehensive income
for the year ended 31 December 2011

    Group   Company
     Note   2011  2010   2011   2010 
      RM’000  RM’000   RM’000   RM’000 

Revenue   4   375,218   292,258  4,994  37,533 
Cost of sales   5   (217,197)  (193,093)  –   – 

Gross profi t   158,021   99,165  4,994  37,533 
Other items of income
 Interest income   6  5,322   5,003  13,426  12,810 
 Other income   7  37,121  42,383  50,426  27,158 
Other items of expense
 Administrative expenses    (66,740)  (50,422)  (4,534)  (3,834)
 Other expenses    (41,988)  (43,339)  (2,171)  (83,727)
 Finance costs   8   (11,359)  (6,001) (653)  (282)
Share of results of an associate    6,361   6,605   –   – 
Share of results of jointly controlled entities    (91)  –   –   – 

Profi t/(loss) before tax  9  86,647   53,394   61,488   (10,342)
Income tax expense   12   (13,959)  (5,725) 482   (4,673)

Profi t/(loss), net of tax    72,688   47,669   61,970   (15,015)

Other comprehensive income
Foreign currency translation   (1,298) 1,231   –   – 
Share of other comprehensive income of an associate    (239)  –   –   – 

Total comprehensive income/(expense)    71,151   48,900   61,970   (15,015)

Profi t attributable to:
Owners of the parent    65,067   43,252 
Non-controlling interests   7,621   4,417

      72,688   47,669

Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Owners of the parent    63,530   44,483
Non-controlling interests    7,621   4,417

      71,151   48,900

Earnings per share attributable to owners of the parent (sen per share)
 Basic   13   14.27   9.52
 Diluted  13  10.63  9.52

Net dividends per ordinary share in respect of the year (sen per share) 14   2.25   3.76

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the fi nancial statements.
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    Note   2011   2010 
     RM’000   RM’000 

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 15  437,197   403,474 
Land held for property development 16(a)  793,961   111,713 
Investment properties 17  378,209   325,690 
Investment in an associate 19 27,891   25,735 
Investments in jointly controlled entities 20  24,292   – 
Marketable securities 21  31,810   56,780 
Other investments 22  312   312 
Security retainers accumulation fund 23  3,428   3,232 
Intangible assets 24  4,794   3,342 
Deferred tax assets 34  26,276   21,595 

    1,728,170   951,873

Current assets
Property development costs 16(b)  323,413   181,723 
Inventories 25  19,772   33,244 
Trade and other receivables 26  156,514   77,781 
Other current assets 27  92,287   11,415 
Marketable securities 21  25,885   36,906 
Tax recoverable   4,971   6,767 
Cash and bank balances 28  120,083   240,586 

     742,925   588,422 

Total assets   2,471,095   1,540,295 

statement of
financial position-group

as at 31 December 2011
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    Note   2011   2010 
     RM’000   RM’000 

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity attributable to equity holders of the Company
Share capital 29  458,119   455,000 
Reserves 30  492,510   443,836 

     950,629   898,836 
Non-controlling interests   117,970   60,785 

Total equity   1,068,599   959,621 

Non-current liabilities
Sinking fund 31  595   2,210 
Provision for liabilities 33  6,986   6,986 
Deferred tax liabilities 34  83,776   78,791 
Security retainers 35  1,274   1,151 
Deferred licence fees 36  73,400   72,019 
Borrowings 37  845,625   207,763 

     1,011,656   368,920 

Current liabilities
Deferred licence fees 36  2,215   2,095 
Borrowings 37  145,729   2,566 
Trade and other payables  38  238,513   179,854 
Other current liabilities 39  4,114   26,845 
Tax payable   269   394 

     390,840   211,754 

Total liabilities   1,402,496   580,674 

Total equity and liabilities  2,471,095   1,540,295 

statement of
financial position-group
as at 31 December 2011
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   Note   2011   2010 
     RM’000   RM’000 

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 15  5,633   5,780 
Investments in subsidiaries 18  293,239   285,343 
Other investments 22  312   312 
Trade and other receivables 26  157,546   155,711 

     456,730   447,146 

Current assets
Trade and other receivables 26  385,654   293,974 
Other current assets 27  34   47 
Tax recoverable   1,166   535 
Cash and bank balances 28  2,830   1,915 

     389,684   296,471 

Total assets   846,414   743,617 

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity
Share capital 29  458,119   455,000 
Reserves 30  330,981   283,866 

Shareholder’s equity   789,100   738,866 

Current liabilities
Borrowings 37  42,500   – 
Other payables 38  14,814   4,751 

Total liabilities   57,314   4,751 

Total equity and liabilities   846,414   743,617 

statement of
financial position-company

as at 31 December 2011

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the fi nancial statements.



088

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY-GROUP DIJAYA CORPORATION BERHAD
(47908-K)

ANNUAL REPORT 2011

statement of
changes in equity-group
for the year ended 31 December 2011

      Attributable to owners of the parent
      Non-distributable reserves
        Foreign   (Accu- Total
        currency   mulated re-  Non 
        tran- Share Warrants losses)/ serves/  control- 
      Share Share slation options reserve  retained retained  ling Total
      capital premium reserve reserve 2009/2019 profi ts profi ts Total interests equity
      RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000
      Note 29 Note 29 Note 30 Note 30 Note 30
        (a) (b) (c)

At 1 January 2010   454,345   363,741   265   5,930   39,320   (23,758)  385,498   839,843   69,311   909,154 
Effects of adopting 
 FRS 139     –   –   –   –   –   23,747   23,747   23,747   –   23,747 

        454,345   363,741   265   5,930   39,320   (11)  409,245   863,590   69,311   932,901 

Total comprehensive 
 income     –   –   1,231   –   –   43,252   44,483   44,483   4,417   48,900 
           
Transactions 
 with owners           
Issue of ordinary 
 shares pursuant
 to ESOS     655   72   –   –   –   –   72   727   –   727 
Effects pursuant 
 to ESOS on:           
 - grant      –   –   –   400   –   –   400   400   –   400 
 - forfeiture     –   –   –   (1,234)  –   1,107   (127)  (127)  127   – 
Acquisition of
 non-controlling
 interests      –   –   –   –   –   –   –   –   430   430 
Dividend paid            
- to the shareholders 
 of the Company   –   –   –   –   –   (10,237)  (10,237)  (10,237)  –   (10,237)
- to non-controlling 
 interest of            
 a subsidiary    –   –   –   –   –   –   –   –   (13,500)  (13,500)
           
Total transactions 
 with owners    655   72   –   (834)  –   (9,130)  (9,892)  (9,237)  (12,943)  (22,180)
           
At 31 December 2010   455,000   363,813   1,496   5,096   39,320   34,111   443,836   898,836   60,785 959,621
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      Attributable to owners of the parent
      Non-distributable reserves
        Foreign   (Accu- Total
        currency   mulated re-  Non 
        tran- Share Warrants losses)/ serves/  control- 
      Share Share slation options reserve  retained retained  ling Total
      capital premium reserve reserve 2009/2019 profi ts profi ts Total interests equity
      RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000
      Note 29 Note 29 Note 30 Note 30 Note 30
        (a) (b) (c)

At 1 January 2011   455,000   363,813   1,496   5,096   39,320   34,111   443,836   898,836   60,785   959,621 
           
Total comprehensive 
 income      –   –   (1,537)  –   –   65,067   63,530   63,530   7,621   71,151 
           
Transactions 
 with owners           
Issue of ordinary 
 shares pursuant 
 to ESOS     3,118   374   –  –  –  –  374   3,492   –   3,492 
Issue of ordinary 
 shares pursuant 
 to warrants 
 2009/2019    1   –   –   –   –   –   –   1   –   1 
Effects pursuant 
 to ESOS on:           
 - conversion    –   2,477   –   (2,477)  –   –   –   –   –   – 
 - grant      –   –   –   1,858   –   –   1,858   1,858   –   1,858 
 - forfeiture     –   –   –   (396)  –   395   (1)  (1)  1   – 
Issuance of equity 
 to non-controlling           
 interests      –   –   –   –   –   –   –   –   74,313   74,313 
Dividend paid           
- to the shareholders 
 of the Company   –   –   –   –   –   (17,087)  (17,087)  (17,087)  –   (17,087)
- to non-controlling
 interest of  
  a subsidiary    –   –   –   –   –   –   –   –   (24,750)  (24,750)
           
Total transactions 
 with owners    3,119   2,851   –   (1,015)  –   (16,692)  (14,856)  (11,737)  49,564   37,827 
           
At 31 December 2011   458,119   366,664   (41)  4,081   39,320   82,486   492,510   950,629   117,970   1,068,599 
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    Reserves
    Non-distributable reserves
   Share Warrants Accu-
 Share Share options reserve  mulated Total Total
 capital premium reserve 2009/2019 losses reserves equity
 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000
 Note 29 Note 29 Note 30 Note 30
   (b) (c)

At 1 January 2010  454,345   363,741   5,930   39,320   (100,345)  308,646   762,991 
Total comprehensive expenses  –   –   –   –   (15,015)  (15,015)  (15,015)

Transactions with owners
Issue of ordinary shares   655   72   –   –   –   72   727 
Effects pursuant to ESOS on:
 - grant  –   –   400   –   –   400   400 
 - forfeiture  –   –   (1,234)  –   1,234   –   – 
Dividend paid  –   –   –   –   (10,237)  (10,237)  (10,237)

Total transactions with owners  655   72   (834)  –   (9,003)  (9,765)  (9,110)

At 31 December 2010  455,000   363,813   5,096   39,320   (124,363)  283,866   738,866 

    Reserves
    Non-distributable reserves
   Share Warrants Accu-
 Share Share options reserve  mulated Total Total
 capital premium reserve 2009/2019 losses reserves equity
 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000
 Note 29 Note 29 Note 30 Note 30
   (b) (c)

At 1 January 2011  455,000   363,813   5,096   39,320   (124,363)  283,866   738,866 
Total comprehensive income  –   –   –   –   61,970   61,970   61,970 

Transactions with owners
Issue of ordinary shares         
 pursuant to ESOS  3,118   374   –   –   –   374   3,492 
Issue of ordinary shares         
 pursuant to warrant 2009/2019  1   –   –   –   –   –   1 
Effects pursuant to ESOS on:
 - conversion  –   2,477   (2,477)  –   –   –   – 
 - grant  –   –   1,858   –   –   1,858   1,858 
 - forfeiture  –   –   (396)  –   396   –   – 
Dividend paid   –   –   –   –   (17,087)  (17,087)  (17,087)

Total transactions with owners  3,119   2,851   (1,015)  –   (16,691)  (14,855)  (11,736)

At 31 December 2011  458,119   366,664   4,081   39,320   (79,084)  330,981   789,100 

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the fi nancial statements.
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         Group   Company
    2011  2010 2011 2010
    RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000 

Cash fl ows from operating activities
Profi t/(loss) before tax  86,647   53,394   61,488   (10,342)
Adjustments for:
 Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  10,573   8,902   1,592   997 
 Property, plant and equipment written off  –   224   –   79 
 Amortisation of investment properties  5,822   5,691   –   – 
 Loss/(gain) on disposal of property, plant and equipment  101   (325)  –   68 
 Reversal of impairment loss on fi nancial asset
  - trade and other receivables  (214)  (1,338)  (50,426)  (27,158)
 Reversal of provision for liabilities  –   (5,980)  –   – 
 Provision for liabilities  –   68   –   – 
 Share of profi ts in an associate  (6,361)  (6,605)  –   – 
 Share of loss in jointly controlled entities  91   –   –   – 
 Gain on disposal of land held for property development  (9,147)  –   –  –
 Gain on disposal of investment in subsidiary  (6,191)  (1,170)  –   – 
 Unwinding of discount of security retainers  153   170   –   – 
 Gross dividend income   (1,968)  (3,325)  (4,523)  (37,201)
 Amortisation of borrowings expense  398   –   –   – 
 Loss on disposal of marketable securities  870   1,418   –   – 

 Balance carried forward   80,774   51,124   8,131   (73,557)
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         Group   Company
    2011  2010 2011 2010
    RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000 

Cash fl ows from operating activities (cont’d)
 Balance brought forward   80,774   51,124   8,131   (73,557)
 Net fair value gains on marketable securities  (1,009)  (11,138) –   – 
 Amortisation of deferred license fees  (2,215)  (2,095)  –   – 
 Allowance for impairment      
 loss for:     
  - trade and other receivables  451   939   –   – 
  - subsidiaries  –   –   –   81,240 
 Amortisation of endowment fund premium  11   11   –   – 
 Unrealised returns on endowment policy  (207)  (201)  –   – 
 Interest income  (5,322)  (5,003)  (13,426)  (12,810)
 Interest expense  11,359   6,001   653   282 
 Share options granted under ESOS  1,858   400   –   – 

Operating (loss)/profi t before working capital changes  85,700   40,038  (4,642)  (4,845)
 Changes in working capital:
  Receivables  (153,284)  28,557   (29,650)  47,983 
  Deposits with licensed bank not available for use  2,837   (4,301)  –   – 
  Inventories  13,472   20,155   –   – 
  Security retainers  (30)  (30)  –   – 
  Property development costs  (138,814)  (43,827)  –   – 

 Balance carried forward   (190,119)  40,592   (34,292)  43,138



093

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW ANNUAL REPORT 2011DIJAYA CORPORATION BERHAD
(47908-K)

         Group   Company
    2011  2010 2011 2010
    RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000 

Operating (loss)/profi t before working capital changes (cont’d.)
 Balance brought forward   (190,119)  40,592   (34,292)  43,138 
 Decrease in provision for liabilities  –   (1,999)  –   – 
 Increase/(decrease) in payables  (12,112)  63,462   10,063   (19,207)

Cash (used in)/generated from operations  (202,231)  102,055   (24,229)  23,931 
 Decrease in sinking fund  (1,615)  (1,003)  –   – 
 Increase in deferred license fee  3,716   3,664   –   – 
 Interests paid  (17,970)  (9,820)  (653)  (282)
 Taxes paid, net of refunds  (11,779)  (19,698)  (149)  – 

Net cash (used in)/generated from operations  (229,879)  75,198   (25,031)  23,649 

Cash fl ows from investing activities
 Purchase of property, plant and equipment  (40,354)  (154,013)  (1,445)  (6,283)
 Purchase of investment properties  (57,977)  (18,857)  –   – 
 Purchase of marketable securities  –   (33,290)  –   – 
 Acquisition of jointly controlled entities  (24,383)  –   –   – 
 Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment  144   924   –   38 
 Proceeds from disposal of marketable securities   36,130   19,303   –   – 
 Proceeds from disposal of land held for sale  15,500   –   –   – 
 Interest received  3,459   4,093   –   24 
 Net cash infl ow/(outfl ow) on acquisition of subsidiaries  40   (3)  (6,038)  (7)
 Increase in land held for property development  (635,446)  (2,224)  –   – 

 Balance carried forward   (702,887)  (184,067)  (7,483)  (6,228)

statement of
cash flow

for the year ended 31 December 2011
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         Group   Company
    2011  2010 2011 2010
    RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000 

Cash fl ows from investing activities
 Balance brought forward   (702,887)  (184,067)  (7,483)  (6,228)
 Proceeds from issuance of equity to non-controlling interests  61,975   430   –   – 
 Net cash infl ow/(outfl ow) from disposal of subsidiary   6,609   (2)  –   – 
 Dividends received  1,565   1,365   4,523   32,529 
 Dividends received from an associate  3,966   3,506   –   – 

 Net cash generated from/(used in) investing activities  (628,772)  (178,768)  (2,960)  26,301 

Cash fl ows from fi nancing activities
 Net drawdown/(repayment) from borrowings  780,627   70,251   42,500   (30,351)
 Issue of ordinary shares pursuant to the warrant  1   –   1   – 
 Issue of ordinary shares pursuant to the ESOS  3,492   727   3,492   727 
 Dividends paid to equity holders of the Company  (17,087)  (10,237)  (17,087)  (10,237)
 Dividends paid to non-controlling interest of a subsidiary   (24,750)  (13,500)  –   – 

Net cash generated from/ (used in) fi nancing activities  742,283  47,241   28,906   (39,861)

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents   (116,368)  (56,329)  915   10,089 
Effects of foreign exchange rate changes   (1,298)  1,231   –   – 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year  232,740   287,838   1,915   (8,174)

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year (Note 28)  115,074   232,740   2,830   1,915

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the fi nancial statements.

statement of
cash flow
for the year ended 31 December 2011
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1.  CORPORATE INFORMATION

  Dijaya Corporation Berhad (“the Company” or “Dijaya”) is a public limited liability company, incorporated and domiciled in Malaysia, and 
is listed on the Main Market of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad. The registered offi ce of the Company is located at C-06-02, 6th fl oor, 
Block C, Wisma TT, No. 1, Jalan PJS 8/15, Dataran Mentari, 46150 Petaling Jaya, Selangor Darul Ehsan. The principal place of business of 
the Company is located at Level 10-12, Tropicana City Offi ce Tower, No. 3, Jalan SS20/27, 47400 Petaling Jaya, Selangor Darul Ehsan.

  The principal activities of the Company are that of investment holding and provision of management services. The principal activities of the 
subsidiaries, associate and jointly controlled entities are described in Notes 18, 19 and 20 respectively. There have been no signifi cant 
changes in the nature of these principal activities during the fi nancial year. 

  The fi nancial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors in accordance with a resolution of the directors on 
30 March 2012. 

2.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

 2.1  Basis of preparation 

   The fi nancial statements of the Group and of the Company have been prepared in accordance with Financial Reporting Standards and 
the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia. At the beginning of the current year fi nancial year, the Group and the Company adopted new 
and revised FRS which are mandatory for fi nancial periods beginning on or after 1 January 2011 as described fully in Note 2.2. 

  The fi nancial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except as disclosed in the accounting policies below. 

   The fi nancial statements are presented in Ringgit Malaysia (RM) and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand (RM’000) except 
when otherwise indicated. 

 2.2  Changes in accounting policies

  The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous fi nancial year except as follows: 

   On 1 January 2011, the Group and the Company adopted the following new and amended FRS and IC Interpretations mandatory for 
annual fi nancial periods beginning on or after 1 January 2011.

      Effective for
      annual period 
      beginning on
  Description   or after

  FRS 1 First-time Adoption of Financial Reporting Standards  1 July 2010
  Amendments to FRS 2 Share-based Payment  1 July 2010
  FRS 3 Business Combinations  1 July 2010
  Amendments to FRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations  1 July 2010
  Amendments to FRS 127 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements  1 July 2010
  Amendments to FRS 138 Intangible Assets  1 July 2010
  Amendments to IC Interpretation 9 Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives  1 July 2010
  IC Interpretation 12 Service Concession Arrangements  1 July 2010
  IC Interpretation 16 Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation  1 July 2010
  IC Interpretation 17 Distributions of Non-cash Assets to Owners  1 July 2010
  Amendments to FRS 132: Classifi cation of Rights Issues  1 March 2010
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2.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

 2.2  Changes in accounting policies (cont’d)

      Effective for
      annual period 
      beginning on
  Description   or after

  IC Interpretation 18 Transfers of Assets from Customers  1 January 2011
  Amendments to FRS 7: Improving Disclosures about Financial Instruments  1 January 2011
  Amendments to FRS 1: Limited Exemptions for First-time Adopters  1 January 2011
  Amendments to FRS 1: Additional Exemptions for First-time Adopters  1 January 2011
  IC Interpretation 4 Determining Whether an Arrangement contains a Lease  1 January 2011
  Improvements to FRS issued in 2010  1 January 2011

   Adoption of the above standards and interpretations did not have any signifi cant effect on the fi nancial performance and position of 
the Group and of the Company except for those discussed below: 

  Revised FRS 3 Business Combinations and Amendments to FRS 127 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements

    The revised standards are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2010. The revised FRS 3 introduces a number 
of changes in accounting for business combinations occurring after 1 July 2010. These changes impact the amount of goodwill 
recognised, the reported results in the period that an acquisition occurs, and future reported results.

   The revised FRS 3 continues to apply the acquisition method to business combinations but with some signifi cant changes. All 
payments to purchase a business are recorded at fair value at the acquisition date, with contingent payments classifi ed as debt 
subsequently remeasured through the statement of comprehensive income. There is a choice on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis 
to measure the non-controlling interest in the acquiree either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the 
acquiree’s net assets. All acquisition-related costs are expensed.

   The amendments to FRS 127 require that a change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary (without loss of control) is accounted 
for as an equity transaction. Therefore, such transactions will no longer give rise to goodwill, nor will they give rise to a gain or loss. 
Furthermore, the amended standard changes the accounting for losses incurred by the subsidiary as well as the loss of control of a 
subsidiary.

  Amendments to FRS 7: Improving Disclosures about Financial Instruments 

   The amended standard requires enhanced disclosure about fair value measurement and liquidity risk. Fair value measurements related 
to items recorded at fair value are to be disclosed by source of inputs using a three level fair value hierarchy (Level 1, Level 2 and Level 
3), by class, for all fi nancial instruments recognised at fair value. A reconciliation between the beginning and ending balance for Level 
3 fair value measurements is required. Any signifi cant transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy and the reasons for those 
transfers need to be disclosed. The amendments also clarify the requirements for liquidity risk disclosures with respect to derivative 
transactions and assets used for liquidity management. The fair value measurement disclosures are presented in Note 43. The liquidity 
risk disclosures are not signifi cantly impacted by the amendments and are presented in Note 44. 

notes to the
financial statements
31 December 2011
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2.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

 2.3  Standards and interpretations issued but not yet effective

  The Group has not adopted the following standards and interpretations that have been issued but not yet effective:

      Effective for
      annual period 
      beginning on
  Description   or after

  IC Interpretation 19 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instruments  1 July 2011
  Amendments to IC Interpretation 14: Prepayments of a Minimum Funding Requirement 1 July 2011
  Amendments to FRS 1: Severe Hyperinfl ation and Removal of Fixed Dates for First-time Adopters 1 January 2012
  Amendments to FRS 7: Transfers of Financial Assets  1 January 2012
  Amendments to FRS 112: Deferred Tax: Recovery of Underlying Assets 1 January 2012
  FRS 124 Related Party Disclosures 1 January 2012
  Amendments to FRS 101: Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive Income  1 July 2012
  FRS 9 Financial Instruments  1 January 2013
  FRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements  1 January 2013
  FRS 11 Joint Arrangements  1 January 2013
  FRS 12 Disclosure of interests in Other Entities  1 January 2013
  FRS 13 Fair Value Measurement  1 January 2013
  FRS 119 Employee Benefi ts  1 January 2013
  FRS 127 Separate Financial Statements  1 January 2013
  FRS 128 Investment in Associate and Joint Ventures  1 January 2013
  IC Interpretation 20 Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a Surface Mine  1 January 2013
  Amendments to FRS 7: Disclosures - Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities 1 January 2013
  Amendments to FRS 132: Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities 1 January 2014

   Adoption of the new FRS, Amendments to FRS and Interpretations are expected to have no signifi cant impact on the fi nancial 
statements of the Group and of the Company in the period upon their initial application, except for changes arising from 
adoption of:  

  Amendments to FRS 101: Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive Income

   The amendments to FRS 101 change the grouping of items presented in Other Comprehensive Income. Items that could be reclassifi ed 
(or “recycled”) to profi t or loss at a future point in time (for example, upon derecognition or settlement) would be presented separately 
from items that will never be reclassifi ed. The amendment affects presentation only and has no impact on the Group’s fi nancial position 
or performance.

  FRS 9 Financial Instruments

   FRS 9 refl ects the fi rst phase of work on the replacement of FRS 139 and applies to classifi cation and measurement of fi nancial 
assets and fi nancial liabilities as defi ned in FRS 139. The adoption of this fi rst phase of FRS 9 will have an effect on the classifi cation 
and measurement of the Group’s fi nancial assets but will potentially have no impact on classifi cation and measurements of fi nancial 
liabilities. The Group is in the process of making an assessment of the impact of adoption of FRS 9.

notes to the
financial statements
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2.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

 2.3  Standards and interpretations issued but not yet effective (cont’d)

  FRS 10 Consolidated fi nancial statements

   FRS 10 replaces the portion of FRS 127 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements that addresses the accounting for 
consolidated fi nancial statements. FRS 10 establishes a single control model that applies to all entities including special purpose 
entities. 

   The changes introduced by FRS 10 will require management to exercise signifi cant judgement to determine which entities are 
controlled, and therefore, are required to be consolidated by a parent, compared with the requirements that were in FRS 127. 

  FRS 11 Joint Arrangements

   FRS 11 replaces FRS 131 Interests in Joint Ventures and IC Interpretation 113 Jointly-controlled Entities – Non-monetary Contributions 
by Venturers.

   FRS 11 removes the option to account for jointly controlled entities (“JCE”) using proportionate consolidation. Instead, JCE that meet 
the defi nition of a joint venture must be accounted for using the equity method. The Group is current using equity method to account 
for all jointly controlled entities. 

  FRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities 

   FRS 12 includes all disclosure requirements for interests in subsidiaries, joint arrangements, associates and structured entities. A 
number of new disclosures are required. This standard affects disclosures only and has no impact on the Group’s fi nancial position or 
performance.

  FRS 13 Fair Value Measurement

   FRS 13 establishes a single source of guidance under FRS for all fair value measurements. FRS 13 does not change when an entity 
is required to use fair value, but rather provides guidance on how to measure fair value under FRS when fair value is required or 
permitted. The Group is currently assessing the impact of adoption of FRS 13.

  FRS 127 Separate Financial Statements

   As a consequence of the new FRS 10 and FRS 12, FRS 127 is limited to accounting for subsidiaries, jointly controlled entities and 
associates in separate fi nancial statements.

  FRS 128 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures

   As a consequence of the new FRS 11 and FRS 12, FRS 128 is renamed as FRS 128 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures. 
This new standard describes the application of the equity method to investments in joint ventures in addition to associates.

  Amendments to FRS 7 : Disclosures – Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities

   The amendments require additional information to be disclosed to enable users of fi nancial statements to evaluate the effect or potential 
effect of netting arrangements, including rights of set-off associated with the entity’s recognized fi nancial assets and recognized 
fi nancial liabilities on the entity’s fi nancial position. The amendment affects disclosure only and has no impact on the Group’s fi nancial 
position or performance.

  Amendments to FRS 132 : Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities

   The amendments to FRS 132 clarifi ed that a legally enforceable right to set off is a right of set off that must not be contingent on 
a future event; and must be legally enforceable in the normal course of business, the event of default and the event of insolvency 
or bankruptcy of the entity and all of the counterparties. The amendments further clarifi ed that an entity will meet the net settlement 
criterion as provided in FRS 132 if the entity can settle amounts in a manner that the outcome is, in effect, equivalent to net settlement.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

 2.3  Standards and interpretations issued but not yet effective (cont’d)

  Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards (MFRS Framework)

   On 19 November 2011, the Malaysian Accounting Standards Board (MASB) issued a new MASB approved accounting framework, 
the Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards (“MFRS Framework”)

   The MFRS Framework is to be applied by all Entities Other Than Private Entities for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 
2012, with the exception of entities that are within the scope of MFRS 141 Agriculture (MFRS 141) and IC Interpretation 15 Agreements 
for Construction of Real Estate (IC 15), including its parent, signifi cant investor and venturer (herein called ‘Transitioning Entities’).

   Transitioning Entities will be allowed to defer adoption of the new MFRS Framework for an additional one year. Consequently, adoption 
of the MFRS Framework by Transitioning Entities will be mandatory for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013. 

   The Group falls within the scope defi nition of Transitioning Entities and accordingly, will be required to prepare fi nancial statements 
using the MFRS Framework in its fi rst MFRS fi nancial statements for the year ending 31 December 2013. In presenting its fi rst MFRS 
fi nancial statements, the Group will be required to restate the comparative fi nancial statements to amounts refl ecting the application 
of MFRS Framework. The majority of the adjustments required on transition will be made, retrospectively, against opening retained 
profi ts.

   The Group has commenced transitioning its accounting policies and fi nancial reporting from the current Financial Reporting Standards 
to the MFRS Framework by establishing a project team to plan and manage the adoption of the MFRS Framework. 

   The Group has not completed its quantifi cation of the fi nancial effects of the differences between Financial Reporting Standards and 
accounting standards under the MFRS Framework due to the ongoing assessment by the project team. Accordingly, the consolidated 
fi nancial performance and fi nancial position as disclosed in these fi nancial statements for the year ended 31 December 2011 could be 
different if prepared under the MFRS Framework.

   The Group will achieve its scheduled milestones and expects to be in a position to fully comply with the requirements of the MFRS 
Framework for the fi nancial year ending 31 December 2013.

 2.4  Basis of consolidation

   The consolidated fi nancial statements comprise the fi nancial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries as at the reporting date. 
The fi nancial statements of the subsidiaries used in the preparation of the consolidated fi nancial statements are prepared for the same 
reporting date as the Company. Consistent accounting policies are applied to like transactions and events in similar circumstances.

   All intra-group balances, income and expenses and unrealised gains and losses resulting from intra-group transactions are eliminated 
in full, except for unrealised losses which are not eliminated when there is an indication of impairment. 

   Acquisitions of subsidiaries are accounted for by applying the acquisition method. Identifi able assets acquired and liabilities assumed 
in a business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. Acquisition-related costs are recognised as 
expenses in the periods in which the costs are incurred and the services are received. 

   In business combinations achieved in stages, previously held equity interests in the acquiree are re-measured to fair value at the 
acquisition date and any corresponding gain or loss is recognised in profi t or loss. 
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2.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

 2.4  Basis of consolidation (cont’d)

   The Group elects for each individual business combination, whether non-controlling interest in the acquiree (if any) is recognised on 
the acquisition date at fair value, or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the acquiree net identifi able assets. 

   Any excess of the sum of the fair value of the consideration transferred in the business combination, the amount of non-controlling 
interest in the acquiree (if any), and the fair value of the Group’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any), over the net fair 
value of the acquiree’s identifi able assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill in the statement of fi nancial position. The accounting 
policy for goodwill is set out in Note 2.6. In instances where the latter amount exceeds the former, the excess is recognised as a gain 
on bargain purchase in profi t or loss on the acquisition date.

   Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date on which the Group obtains control, and continue to be 
consolidated until the date that such control ceases. 

 2.5  Transactions with non-controlling interest

   Non-controlling interest represents the equity in subsidiaries not attributable, directly or indirectly, to owners of the Company, and 
is presented separately in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income and within equity in the consolidated statement of 
fi nancial position, separately from equity attributable to owners of the Company.

   Changes in the Company owners’ ownership interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity 
transactions. In such circumstances, the carrying amounts of the controlling and non-controlling interests are adjusted to refl ect the 
changes in their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling interest is adjusted 
and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners of the parent. 

 2.6  Goodwill 

  Goodwill is initially measured at cost. Following initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses.

   For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired is allocated, from the acquisition date, to each of the Group’s cash-generating 
units that are expected to benefi t from the synergies of the combination. 

   The cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment annually and whenever there is an indication 
that the cash-generating unit may be impaired, by comparing the carrying amount of the cash-generating unit, including the allocated 
goodwill, with the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less 
than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised in the profi t or loss. Impairment losses recognised for goodwill are not 
reversed in subsequent periods. 

   Where goodwill forms part of a cash-generating unit and part of the operation within that cash-generating unit is disposed off, the 
goodwill associated with the operation disposed off is included in the carrying amount of the operation when determining the gain 
or loss on disposal of the operation. Goodwill disposed off in this circumstance is measured based on the relative fair values of the 
operations disposed off and the portion of the cash-generating unit retained.

   Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of foreign operation on or after 1 January 2006 are treated as assets and 
liabilities of the foreign operations and are recorded in the functional currency of the foreign operations and translated in accordance 
with the accounting policy set out in Note 2.29. 

   Goodwill and fair value adjustments which arose on acquisitions of foreign operation before 1 January 2006 are deemed to be assets 
and liabilities of the Company and are recorded in RM at the rates prevailing at the date of acquisition.
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2.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

 2.7  Financial assets

   Financial assets are recognised in the statements of fi nancial position when, and only when, the Group and the Company become a 
party to the contractual provisions of the fi nancial instrument.

   When fi nancial assets are recognised initially, they are measured at fair value, plus, in the case of fi nancial assets not at fair value 
through profi t or loss, directly attributable transaction costs. 

   The Group and the Company determine the classifi cation of their fi nancial assets at initial recognition, and the categories include 
fi nancial assets at fair value through profi t or loss, loans and receivables, held-to-maturity investments and available-for-sale fi nancial 
assets.

  (a)  Financial assets at fair value through profi t or loss 

    Financial assets are classifi ed as fi nancial assets at fair value through profi t or loss if they are held for trading or are designated 
as such upon initial recognition. Financial assets held for trading are derivatives (including separated embedded derivatives) or 
fi nancial assets acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the near term.

    Subsequent to initial recognition, fi nancial assets at fair value through profi t or loss are measured at fair value. Any gains or losses 
arising from changes in fair value are recognised in profi t or loss. Net gains or net losses on fi nancial assets at fair value through 
profi t or loss do not include exchange differences, interest and dividend income. Exchange differences, interest and dividend 
income on fi nancial assets at fair value through profi t or loss are recognised separately in profi t or loss as part of other losses or 
other income.

    Financial assets at fair value through profi t or loss could be presented as current or non-current. Financial assets that are held 
primarily for trading purposes are presented as current whereas fi nancial assets that are not held primarily for trading purposes 
are presented as current or non-current based on the settlement date. 

  (b)  Loans and receivables

    Financial assets with fi xed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market are classifi ed as loans and receivables. 

    Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 
Gains and losses are recognised in profi t or loss when the loans and receivables are derecognised or impaired, and through the 
amortisation process. 

    Loans and receivables are classifi ed as current assets, except for those having maturity dates later than 12 months after the 
reporting date which are classifi ed as non-current.

  (c)  Held-to-maturity investments

    Financial assets with fi xed or determinable payments and fi xed maturity are classifi ed as held-to-maturity when the Group and the 
Company have the positive intention and ability to hold the investment to maturity.
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2.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

 2.7  Financial assets (cont’d)

  (c)  Held-to-maturity investments (cont’d)

    Subsequent to initial recognition, held-to-maturity investments are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 
Gains and losses are recognised in profi t or loss when the held-to-maturity investments are derecognised or impaired, and 
through the amortisation process.

    Held-to-maturity investments are classifi ed as non-current assets, except for those having maturity within 12 months after the 
reporting date which are classifi ed as current.

  (d)  Available-for-sale fi nancial assets

    Available-for-sale are fi nancial assets that are designated as available for sale or are not classifi ed in any of the three preceding 
categories.

    After initial recognition, available-for-sale fi nancial assets are measured at fair value. Any gains or losses from changes in fair value 
of the fi nancial assets are recognised in other comprehensive income, except that impairment losses, foreign exchange gains and 
losses on monetary instruments and interest calculated using the effective interest method are recognised in profi t or loss.

    The cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassifi ed from equity to profi t or loss as 
a reclassifi cation adjustment when the fi nancial asset is derecognised. Interest income calculated using the effective interest 
method is recognised in profi t or loss. Dividends on an available-for-sale equity instrument are recognised in profi t or loss when 
the Group and the Company’s rights to receive payment is established.

   Investments in equity instruments whose fair value cannot be reliably measured are measured at cost less impairment loss.

    Available-for-sale fi nancial assets are classifi ed as non-current assets unless they are expected to be realised within 12 months 
after the reporting date.

   A fi nancial asset is derecognised where the contractual rights to receive cash fl ows from the asset has expired. On derecognition of a 
fi nancial asset in its entirety, the difference between the carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received and any cumulative 
gain or loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive income is recognised in profi t or loss. 

   Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of fi nancial assets that require delivery of assets within the period generally 
established by regulation or convention in the marketplace concerned. All regular way purchases and sales of fi nancial assets are 
recognised or derecognised on the trade date i.e., the date that the Group and the Company commit to purchase or sell the asset.
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2.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

 2.8  Impairment of fi nancial assets 

   The Group and the Company assess at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence that a fi nancial asset is impaired.

  (a)  Trade and other receivables and other fi nancial assets carried at amortised cost 

    To determine whether there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on fi nancial assets has been incurred, the Group and 
the Company consider factors such as the probability of insolvency or signifi cant fi nancial diffi culties of the debtor and default or 
signifi cant delay in payments.

    For certain categories of fi nancial assets, such as trade receivables, assets that are assessed not to be impaired individually 
are subsequently assessed for impairment on a collective basis based on similar risk characteristics. Objective evidence of 
impairment for a portfolio of receivables could include the Group’s and the Company’s past experience of collecting payments, 
an increase in the number of delayed payments in the portfolio which past the average credit period and observable changes in 
national or local economic conditions that correlate with default on receivables.

    If any such evidence exists, the amount of impairment loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and 
the present value of estimated future cash fl ows discounted at the fi nancial asset’s original effective interest rate. The impairment 
loss is recognised in profi t or loss.

    The carrying amount of the fi nancial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly for all fi nancial assets with the exception of 
trade and other receivables, where the carrying amount is reduced through the use of an allowance account. When a trade and 
other receivables becomes uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account.

    If in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event 
occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed to the extent that the 
carrying amount of the asset does not exceed its amortised cost at the reversal date. The amount of reversal is recognised in profi t 
or loss. 

  (b)  Available-for-sale fi nancial assets

    Signifi cant or prolonged decline in fair value below cost, signifi cant fi nancial diffi culties of the issuer or obligor, and the 
disappearance of an active trading market are considerations to determine whether there is objective evidence that investment 
securities classifi ed as available-for-sale fi nancial assets are impaired.

    If an available-for-sale fi nancial asset is impaired, an amount comprising the difference between its cost (net of any principal 
payment and amortisation) and its current fair value, less any impairment loss previously recognised in profi t or loss, is transferred 
from equity to profi t or loss.

    Impairment losses on available-for-sale equity investments are not reversed in profi t or loss in the subsequent periods. Increase 
in fair value, if any, subsequent to impairment loss is recognised in other comprehensive income. For available-for-sale debt 
investments, impairment losses are subsequently reversed in profi t or loss if an increase in the fair value of the investment can be 
objectively related to an event occurring after the recognition of the impairment loss in profi t or loss.
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2.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

 2.9  Property, plant and equipment

   All items of property, plant and equipment are initially recorded at cost. The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is 
recognised as an asset if, and only if, it is probable that future economic benefi ts associated with the item will fl ow to the Group and 
the Company, the cost of the item can be measured reliably.

   Subsequent to recognition, property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated 
impairment losses. When signifi cant parts of property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced in intervals, the Group and 
the Company recognise such parts as individual assets with specifi c useful lives and depreciation, respectively. Likewise, when 
a major inspection is performed, its cost is recognised in the carrying amount of the plant and equipment as a replacement if the 
recognition criteria are satisfi ed. All other repair and maintenance costs are recognised in profi t or loss as incurred.

   Freehold land has an unlimited useful life, and therefore is not depreciated. Golf course expenditure are depreciated based on the 
period of the lease of 99 years, which will expire on 20 October 2090. 

  Depreciation is computed on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:

  - Leasehold lands: 99 years
  - Leasehold buildings: 20 to 50 years
  - Golf course: 99 years
  - Plant and machineries: 7 to 20 years 
  - Offi ce furniture, fi ttings and equipment: 4 to 10 years
  - Motor vehicles: 5 years

  Construction in-progress included in property, plant and equipment are not depreciated as these assets are not yet available for use.

   The carrying values of property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate 
that the carrying value may not be recoverable.

   The residual value, useful life and depreciation method are reviewed at each fi nancial year-end, and adjusted prospectively, if 
appropriate.

   An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefi ts are expected from its 
use or disposal. Any gain or loss on derecognition of the asset is included in the profi t or loss in the year the asset is derecognised.

 2.10  Land held for property development and property development costs

  (i)  Land held for property development

    Land held for property development consists of land where no development activities have been carried out or where development 
activities are not expected to be completed within the normal operating cycle. Such land is classifi ed within non-current assets 
and is stated at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. 

    Land held for property development is reclassifi ed as property development costs at the point when development activities have 
commenced and where it can be demonstrated that the development activities can be completed within the normal operating 
cycle.
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2.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

 2.10  Land held for property development and property development costs (cont’d)

  (ii)  Property development costs

    Property development costs comprise all costs that are directly attributable to development activities or that can be allocated on 
a reasonable basis to such activities.

    When the fi nancial outcome of a development activity can be reliably estimated, property development revenue and expenses 
are recognised in the profi t or loss by using the stage of completion method. The stage of completion is determined by the 
proportion that property development costs incurred for work performed to-date bear to the estimated total property development 
costs.

    Where the fi nancial outcome of a development activity cannot be reliably estimated, property development revenue is recognised 
only to the extent of property development costs incurred that is probable will be recoverable, and property development costs 
on properties sold are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.

    Any expected loss on a development project, including costs to be incurred over the defects liability period, is recognised as an 
expense immediately.

    Property development costs not recognised as an expense are recognised as an asset, which is measured at the lower of cost 
and net realisable value.

    The excess of revenue recognised in the profi t or loss over billings to purchasers is classifi ed as accrued billings in respect of 
property development costs within other current assets and the excess of billings to purchasers over revenue recognised in the 
profi t or loss is classifi ed as advance billings in respect of property development costs within other current liabilities.

 2.11 Investment properties

   Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment 
properties are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.

   Investment properties are derecognised when either they have been disposed off or when the investment properties are permanently 
withdrawn from use and no future economic benefi t is expected from its disposal. Any gain or loss on the retirement or disposal of 
an investment properties are recognised in profi t or loss in the year of retirement or disposal. 

   Transfers are made to or from investment property only when there is a change in use. For a transfer from investment property to 
owner-occupied property, the deemed cost for subsequent accounting is the fair value at the date of change in use. For a transfer 
from owner-occupied property to investment proerty, the property is accounted for in accordance with the accounting policy for 
property, plant and equipment set out in Note 2.9 up to the date of change in use. 
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2.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

 2.12  Impairment of non-fi nancial assets

   The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If any such indication exists, 
or when an annual impairment assessment for an asset is required, the Group makes an estimate of the asset’s recoverable amount.

   An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its value in use. For the purpose of assessing 
impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifi able cash fl ows (cash-generating units 
(“CGU”)). 

   In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash fl ows expected to be generated by the asset are discounted to their present 
value using a pre-tax discount rate that refl ects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specifi c to the 
asset. Where the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is written down to its recoverable amount. 
Impairment losses recognised in respect of a CGU or groups of CGUs are allocated fi rst to reduce the carrying amount of any 
goodwill allocated to those units or groups of units and then, to reduce the carrying amount of the other assets in the unit or groups 
of units on a pro-rata basis.

   Impairment losses are recognised in profi t or loss except for assets that are previously revalued where the revaluation was taken to 
other comprehensive income. In this case the impairment is also recognised in other comprehensive income up to the amount of any 
previous revaluation.

   An assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that previously recognised impairment losses 
may no longer exist or may have decreased. A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in 
the estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. If that is the case, 
the carrying amount of the asset is increased to its recoverable amount. That increase cannot exceed the carrying amount that would 
have been determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognised previously. Such reversal is recognised in profi t 
or loss unless the asset is measured at revalued amount, in which case the reversal is treated as a revaluation increase. Impairment 
loss on goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.

 2.13 Inventories

  Inventories represent completed residential properties, commercial properties and consumables.

   Inventories of completed residential and commercial properties are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is 
determined on the specifi c identifi cation basis and includes costs of land, construction and appropriate development overheads.

   Inventories of consumables are stated at the lower of cost and net replacement cost. Cost is determined on the fi rst-in, fi rst-out basis.

   Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of completion and the 
estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

 2.14  Cash and cash equivalents

   Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank, cash on hand and short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible 
to known amount of cash and which are subject to an insignifi cant risk of changes in value. These also include bank overdrafts that 
form an integral part of the Group’s cash management.
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2.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

 2.15  Share capital and share issuance expenses

   An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group and the Company after deducting 
all of its liabilities. Ordinary shares are equity instruments.

   Ordinary shares are recorded at the proceeds received, net of directly attributable incremental transaction costs. Ordinary shares 
are classifi ed as equity. Dividends on ordinary shares are recognised in equity in the period in which they are declared. 

 2.16  Land use rights

   Land use rights are initially measured at cost. Following initial recognition, land use rights are measured at cost less accumulated 
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. The land use rights are amortised over their lease terms. 

 2.17  Subsidiaries

   A subsidiary is an entity over which the Group has the power to govern the fi nancial and operating policies so as to obtain benefi ts 
from its activities. 

  In the Company’s separate fi nancial statements, investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less impairment losses.

 2.18  Associates

   An associate is an entity, not being a subsidiary or a joint venture, in which the Group has signifi cant infl uence. An associate is equity 
accounted for from the date the Group obtains signifi cant infl uence until the date the Group ceases to have signifi cant infl uence over 
the associate.

   The Group’s investments in associates are accounted for using the equity method. Under the equity method, the investment in 
associates is measured in the statement of fi nancial position at cost plus post-acquisition changes in the Group’s share of net assets 
of the associates. Goodwill relating to associates is included in the carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the Group’s 
share of the net fair value of the associate’s identifi able assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over the cost of the investment is 
excluded from the carrying amount of the investment and is instead included as income in the determination of the Group’s share of 
the associate’s profi t or loss for the period in which the investment is acquired. 

   When the Group’s share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate, the Group does not recognise 
further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.

   After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognise an additional impairment loss 
on the Group’s investment in its associates. The Group determines at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence 
that the investment in the associate is impaired. If this is the case, the Group calculates the amount of impairment as the difference 
between the recoverable amount of the associate and its carrying value and recognises the amount in profi t or loss.

   The fi nancial statements of the associates are prepared as of the same reporting date as the Company. Where necessary, adjustments 
are made to bring the accounting policies in line with those of the Group. 

   In the Company’s separate fi nancial statements, investments in associates are stated at cost less impairment losses. On disposal of 
such investments, the difference between net disposal proceeds and their carrying amounts is included in profi t or loss.
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 2.19  Jointly controlled entities

   A joint venture is a contractual arrangement whereby two or more parties undertake an economic activity that is subject to joint 
control, where the strategic fi nancial and operating decisions relating to the activity require the unanimous consent of the parties 
sharing control. The Group recognises its interest in joint venture using equity method. Under the equity method, the investment in 
jointly controlled entities are measured in the statements of fi nancial position at cost plus post-acquisition changes in the Group’s 
share of net assets of the jointly controlled entities.

   Adjustments are made in the Group’s consolidated fi nancial statements to eliminate the Group’s share of intragroup balances, 
income and expenses and unrealised gains and losses on transactions between the Group and its jointly controlled entity.

   The fi nancial statements of the joint venture are prepared as of the same reporting date as the Company. Where necessary, 
adjustments are made to bring the accounting policies in line with those of the Group.

   In the Company’s separate fi nancial statements, investments in joint venture are stated at cost less impairment losses. On disposal 
of such investments, the difference between net disposal proceeds and the carrying amounts are included in profi t or loss. 

 2.20  Financial guarantee contracts

   A fi nancial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to make specifi ed payments to reimburse the holder for a loss it 
incurs because a specifi ed debtor fails to make payment when due.

   Financial guarantee contracts are recognised initially as a liability at fair value, net of transaction costs. Subsequent to initial 
recognition, fi nancial guarantee contracts are recognised as income in profi t or loss over the period of the guarantee. If the debtor 
fails to make payment relating to fi nancial guarantee contract when it is due and the Group, as the issuer, is required to reimburse 
the holder for the associated loss, the liability is measured at the higher of the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the 
present obligation at the reporting date and the amount initially recognised less cumulative amortisation.

 2.21  Leases 

  (a)  As lessee 

    Finance leases, which transfer to the Group substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the leased item, 
are capitalised at the inception of the lease at the fair value of the leased asset or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum 
lease payments. Any initial direct costs are also added to the amount capitalised. Lease payments are apportioned between the 
fi nance charges and reduction of the lease liability so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the 
liability. Finance charges are charged to profi t or loss. Contingent rents, if any, are charged as expenses in the periods in which 
they are incurred. 

    Leased assets are depreciated over the estimated useful life of the asset. However, if there is no reasonable certainty that the 
Group will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term, the asset is depreciated over the shorter of the estimated useful life 
and the lease term.
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 2.21  Leases (cont’d)

  (a)  As lessee (cont’d)

    Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense in profi t or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The 
aggregate benefi t of incentives provided by the lessor is recognised as a reduction of rental expense over the lease term on a 
straight-line basis.

  (b)  As lessor

    Leases where the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset are classifi ed as operating 
leases. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and 
recognised over the lease term on the same bases as rental income.

 2.22  Borrowing costs

   Borrowing costs are capitalised as part of the cost of a qualifying asset if they are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction 
or production of that asset. Capitalisation of borrowing costs commences when the activities to prepare the asset for its intended 
use or sale are in progress and the expenditures and borrowing costs are incurred. Borrowing costs are capitalised until the assets 
are substantially completed for their intended use or sale.

   All other borrowing costs are recognised in profi t or loss in the period they are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other 
costs that the Group and the Company incurred in connection with the borrowing of funds.

 2.23  Income taxes

  (a)  Current tax

    Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation 
authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted by the 
reporting date.

    Current taxes are recognised in profi t or loss except to the extent that the tax relates to items recognised outside profi t or loss, 
either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. 

  (b)  Deferred tax

    Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences at the reporting date between the tax bases of assets 
and liabilities and their carrying amounts for fi nancial reporting purposes.

   Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all temporary differences, except: 

   -   where the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not 
a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profi t nor taxable profi t or loss; and 

   -   in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and interests in joint 
ventures, where the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary 
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 
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 2.23  Income taxes (cont’d)

  (b)  Deferred tax (cont’d) 
 
    Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax 

losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profi t will be available against which the deductible temporary differences, 
and the carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised except: 

   -   where the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of an asset or 
liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting 
profi t nor taxable profi t or loss; and 

   -   in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and interests in joint 
ventures, deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that the temporary differences will reverse in 
the foreseeable future and taxable profi t will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

    The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer 
probable that suffi cient taxable profi t will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised 
deferred tax assets are reassessed at each reporting date and are recognised to the extent that it has become probable that 
future taxable profi t will allow the deferred tax assets to be utilised.

    Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the year when the asset is realised 
or the liability is settled, based on tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.

    Deferred tax relating to items recognised outside profi t or loss is recognised outside profi t or loss. Deferred tax items are 
recognised in correlation to the underlying transaction either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity and deferred 
tax arising from a business combination is adjusted against goodwill on acquisition.

    Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset, if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets against 
current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority.

 2.24  Provisions

   Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable 
that an outfl ow of economic resources will be required to settle the obligation and the amount of the obligation can be estimated 
reliably.

   Provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted to refl ect the current best estimate. If it is no longer probable that an 
outfl ow of economic resources will be required to settle the obligation, the provision is reversed. If the effect of the time value of 
money is material, provisions are discounted using a current pre tax rate that refl ects, where appropriate, the risks specifi c to the 
liability. When discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as a fi nance cost.  
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 2.25  Sinking fund 

   Sinking fund of the Group is established for the purpose of covering costs of periodic major repairs or capital replacements in the 
golf and country resort of the Group. A fraction of 10% of monthly subscription fees received from members during the year are 
credited to this reserve.

   The amount credited into the sinking fund account during the year is subsequently paid to a fund which is kept in a separate trust 
account and administered by a Trustee. 

  Monies in the sinking fund are invested by the Trustee. Any income arising out of the investment is accrued to the fund. 

 2.26  Deferred license fees

   License fees are received upon admission of new members of the golf and country resort of the Group after January 1993, and are 
recognised in the profi t or loss over the remaining terms of the membership licenses, which would expire on 9 October 2051.

 2.27  Employee benefi ts

  (a)  Defi ned contribution plan

    The Group participates in the national pension schemes as defi ned by the laws of the countries in which it has operations. 
The Malaysian companies in the Group make contributions to the Employee Provident Fund in Malaysia, a defi ned contribution 
pension scheme. Contributions to defi ned contribution pension schemes are recognised as an expense in the period in which 
the related service is performed.

  (b)  Employee share option plans

    Employees of the Group receive remuneration in the form of share options as consideration for services rendered. The cost of 
these equity-settled transactions with employees is measured by reference to the fair value of the options at the date on which 
the options are granted. This cost is recognised in profi t or loss, with a corresponding increase in the employee share option 
reserve over the vesting period. The cumulative expense recognised at each reporting date until the vesting date refl ects the 
extent to which the vesting period of 5 years have expired and the Group’s best estimate of the number of options that will 
ultimately vest. The charge or credit to profi t or loss for a period represents the movement in cumulative expense recognised at 
the beginning and end of that period.

    No expense is recognised for options that do not ultimately vest, except for options where vesting is conditional upon a market or 
non-vesting condition, which are treated as vested irrespective of whether or not the market or non-vesting condition is satisfi ed, 
provided that all other performance and/or service conditions are satisfi ed. The employee share option reserve is transferred 
to retained earnings upon expiry of the share options. When the options are exercised, the employee share option reserve 
is transferred to share capital if new shares are issued, or to treasury shares if the options are satisfi ed by the reissuance of 
treasury shares.
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2.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

 2.28  Financial liabilities

   Financial liabilities are classifi ed according to the substance of the contractual arrangements entered into and the defi nitions of a 
fi nancial liability.

   Financial liabilities, within the scope of FRS 139, are recognised in the statement of fi nancial position when, and only when, the 
Group and the Company become a party to the contractual provisions of the fi nancial instrument. Financial liabilities are classifi ed as 
either fi nancial liabilities at fair value through profi t or loss or other fi nancial liabilities.

  (a)  Financial liabilities at fair value through profi t or loss

    Financial liabilities at fair value through profi t or loss include fi nancial liabilities held for trading and fi nancial liabilities designated 
upon initial recognition as at fair value through profi t or loss.

    Financial liabilities held for trading include derivatives entered into by the Group and the Company that do not meet the hedge 
accounting criteria. Derivative liabilities are initially measured at fair value and subsequently stated at fair value, with any resultant 
gains or losses recognised in profi t or loss. Net gains or losses on derivatives include exchange differences. 

   The Group and the Company have not designated any fi nancial liabilities as at fair value through profi t or loss.

  (b)  Other fi nancial liabilities

   The Group’s and the Company’s other fi nancial liabilities include trade payables, other payables and loans and borrowings.

    Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair value plus directly attributable transaction costs and subsequently 
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

    Loans and borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred, and subsequently measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method. Borrowings are classifi ed as current liabilities unless the Group has an 
unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting date.

    For other fi nancial liabilities, gains and losses are recognised in profi t or loss when the liabilities are derecognised, and through 
the amortisation process.

   A fi nancial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is extinguished. When an existing fi nancial liability is 
replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially 
modifi ed, such an exchange or modifi cation is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability, 
and the difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognised in profi t or loss.

 2.29  Foreign currencies 

  (a)  Functional and presentation currency

    The individual fi nancial statements of each entity in the Group are measured using the currency of the primary economic 
environment in which the entity operates (“the functional currency”). The consolidated fi nancial statements are presented in 
Ringgit Malaysia (RM), which is also the Company’s functional currency.
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2.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

 2.29  Foreign currencies (cont’d)

  (b)  Foreign currency transactions

    Transactions in foreign currencies are measured in the respective functional currencies of the Company and its subsidiaries and 
are recorded on initial recognition in the functional currencies at exchange rates approximating those ruling at the transaction 
dates. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the rate of exchange ruling at the 
reporting date. Non-monetary items denominated in foreign currencies that are measured at historical cost are translated using 
the exchange rates as at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items denominated in foreign currencies measured 
at fair value are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined.

    Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items or on translating monetary items at the reporting date are 
recognised in profi t or loss except for exchange differences arising on monetary items that form part of the Group’s net investment 
in foreign operations, which are recognised initially in other comprehensive income and accumulated under foreign currency 
translation reserve in equity. The foreign currency translation reserve is reclassifi ed from equity to profi t or loss of the Group on 
disposal of the foreign operation. 

    Exchange differences arising on the translation of non-monetary items carried at fair value are included in profi t or loss for the 
period except for the differences arising on the translation of non-monetary items in respect of which gains and losses are 
recognised directly in equity. Exchange differences arising from such non-monetary items are also recognised directly in equity.

  (c)  Foreign operations

    The assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated into RM at the rate of exchange ruling at the reporting date and 
income and expenses are translated at exchange rates at the dates of the transactions. The exchange differences arising on 
the translation are taken directly to other comprehensive income. On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative amount 
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under foreign currency translation reserve relating to that 
particular foreign operation is recognised in the profi t or loss.

    Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of foreign operations are treated as assets and liabilities of the 
foreign operations and are recorded in the functional currency of the foreign operations and translated at the closing rate at the 
reporting date.

 2.30  Revenue

   Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefi ts will fl ow to the Group and the Company when 
revenue can be reliably measured. Revenue is measured at the fair value of consideration received or receivable.

  (a)  Sale of properties

   Revenue from sale of properties is accounted for by the stage of completion method.

  (b)  Recreation and resort operations

    Entrance fees are recognised upon signing of membership agreements. Deferred license fees are recognised over the period of 
the membership. Income from monthly subscription fees is recognised on an accrual basis. 
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2.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

 2.30  Revenue (cont’d)

  (c)  Sale of goods

    Revenue from sale of goods is recognised upon the transfer of signifi cant risk and rewards of ownership of the goods to 
the customer. Revenue is not recognised to the extent where there are signifi cant uncertainties regarding recovery of the 
consideration due, associated costs or the possible return of goods. 

  (d)  Dividend income 

   Dividend income is recognised when the Company’s and the Group’s right to receive payment is established.

  (e)  Interest income

   Interest income is recognised by using the effective interest method.

  (f)  Rental income

    Rental income is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease terms. The aggregate costs of incentives provided to 
lessees are recognised as a reduction of rental income over the lease term on a straight-line basis.

  (g)  Management fees

   Management fees are recognised when services are rendered.

 2.31  Segment reporting

   For management purposes, the Group is organised into operating segments based on their products and services which are 
independently managed by the respective segment managers responsible for the performance of the respective segments under 
their charge. The segment managers report directly to the management of the Company who regularly review the segment results 
in order to allocate resources to the segments and to assess the segment performance. Additional disclosures on each of these 
segments are shown in Note 47, including the factors used to identify the reportable segments and the measurement basis of 
segment information.

 2.32  Contingencies 

   A contingent liability or asset is a possible obligation or asset that arises from past events and whose existence will be confi rmed 
only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of uncertain future event(s) not wholly within the control of the Group.

  Contingent liabilities and assets are not recognised in the statements of fi nancial position of the Group. 
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3.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

  The preparation of the Group’s fi nancial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the 
reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent liabilities at the reporting date. However, 
uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment to the carrying 
amount of the asset or liability affected in the future.

 3.1  Judgements made in applying accounting policies 

  (a)  Classifi cation between operating lease and fi nance lease for leasehold land

    The Group has developed certain criteria based on FRS 117 Leases in making judgement whether a leasehold land should be 
classifi ed either as operating lease or fi nance lease. 

    Finance lease is a lease that transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an assets and operating 
lease is a lease that does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership. If the leasehold land meets 
the criteria of the fi nance lease, the lease will be classifi ed as property, plant and equipment if it is for own use or will be classifi ed 
as investment property if it is to earn rentals or for capital appreciation or both. Judgements are made on the individual leasehold 
land to determine whether the leasehold land qualifi es as operating lease or fi nance lease.

   The Group has classifi ed the leases as fi nance leases as they have met the criteria of a fi nance lease under FRS 117. 

 3.2  Key sources of estimation uncertainty

   The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date that have a signifi cant 
risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next fi nancial year are discussed below: 

  (a)  Property development 

    The Group recognises property development revenues and expenses in the statements of comprehensive income by using the 
stage of completion method. The stage of completion is determined by the proportion that property development costs incurred 
for work performed to date bear to the estimated total property development costs.

    Signifi cant judgement is required in determining the stage of completion, the extent of the property development costs incurred, 
the estimated total property development revenues and costs, as well as the recoverability of the property development costs. In 
making the judgement, the Group evaluates based on past experience and by relying on the work of specialists.

    Where the fi nancial outcome of a development activity cannot be reliably estimated, property development revenue is recognised 
to the extent of property development costs incurred that it is probable will be recoverable until the activity reaches a desired 
stage of completion, which the Group views as a reasonable benchmark based on past experience and by relying on the work of 
specialists.

  (b)  Deferred tax assets

    Deferred tax assets are recognised for all unused tax losses, unabsorbed capital allowances and other deductible temporary 
differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profi t will be available against which the losses and capital allowances can 
be utilised. Signifi cant management judgement is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, 
based upon the likely timing and level of future taxable profi ts together with future tax planning strategies. The total unrecognised 
tax losses and unutilised capital allowances of the Group was RM4,410,000 (2010: RM4,410,000) and RM1,054,000 (2010: 
RM29,326,000).
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3.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS (cont’d)

 3.2  Key sources of estimation uncertainty (cont’d)

  (c)  Liquidated and ascertained damages

    Liquidated and ascertained damages (“LAD”) income are recognised to the extent that the economic benefi ts will fl ow to the 
Group and the amount can be reliably measured.

   Signifi cant management judgement is required to determine the timing of the completion of the project.

   LAD income of RM4,085,000 has been recognised from the delay in completion of a project as at 31 December 2011.

  (d)  Impairment of goodwill

    Goodwill, brands and other indefi nite life intangibles are tested for impairment annually and at other times when such indicators 
exist. This requires an estimation of the value in use of the cash-generating units to which goodwill and brands are allocated.

    When value in use calculations are undertaken, management must estimate the expected future cash fl ows from the asset or 
cash-generating unit and choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash fl ows. Further 
details of the carrying value, the key assumptions applied in the impairment assessment of goodwill and brands and sensitivity 
analysis to changes in the assumptions are given in Note 24.

  (e)  Impairment of loans and receivables

    The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence that a fi nancial asset is impaired. To determine 
whether there is objective evidence of impairment, the Group considers factors such as the probability of insolvency or signifi cant 
fi nancial diffi culties of the debtor and default or signifi cant delay in payments.

    Where there is objective evidence of impairment, the amount and timing of future cash fl ows are estimated based on historical 
loss experience for assets with similar credit risk characteristics. The carrying amount of the Group’s loans and receivable at the 
reporting date is disclosed in Note 26. If the present value of estimated future cash fl ows decrease by 10% from management’s 
estimates, the Group’s allowance for impairment will increase by RM188,361 (2010: increase by RM144,700). 

  (f)  Employee share options

    The Group measures the cost of equity-settled transactions with employees by reference to the fair value of the equity instruments 
at the date at which they are granted. Estimating fair value for share-based payment transactions requires determining the most 
appropriate valuation model, which is dependent on the terms and conditions of the grant. This estimate also requires determining 
the most appropriate inputs to the valuation model including the expected life of the share option, volatility and dividend yield 
and making assumptions about them. The assumptions and models used for estimating fair value for share-based payment 
transactions, sensitivity analysis and the carrying amounts are disclosed in Note 32.
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4.  REVENUE

 Group  Company
       2011  2010  2011  2010
      RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000

 Management fees  –  –  471  332
 Sale of properties  297,214  219,768  –  –
 Revenue from recreation and resort operations  30,148  29,152  –  –
 Property management and maintenance fee income  7,127  7,195  –  – 
 Rent and related income from shopping mall and offi ce tower  38,761  32,818  –  –
 Gross dividend income from:
  - Subsidiaries   –  –  4,523  37,201
  - Marketable securities  1,968  3,325  –  –

       375,218  292,258  4,994  37,533

5.  COST OF SALES

  Group
         2011  2010
         RM’000  RM’000

 Property development costs (Note 16)    159,875  129,911
 Cost of inventories sold    12,982  24,123
 Cost of services rendered
  - cost of recreation and resort operations    15,041  13,732
  - cost of property management    12,519  11,590
  - cost of mall and offi ce operations    16,780  13,737

         217,197  193,093

6.  INTEREST INCOME

 Group  Company
       2011  2010  2011  2010
      RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000

 Interest from:
  - Deposits    3,459  4,093  –  24
  - Unwinding of discount on retention sum  1,863  910  –  –
  - Unwinding of discount on loans and receivables  –  –  13,426  12,786 

       5,322  5,003  13,426  12,810

 The unwinding of discounts is derived based on the time value of realization of the retention sum.
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7.  OTHER INCOME

 Group  Company
       2011  2010  2011  2010
      RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000

 Management fees  3,271  2,779  –  –
 Rental income   6,132  6,799  –  –
 Fair value gains on marketable securities  6,220  23,405  –  –
 Reversal of impairment loss on fi nancial assets
  - Trade and other receivables  214  1,338  50,426  27,158
 Reversal of provision for liability  –  5,980  –  – 
 Gain on disposal of a subsidiary (Note 18)  6,191  1,170  –  –
 Liquidated and ascertained damages  4,085  –  –  –
 Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment  –  325  –  – 
 Gain on disposal of land held for property development (Note 16)  9,147  –  –  – 
 Miscellaneous   1,861  587  –  – 

       37,121  42,383  50,426  27,158 

8.  FINANCE COSTS 

 Group  Company
       2011  2010  2011  2010
      RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000

 Interest expense on borrowings  17,970  9,820  653  282
 Unwinding of discount on retention sum payable  1,363  1,493  –  –

 Total interest expense  19,333  11,313  653  282
 Less: Interest expense capitalised in
  - construction-in-progress (Note 15)  (4,893)  (3,649)  –  –
  - development property (Note 16)  (3,081)  (1,649)  –  –
  - investment properties (Note 17)  –  (14)  –  – 

 Total fi nance costs  11,359  6,001  653  282
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9.  PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX

 In addition to the items disclosed in Notes 6, 7 and 8, the following amounts have been included in arriving at profi t/(loss) before tax: 

 Group  Company
       2011  2010  2011  2010
      RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000

 Employee benefi ts expense (Note 10)  49,230  34,183  59  174
 Non-executive directors’ remuneration (Note 11)  651  603  382  381
 Auditors’ remuneration
  - Current year   466  372  76  63
  - Prior year   47  41  –  5
 Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (Note 15)  10,573  8,902  1,592  997
 Amortisation of investment properties (Note 17)  5,822  5,691  –  –
 Minimum operating lease payments: 
  - offi ce premises  230  94  59  515
  - offi ce equipment  120  152  53  92
 Amortisation of endowment fund premium  11  11  –  –
 Bad debts written off  449  4  –  –
 Impairment loss on fi nancial assets
  - Trade and other receivables  451  939  –  –
  - Subsidiaries   –  –  –  81,240
 Provision for liabilities  –  68  –  – 
 Loss on disposal of marketable securities  870  1,418  –  –
 Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment  101  –  –  68
 Property, plant and equipment written off  –  224  –  79
 Unrealised returns on endowment policy  (207)  (201)  –  –
 Unwinding of discount of security retainers  153  170  –  –
 Amortisation of borrowings expense  398  –  –  –
 Fair value loss on marketable securities  5,211  12,267  –  –

10.  EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE

 Group  Company
       2011  2010  2011  2010
      RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000

 Salaries and bonuses  36,390  26,797  23  34
 Social security contributions  337  226  –  1
 Contributions to defi ned contribution plan  4,369  3,009  3  4
 Share options granted under ESOS  1,858  400  –  –
 Other benefi ts   6,276  3,751  33  135

      49,230  34,183  59  174
 Less:  Amount included in cost of sales  (10,449)  (8,636)  –  –

      38,781  25,547  59  174

  Included in employee benefi ts expense of the Group is executive directors’ remuneration amounting to RM10,861,000 (2010: RM7,598,000) 
as further disclosed in Note 11.
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11.  DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

 Group  Company
       2011  2010  2011  2010
      RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000

 Directors of the Company

 Executive:
  Salaries and other emoluments  5,893  3,796  –  –
  Bonus    1,749  1,273  –  –
  Defi ned contribution plan  915  608  –  –
  Share options granted under ESOS  208  358  –  – 

       8,765   6,035  –  –

 Non-executive:
  Fees     253  256  253  256
  Other emoluments  165  125  129  125

       418  381  382  381

 Other directors

 Executive:
  Salaries and other emoluments  1,445  987  –  –
  Bonus    351  331  –  –
  Defi ned contribution plan  214  157  –  –
  Share options granted under ESOS  86  88  –  –

       2,096  1,563  –  –

 Non-executive: 
  Fees    90  89  –  –
  Other emoluments  143  133  –  –

       233  222  –  –

 Total     11,512  8,201  382  381

 Analysis of directors’ remuneration:
 Total executive directors’ remuneration  10,861  7,598  –  –
 Total non-executive directors’ remuneration  651  603  382  381

 Total directors’ remuneration  11,512  8,201  382  381
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11.  DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (cont’d)

 The number of directors of the Company whose total remuneration during the year fell within the following bands is analysed below:

          Number of directors
          2011   2010

 Executive directors:
  RM400,001 - RM450,000    3  1
  RM550,001 - RM600,000    1  1
  RM600,001 - RM650,000    3  –
  RM650,001 - RM700,000    –  –
  RM750,001 - RM800,000    1  1
  RM800,001 - RM1,200,000    2  –
  RM3,850,001 - RM3,900,000     –  –
  RM3,900,001 - RM4,500,000    1  1

 Non-executive directors:
  Below RM50,000    4  5
  RM50,001 - RM100,000    2  2
  RM100,001 - RM150,000     –  –
  RM150,001 - RM200,000    1  1
  RM350,001 - RM400,000   –  –

12.  INCOME TAX EXPENSE

 Group  Company
       2011  2010  2011  2010
      RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000

 Current income tax:
  Malaysian income tax  13,202  16,027  –  4,673
  Over provision in prior years  (209)  (583)  (482)  –

       12,993  15,444  (482)  4,673
 Real property gain tax  457  –  –  –

       13,450  15,444  (482)  4,673

 Deferred tax (Note 34):
  Origination and reversal of temporary differences  325  (9,018)  –  –
  Under/(over) provision in prior years  184  (701)  –  –

       509  (9,719)  –  – 

 Total income tax expense  13,959  5,725  (482)  4,673
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12.  INCOME TAX EXPENSE (cont’d)

  Domestic income tax is calculated at the Malaysian statutory tax rate of 25% (2010: 25%) of the estimated assessable profi t for the year. 
Taxation for other jurisdictions is calculated at the rates prevailing in the respective jurisdictions.

  The reconciliation between tax expense and the product of accounting profi t/(loss) multiplied by the applicable corporate tax rate for the 
years ended 31 December 2011 and 2010 are as follows: 

  Group
         2011  2010
         RM’000  RM’000

 Profi t before tax     86,647  53,394

 Taxation at Malaysian statutory tax rate of 25% (2010: 25%)    21,662  13,349
 Income not subject to tax    (6,633)  (6,337)
 Expenses not deductible for tax purposes    9,443  6,912
 Adjustment for income taxed under Real Property Gain Tax    (1,830)  –
 Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax losses and unabsorbed capital allowances    (7,068)  (5,264)
 Under/(over) provision of deferred tax in prior years    184  (701)
 Overprovision of tax expense in prior years    (209)  (583)
 Share of results of associates    (1,590)  (1,651)

 Income tax expense    13,959  5,725

  Company
         2011  2010
         RM’000  RM’000

 Profi t/(loss) before tax    61,488  (10,342)

 Taxation at Malaysian statutory tax rate of 25% (2010: 25%)    15,372  (2,585)
 Income not subject to tax    (17,094)  (3,197)
 Expenses not deductible for tax purposes    1,722  10,455 
 Overprovision in prior year    (482)  – 

 Income tax expense    (482)  4,673 

 Tax savings during the fi nancial year arising from: 

  Group
         2011  2010
         RM’000  RM’000

 Utilisation of previously unrecognised losses    28,272  21,056
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13.  EARNINGS PER SHARE

  Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing profi t for the year, net of tax, attributable to owners of the parent by the weighted average 
number of ordinary shares outstanding during the fi nancial year.

  Diluted earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net profi t attributable to owners of the parent by the weighted average number of 
ordinary shares outstanding during the fi nancial year plus the weighted average number of ordinary shares that would be issued on the 
conversion of all the dilutive potential ordinary shares into ordinary shares.

 The following refl ects the profi t and share data used in the computation of basic and diluted earnings per share: 

  Group
         2011  2010
         RM’000  RM’000

 Net profi t attributable to owners of parent    65,067  43,252

   Number of shares ‘000
         2011  2010

 Weighted average number of ordinary shares for basic earnings per share computation    455,687  454,381 

 Effects of dilution: 
  - Share options    26,419  –
   - Warrants 2009/2019    129,813  –

 Weighted average number of ordinary shares for diluted earnings per share computation    611,919  454,381

  There were no other transactions involving ordinary shares or potential ordinary shares since the reporting date and the date of completion 
of these fi nancial statements, except as diclosed in Note 29 (Share capital and share premium). 
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14.  DIVIDENDS

        Dividends
       Dividends in respect of Year Recognised in Year
        2011   2010   2009   2011   2010 
        RM’000   RM’000   RM’000   RM’000   RM’000 

 Recognised during the year:

 First and fi nal dividend for 2009:      
  3 sen per share less 25% taxation, on 455,000,000       
  ordinary shares (2.25 sen per ordinary share)  –   –  10,237   –   10,237 

 First and fi nal dividend for 2010:      
  5 sen per share less 25% taxation, on 455,641,764      
  ordinary shares (3.75 sen per ordinary share)  –   17,087   –   17,087   – 

 Proposed for approval at AGM
 (not recognised as a liability at 31 December)

 First and fi nal dividend for 2011:
  3 sen per share less 25% taxation, on 458,118,959
  ordinary shares (2.25 sen per ordinary share) 10,307   –   –   –   – 

        10,307   17,087   10,237   17,087   10,237

  At the forthcoming Annual General Meeting, a fi rst and fi nal dividend in respect of the fi nancial year ended 31 December 2011, of 3 sen 
per share less 25% taxation on 458,118,959 ordinary shares, amounting to a dividend payable of RM10,307,677 (2.25 sen per ordinary 
share) (subject to change on the number of ordinary shares entitled to dividend on date of book closure) will be proposed for shareholders’ 
approval. The fi nancial statements for the current fi nancial year do not refl ect this proposed dividend. Such dividend, if approved by the 
shareholders, will be accounted for in equity as an appropriation of retained earnings in the fi nancial year ending 31 December 2012.
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15.  PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

         Offi ce
         furniture,
      Con-  Plant fi ttings
      struction  and and
    Freehold  Leasehold  Leasehold  in-  Golf  machi-   equip-   Motor
 Group  land   land   buildings   progress   course   neries  ments   vehicles   Total 
    RM’000   RM’000   RM’000   RM’000   RM’000   RM’000   RM’000   RM’000   RM’000

 At 31 December 2011

 Cost

 At 1 January 2011  127,045   164,999   87,335   17,595   46,796   26,145   28,529   3,524   501,968 
 Additions  –   –   1,921   34,811   –   1,020   5,135   2,360   45,247 
 Disposals  –   –   –   –   –   (59)  (112)  (246)  (417)
 Reclassifi cation  –   (680)  8,333   (9,892)  2,201   38   –   –   – 
 Disposal of subsidiary  –   –   (421)  –   –   –   (7)  –   (428)
 Transfer to investment
  property (Note 17)  –   –   –   (364)  –   –   –   –   (364)

 At 31 December 2011  127,045   164,319   97,168   42,150   48,997   27,144   33,545   5,638   546,006 

 Accumulated depreciation
  and impairment losses

 At 1 January 2011  –   26,207   25,985   –   13,413   19,345   11,956   1,588   98,494 
 Depreciation  –   1,424   1,951   –   848   1,676   3,848   826   10,573 
 Disposals   –   –   –  –   –   (47)  (83)  (42)  (172)
 Disposal of subsidiary  –   –   (79)  –   –   –   (7)  –   (86)

 At 31 December 2011  –   27,631   27,857   –   14,261   20,974   15,714   2,372   108,809 

 Net carrying amount  127,045   136,688   69,311   42,150   34,736   6,170   17,831   3,266   437,197
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15.  PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (cont’d) 

         Offi ce
         furniture,
      Con-  Plant fi ttings
      struction  and and
    Freehold  Leasehold  Leasehold  in-  Golf  machi-   equip-   Motor
 Group  land   land   buildings   progress   course   neries  ments   vehicles   Total 
    RM’000   RM’000   RM’000   RM’000   RM’000   RM’000   RM’000   RM’000   RM’000

 At 31 December 2010

 Cost
     
 At 1 January 2010  5,198   149,938   82,885   37,225   46,796   23,887   20,891   4,122   370,942
 Additions  127,044   1,907   84   13,033   –   2,316   11,390   1,888   157,662
 Disposals  –   –   –   –   –   –   (227)  (2,410)  (2,637)
 Write off  –   –   –   –   –   (58)  (3,021)  (76)  (3,155)
 Reclassifi cation  –   –   4,366   (4,366)  –   –   –   –   – 
 Transfer from land held          
  for property development  –   13,154   –   –   –   –   –   –  13,154
 Transfer to investment          
  property (Note 17)  (5,197)  –   –   (28,297)  –   –   (504)  –   (33,998)

 At 31 December 2010  127,045   164,999   87,335   17,595  46,796   26,145   28,529   3,524   501,968

 Accumulated depreciation          
  and impairment losses
  
 At 1 January 2010  –   24,928  24,232   7   12,594   17,785   12,218   2,840   94,604
 Depreciation  –   1,279   1,746   –   819   1,615   2,839   604   8,902
 Disposals   –   –   –   –   –   –   (219)  (1,819)  (2,038)
 Write off  –   –   –   –   –   (55)  (2,839)  (37)  (2,931)
 Reclassifi cation  –   –   7   (7)  –   –   –   –   – 
 Transfer to investment
  property (Note 17)   –   –   –   –   –   –   (43)  –   (43)

 At 31 December 2010  –   26,207   25,985   –   13,413   19,345   11,956   1,588   98,494
    
 Net carrying amount  127,045   138,792   61,350   17,595   33,383   6,800   16,573   1,936   403,474
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15.  PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (cont’d) 

    Offi ce 
    furniture, 
    fi ttings and   Motor
 Company   equipments   vehicles   Total
     RM’000   RM’000  RM’000 

 At 31 December 2011

 Cost 

 At 1 January 2011 7,814  –  7,814
 Additions  1,198  247  1,445

 At 31 December 2011  9,012  247  9,259

 Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses

 At 1 January 2011  2,034  –  2,034
 Depreciation  1,580  12  1,592

 At 31 December 2011  3,614  12  3,626 

 Net carrying amount  5,398  235  5,633

 At 31 December 2010

 Cost

 At 1 January 2010  3,416  497  3,913
 Additions  6,283  –  6,283
 Disposals  –  (497)  (497)
 Write off  (1,885)  –  (1,885)

 At 31 December 2010  7,814  –  7,814

 Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses

 At 1 January 2010  2,906  328  3,234
 Depreciation  934  63  997
 Disposals  –  (391)  (391)
 Write off  (1,806)  –  (1,806)

 At 31 December 2010  2,034  –  2,034 

 Net carrying amount  5,780  –  5,780
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15.  PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (cont’d) 

 (a)  The net carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment pledged as securities for borrowings (Note 37) are as follows: 

  Group
         2011  2010
         RM’000  RM’000

  Freehold land  127,045  127,045
  Leasehold land  136,288  138,379
  Long term leasehold buildings 63,901  57,298
  Golf course   34,736  33,383 

      361,970  356,105

 (b)   Interest expense capitalised during the fi nancial year under construction-in-progress of the Group amounted to RM4,893,000 (2010: 
RM3,649,000).

 (c)  The Group’s construction-in-progress relates mainly to expenditure for: 

  (i)   a proposed international school located at Mukim Sungai Buloh, Daerah Petaling, Negeri Selangor which is expected to be 
completed by 2013; and

  (ii)  a proposed hotel located at Jalan Ampang, Kuala Lumpur which is expected to be completed by 2016; and

  (iii)  an offi ce located at Bandar Johor Bahru, District of Johor Bahru, Negeri Johor which is expected to be completed by 2012; and

  (iv)  upgrade costs incurred on club house located at Tropicana, Negeri Selangor.

 (d)   Included in property, plant and equipment of the Group are fully depreciated assets which are still in use costing RM25,613,505 
(2010: RM24,599,985).

 (e)   The Group transferred construction in progress that relates to the carpark podium and offi ce tower within property, plant and equipment 
to investment properties as at 31 December 2011 as these assets are considered as an owner-occupied property. 
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16.  LAND HELD FOR PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT AND PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT COSTS

 (a)  Land held for property development 

  Group
     2011  2010
     RM’000  RM’000

  Cost 

  At 1 January:
   Freehold land  78,719  83,634  
   Leasehold land  39,406  52,035

    118,125  135,669
  Additions  706,770  4,109
  Transfer to property development costs (Note 16(b))  (24,430)  (8,499)
  Transfer to property, plant and equipment  –  (13,154)
  Disposal  (6,353)  – 

  At 31 December  794,112  118,125 

  Accumulated impairment losses

  At 1 January  6,412  6,412
  Transfer to property development costs (Note 16(b))  (6,261)  –

  At 31 December  151  6,412

  Carrying amount at 31 December  793,961  111,713

 (b)  Property development costs

  Group
     2011  2010
     RM’000  RM’000

  Property development costs: 
  At 1 January
  Freehold land  126,808  118,309
  Leasehold land  225,071  219,228
  Development costs  308,943  225,341

    660,822  562,878
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16.  LAND HELD FOR PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT AND PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT COSTS (cont’d)

 (b)  Property development costs (cont’d)

  Group
     2011  2010
     RM’000  RM’000

  Costs incurred during the year:
  Land costs  70,219  5,337
  Development costs  213,177  164,594

    283,396  169,931

  Accumulated costs reversed during the year in respect of completed projects: 
  Development costs  –  (76,112)

  Costs recognised in income statement:
  At 1 January (479,099)  (425,300)
  Recognised during the year  (159,875)  (129,911)
  Accumulated costs reversed during the year in respect of completed projects  –  76,112

  At 31 December  (638,974)  (479,099)

  Transfers from: 
  Land held for property development (Note 16(a))  18,169  8,499

  Transfers to: 
  Inventories  –  (4,374)

  Property development costs at 31 December  323,413  181,723 

   Interest expense capitalised during the fi nancial year under property development cost amounted to RM3,081,140 (2010: RM1,649,000).

  The freehold and leasehold land are pledged as security for bank borrowings as detailed to in Note 37. 

  Acquisitions of land during the fi nancial year are disclosed in Note 48.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

notes to the
financial statements
31 December 2011



131

ANNUAL REPORT 2011DIJAYA CORPORATION BERHAD
(47908-K)

17.  INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 

      Shopping 
     Mall and
     Freehold  car park  Offi ce   Construction
 Group land   podium   tower  in-progress   Total 
      RM’000   RM’000   RM’000   RM’000   RM’000 

 Cost

 At 1 January 2011  48,166   243,900   43,907   –   335,973 
 Additions 50,728   3,776   595   2,878   57,977 
 Transfer from property, plant and equipment (Note 15)  –   364   –   –   364 

 At 31 December 2011  98,894   248,040   44,502   2,878   394,314 

 Accumulated amortisation and impairment losses

 At 1 January 2011  –   9,406   877   –   10,283 
 Charge for the year  –   4,901   921   –   5,822 

 At 31 December 2011  –   14,307   1,798   –   16,105 

 Net carrying amount 98,894   233,733   42,704   2,878   378,209

     Shopping
     Mall and
     Freehold  car park   Offi ce
 Group  land  podium   tower  Total
    RM’000   RM’000   RM’000   RM’000

 Cost

 At 1 January 2010  42,969  240,135  –  283,104
 Addition  –  638  18,233  18,871
 Transfer from property, plant and equipment (Note 15)  5,197  3,127  25,674  33,998

 At 31 December 2010  48,166  243,900  43,907  335,973

 Accumulated amortisation and impairment losses

 At 1 January 2010  –  4,549  –  4,549
 Charge for the year  –  4,857  834  5,691
 Transfer from property, plant and equipment (Note 15)  –  –  43  43

 At 31 December 2010  –  9,406  877  10,283

 Net carrying amount  48,166  234,494  43,030  325,690
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17.  INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (cont’d)

  Interest expense capitalised during the previous fi nancial year under investment properties of the Group amounted to RM14,000. No 
interest expenses was capitalised during the fi nancial year.

 The freehold land is pledged as security for bank borrowings obtained as detailed in Note 37. 

  Fair value of investment properties were estimated by the directors based on professional valuation report by Sr. James K. M. Tan, a partner 
with Raine & Horne by using the comparison method of valuation. As at 31 December 2011, the fair values of the investment properties 
were estimated to be RM460,000,000 (2010: RM356,000,000). 

18.  INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 

  Company
     2011  2010
     RM’000  RM’000

 Shares, at cost in Malaysia    250,932  244,894
 Less: Impairment losses    (6,023)  (6,023)

      244,909  238,871
 ESOS granted to employees of subsidiaries    7,943  6,085
 Discount on loans to subsidiaries    40,387  40,387

      293,239  285,343

 Details of the subsidiaries are as follows:

        Equity interest
       Country of Held (%)   
 Name of subsidiaries incorporation  2011   2010  Principal activities

 Arah Pelangi Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia  100   100  Property holding

 Tropicana Serdang Suria Sdn. Bhd.* Malaysia  100   100  Property development 
  (formerly known as 
  Aspek Analisa Sdn. Bhd.)

 Dijaya Credit & Leasing Sdn. Bhd.* Malaysia  100   100  Credit and leasing

 Dijaya Development Sdn. Bhd.* Malaysia  100   100  Investment holding

 Dijaya Management Services Sdn. Bhd.* Malaysia  100   100  Property management and
             maintenance services

 Dijaya Property Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia  100   100  Property development

 Dijaya Tropicana Cove Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia  100   100  Investment holding
  (formerly known as Accroway Sdn. Bhd.)
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18.  INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (cont’d)

 Details of the subsidiaries are as follows:

        Equity interest
       Country of Held (%)   
 Name of subsidiaries incorporation  2011   2010  Principal activities

 Terbit Berkat Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia  100   100  Investment holding

 Tropicana Education Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia  100   100  Dormant

 Tropicana Education Management Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia  70   70  Education

 Tropicana Kampar Development Sdn. Bhd.  Malaysia  100   100  Dormant
  (formerly known as
   Atlantic Marketing Sdn. Bhd.)

 Tropicana KL Development Sdn. Bhd.* Malaysia  99   –  Property development
  (formerly known as Ace Rhythm Sdn. Bhd.)

 Tropicana Land Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia  100   100  Dormant

 Tropicana Senibong Sdn. Bhd.* Malaysia  100   –  Property development
  (formerly known as
  Aman Petaling Sdn. Bhd.)

 Tropicana Subang Development Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia  100   100  Investment holding
  (formerly known as Tropicana
   Mall Management Sdn. Bhd.)

 Dijaya Tropicana Danga Bay Sdn. Bhd.  Malaysia  100   100  Investment holding
  (“DTDBSB”)

  Subsidiaries of DTDBSB

  Tropicana Danga Bay Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia  60   60  Property development

  Desiran Realiti Sdn. Bhd.* Malaysia  100   100  Investment holding

 Tropicana Development (Penang) Malaysia  100   100  Investment holding
  Sdn. Bhd. (“TDPSB”)*
  (formerly known as
  Seleksi Kembara Sdn. Bhd.)

  Subsidiary of TDPSB

  Dijaya Wangsa Sdn. Bhd.* Malaysia 60   60  Dormant
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18.  INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (cont’d)

 Details of the subsidiaries are as follows:

        Equity interest
       Country of Held (%)   
 Name of subsidiaries incorporation  2011   2010  Principal activities

 Sumber Saujana Sdn. Bhd. (“SSSB”) Malaysia  100   100  Investment holding

  Subsidiary of SSSB:

  Dijaya Tenaga Kimia Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia 100   100  Investment holding
   (formerly known as Sinbor
   Corporation Sdn. Bhd.)

 Tropicana Golf & Country  Malaysia  100   100  Real property and 
  Resort Berhad (“TGCRB”)     resort development

  Subsidiaries of TGCRB:

  Tropicana Management Services Sdn. Bhd.* Malaysia  100   100  Property management and
            maintenance services

  Tropicana Sungai Buloh Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia  100   100  Property development
   (formerly known as 
   Nadi Jelita Sdn. Bhd.)

  Puncak Suria Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia  –   100  Property development

  Tropicana Desa Mentari Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia  100   100  Property holding
   (formerly known as
   Mawar Hebat Sdn. Bhd.)

 Bakat Rampai Sdn. Bhd. (“BRSB”) Malaysia  100   100  Investment holding

  Subsidiaries of BRSB:

  Dicorp Land Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia  100   100  Property development

  Tropicana City Sdn. Bhd. (“TCSB”)  Malaysia  100   100  Property development and property
            investment in Tropicana City Mall

  Dijaya Indah Sdn. Bhd.* (“DISB”)* Malaysia  100   100  Investment holding
   (formerly known as Irama Sejati Sdn. Bhd.)

   Subsidiary of DISB:

   Tropicana Indah Sdn. Bhd.* Malaysia  70   70  Property development
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18.  INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (cont’d)

 Details of the subsidiaries are as follows:

        Equity interest
       Country of Held (%)   
 Name of subsidiaries incorporation  2011   2010  Principal activities

  Subsidiaries of TGCRB (cont’d):

   Subsidiaries of TCSB:

   Dicasa Management Services Sdn. Bhd.* Malaysia  100   100  Property management and
           maintenance services

   Tropicana City Management Sdn. Bhd.* Malaysia  100   100  Property management

   Tropicana City Parking Sdn. Bhd. * Malaysia  100   100  Management of car parking facilities

   Tropicana Kajang Hill Sdn. Bhd.* Malaysia  100   100  Property management
    (formerly known as Tropicana City
    Service Suites Sdn. Bhd.)

 Star Honour Limited* Cayman  100   100  Investment holding
       Islands
 
 Dijaya (Mauritius) Limited (“DML”)* Mauritius  100   100  Investment holding

  Subsidiary of DML:

  Dijaya-Malind JV (Mauritius) Limited*  Mauritius  72   72  Investment holding
   (“DMJVML”)

   Subsidiary of DMJVML:

   Dijaya-Malind Properties (India) India  74   74  Property development
    Private Limited*

 All subsidiaries are audited by Ernst & Young, Malaysia except as indicated below:

 *  Audit by fi rms other than Ernst & Young
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18.  INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (cont’d)

 Group restructuring

 (a)   On 3 June 2011, the Company acquired 2 ordinary shares of RM1.00 each in the share capital of Tropicana Subang Development Sdn. 
Bhd. (“TSDSB”) (formerly known as Tropicana Mall Management Sdn. Bhd.), representing the entire issued and paid-up share capital 
of TSDSB from Tropicana City Sdn. Bhd. for a cash consideration of RM2. The Company subsequently increased its investment in 
TSDSB by subscribing to 5,000,000 redeemable non-cumulative preference shares of RM0.01 nominal value with share premium of 
RM0.99 each via capitalisation of advances to TSDSB of RM5,000,000.

 (b)   On 3 June 2011, the Company acquired 1,000,000 ordinary shares of RM1.00 each in the share capital of Tropicana Kampar 
Development Sdn. Bhd. (“TKDSB”) (formerly known as Atlantic Marketing Sdn. Bhd.), representing the entire issued and paid-up 
share capital of TKDSB from Tropicana Subang Development Sdn. Bhd. (formerly known as Tropicana Mall Management Sdn. Bhd.) 
for cash consideration of RM8,550. 

 (c)   On 5 May 2011, the Company subscribed to additional 250,000 ordinary shares of RM1.00 each in the share capital of Dijaya 
Property Sdn. Bhd. (“DPSB”), for cash consideration of RM250,000.

 (d)   On 27 April 2011, the Company subscribed to additional 280,000 ordinary shares of RM1.00 each in the share capital of Tropicana 
Education Management Sdn. Bhd. (“TEMSB”), for cash consideration of RM280,000. The Group’s interest in TEMSB remains 
unchanged at 70%. 

 (e)   On 25 August 2011 and 31 December 2011, Tropicana Danga Bay Sdn. Bhd., a 60% owned subsidiary company, issued RM4,000,000 
and RM181,483,400 worth of redeemable preference shares (“RPS”) of RM0.10 nominal value with share premium of RM0.90 
each and RM0.01 nominal value with share premium of RM0.09 respectively. The RPS were issued in proposition to the existing 
shareholders in accordance to their respective shareholding ratio. Consequently, the non-controlling interest subscribed to its portion 
via capitalisation of advances of RM74,193,360, out of which RM61,854,623 was received in cash during the fi nancial year.

 Acquisition of subsidiaries

 (a)   On 24 May 2011, the Company acquired 2 ordinary shares of RM1.00 each in the share capital of Tropicana Senibong Sdn. Bhd. 
(formerly known as Aman Petaling Sdn. Bhd.) (“TSSB”) representing the entire issued and paid-up share capital of TSSB, for a total 
consideration of RM2.00.

 (b)   On 26 August 2011, the Company had subscribed for 249,995 new ordinary shares of RM1.00 each in Tropicana KL Development 
Sdn. Bhd. (“TKDSB”) (formerly known as Ace Rhythm Sdn. Bhd.), representing 99.99% of the total issued and paid-up share capital of 
TKDSB, for a cash consideration of RM249,995. With the subscription, TKDSB became a 99.99%-owned subsidiary of the Company. 
The Company subsequently increases its investment in TKDSB by subscribing to 250,000 redeemable non-cumulative preference 
shares of RM0.01 nominal value with share premium of RM0.99 each via capitalisation of advances to TKDSB of RM250,000. 
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18.  INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (cont’d)

 (b)  The fair values of the identifi able assets and liabilities of the acquisition as at the date of acquisition were:

       Carrying
      Fair value   amount
       RM’000 RM’000

  Land held for property development  53,155  53,155
  Sundry receivables  6,526  6,526
  Cash at banks  290  290

      59,971  59,971
  Sundry payables  61,173  61,173

  Net identifi able liabilities  (1,202)  (1,202)

  Goodwill arising from acquisition

        RM’000

  Group’s interest in fair value of net identifi able assets   (1,202)
  Goodwill on acquisition (Note 24)   1,452

  Cost of business combination   250

  Total effect of the acquisition on cash fl ows is as follows:

        RM’000

  Consideration settled in cash   250
  Less: cash and cash equivalents of subsidiaries acquired   290

  Net cash infl ow on acquisition   40
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18.  INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (cont’d)

 Disposal of subsidiary

  On 7 October 2011, Tropicana Golf & Country Resort Berhad (“TGCR”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group had disposed of its entire 
equity interest comprising 2,000,000 ordinary shares of RM1.00 each in Puncak Suria Sdn. Bhd. (“PSSB”) for a total consideration of 
RM6,650,000. The effect of the said disposal on the result and fi nancial position of the Group are summarised as follows:

   2011
    RM’000

 Net assets disposed

 Property, plant and equipment  342
 Other receivables  371
 Cash and bank balances 41
 Other payables (295)

 Net liabilities of subsidiary company  459
 Total disposal proceeds 6,650

 Gain on disposal to the Group  (6,191)

 Cash infl ow arising on disposals  6,650
 Cash and cash equivalents of subsidiary disposed  (41)

 Net cash outfl ow on disposal  6,609

19.  INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE

  Group
     2011  2010
     RM’000  RM’000

 In Malaysia: 
 Unquoted shares at cost  6,089  6,089
 Share of post-acquisition reserve  21,802  19,646

    27,891  25,735

 Represented by:
  Share of net assets  27,507  25,395
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19.  INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE (cont’d)

 Details of the associate, which is a private entity that is not listed in any public exchange, are as follows: 

        Equity interest
       Country of Held (%)   
 Name of associate  incorporation  2011   2010  Principal activities

 Tenaga Kimia Sdn. Bhd.  Malaysia  33  33  Manufacture and sale 
           of explosives, chemicals 
           and blasting accessories

 The summarised fi nancial information of the associate are as follows: 

  Group
     2011  2010
     RM’000  RM’000

 Assets and liabilities 
 Current assets  82,701  82,263
 Non-current assets  14,992  14,264

 Total assets  97,693  96,527

 Current liabilities  14,196  19,285
 Non-current liabilities  142  286 

 Total liabilities  14,338  19,571

 Results
 Revenue  141,434  131,908
 Profi t for the year 19,276  20,016

 Share of profi t  6,361  6,605

 Share of other comprehensive income  (239)  – 
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20.  INVESTMENTS IN JOINTLY CONTROLLED ENTITIES

  Group
     2011  2010
     RM’000  RM’000

 In Malaysia:
 Unquoted shares at cost  24,383  –
 Share of post-acquisition reserve  (91)  – 

    24,292  –

 Represented by: 
  Share of net assets  24,292  –

 Details of the jointly controlled entities are as follows: 

        Equity interest
 Name of jointly   Country of Held (%)   
 controlled entities  incorporation  2011   2010  Principal activities

 Tropicana Ivory Sdn. Bhd.  Malaysia  55   –  Property development 

 Tropicana Danga Cove Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia  50   –  Property development
  (formerly known as 
  Magical Heights Sdn. Bhd.) 

 During the fi nancial year, the Group: 

 (a)   through its wholly-owned subsidiary, Dijaya Tropicana Cove Sdn. Bhd. (“DTCSB”) (formerly known as Accroway Sdn. Bhd.) subscribed 
a 50% equity interest in Tropicana Danga Cove Sdn. Bhd. (“TDCSB”) for a total consideration of RM11,000,001; and 

 (b)   through its wholly-owned subsidiary, Tropicana Development (Penang) Sdn. Bhd. (formerly known as Seleksi Kembara Sdn. Bhd.) 
subscribed for a 55% equity interest in Tropicana Ivory Sdn. Bhd. for a total consideration of RM13,383,000.
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20.  INVESTMENTS IN JOINTLY CONTROLLED ENTITIES (cont’d)

 The summarised fi nancial information of the jointly controlled entities are as follows: 

  Group
     2011  2010
     RM’000  RM’000

 Assets and liabilities 
 Current assets  23,162  –
 Non-current assets  1,223  – 

 Total assets  24,385  –

 Current liabilities  93  –

 Income and expenses
 Expenses  (91)  –

 Share of loss  (91)  – 

 Share of capital commitment 
 Approved and contracted for: 
  - Land held for property development (Note 48)  676,580  – 

21.  MARKETABLE SECURITIES 

       Group
        2011  2010
        RM’000  RM’000
        Market   Market
        rate of   rate of  
       Carrying  quoted  Carrying  quoted  
       amount  investments  amount  investments 

 Non-current
 Fair value through profi t or loss investments
 Quoted shares in Malaysia  31,810  31,810  56,780  56,780

 Current 
 Fair value through profi t or loss investments 
 Quoted shares in Malaysia  25,885  25,885  36,906  36,906

       57,695  57,695  93,686  93,686
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22.  OTHER INVESTMENTS 

  Group/ Company
     2011  2010
     RM’000  RM’000

 Transferable corporate golf club memberships    587  587
 Less : Accumulated impairment loss    (275)  (275)

         312  312

23.  SECURITY RETAINERS ACCUMULATION FUND

  Group
     2011  2010
     RM’000  RM’000

 At 1 January      3,232  3,042 
 Unrealised returns    207  201

         3,439  3,243
 Less: Amortisation for the year    (11)  (11)

 At 31 December     3,428  3,232

  The security retainers accumulation fund of the golf and country resort of the Group relates to the unamortised portion of the single 
premium paid for the purchase of a ‘Group Endowment with Profi ts’ policy from a local insurer in 1994 and the unrealised returns which 
accrues to this policy on a cumulative basis, annually. 

  The total accumulated returns together with the insured sum will only be received upon maturity of the said policy on 2 October 2051. The 
purpose of this scheme is to provide the Group with funds to repay the security retainers received from members of the golf and country 
resort of the Group, who were registered prior to January 1993, at the end of their membership license term on 9 October 2051.

24.  INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

  Group
     2011  2010
 Goodwill on consolidation   RM’000  RM’000

 Cost 
 At 1 January    7,411  7,411
 Acquisition of a subsidiary  1,452  –

 At 31 December   8,863  7,411

 Accumulated impairment 
 At 1 January/ 31 December  (4,069)  (4,069)

 Net carrying amount  4,794  3,342
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24.  INTANGIBLE ASSETS (cont’d)

 Impairment test of goodwill 

 Goodwill has been allocated to the Group’s CGUs identifi ed according to business segments as follows: 

        2011   2010
        RM’000   RM’000

 Investment holding  933  933
 Property development  3,861  2,409

       4,794  3,342

 (a)  Key assumptions used in value-in-use calculations 

   The recoverable amounts of the CGUs have been determined based on a value-in-use calculations using cash fl ow projections based 
on fi nancial budgets approved by management. 

   The following describes each key assumption on which management has based its cash fl ow projections to undertake impairment 
testing of goodwill.

  (i)  Budgeted gross margin 

     The basis used to determine the value assigned to the budgeted gross margin is the average rate achieved in the year immediately 
before the budgeted year increased for expected effi ciency improvements. 

  (ii)  Pre-tax discount rate 

    The discount rates used are pre-tax of (8%) and refl ect specifi c risks relating to the relevant segments. 

 (b)  Sensitivity to changes in assumptions

   With regard to the assessment of value-in-use of the CGUs, management believes that no reasonably possible change in any of the 
above key assumptions would cause the carrying values of the unit to materially differ from its recoverable amount. 

25.  INVENTORIES

  Group
     2011  2010
     RM’000  RM’000

 At cost
 Properties held for sale  18,709  32,370 
 Consumable stores and spares  1,063  874

       19,772  33,244

  The Group’s cost of inventories recognised as an expense during the year in the Group amounted to RM12,982,000 (2010: 
RM24,123,000).   
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26.  TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES  

 Group  Company
       2011  2010  2011  2010
      RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000

 CURRENT 
 Trade receivables 
  Third parties   61,039  24,793  –  –  
   Less: Allowance for impairment  (2,713)  (2,476)  –  –  

  Trade receivables, net  58,326  22,317  –  – 

 Other receivables      
  Amount due from subsidiaries  –  –  531,303  491,784
  Sundry receivables  29,765  15,286  1,768 46 
  Deposits    68,657  40,861  152  151 

  Less: Allowance for impairment
    - Sundry receivables  (234)  (683)  (2)  (2)
    - Subsidiaries  –  –  (147,567)  (198,005)

       98,188  55,464  385,654  293,974

       156,514  77,781  385,654  293,974

 NON-CURRENT
 Other receivables 
  Amount due from subsidiaries  –  –  157,546  155,711

 (a)  Trade receivables

    The Group’s normal trade credit term ranges from 14 to 120 days (2010: 14 to 120 days). Other credit terms are assessed and 
approved on a case-to-case basis. Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are recognised at their original invoice amounts 
which represent their fair values on initial recognition. 

 
  The Group has no signifi cant concentration of credit risk that may arise from exposures to a single debtor or to groups of debtors.
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26.  TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (cont’d)

 (a)  Trade receivables (cont’d)

  Ageing analysis of trade receivables 

  The ageing analysis of the Group’s trade receivables is as follows: 

  Group
     2011  2010
     RM’000  RM’000

  Neither past due nor impaired  35,437  4,263
  1 to 30 days past due but not impaired  6,428  4,614
  31 to 60 days past due but not impaired  6,926  2,065
  61 to 90 days past due but not impaired  2,473  873
  91 to 120 days past due but not impaired  957  690 
  More than 121 days past due but not impaired  6,105  9,812

       22,889  18,054
  Impaired   2,713  2,476

       61,039  24,793 

  Receivables that are neither past due nor impaired
  
  Trade receivables that are neither past due nor impaired are creditworthy debtors with good payment records with the Group. 

  None of the Group’s trade receivables that are neither past due nor impaired have been renegotiated during the fi nancial year. 

  Receivables that are past due but not impaired 
       
   The receivables that are past due but not impaired are unsecured in nature. However, the directors are of the opinion that these debts 

should be realised in full without material losses in the ordinary course of business.  
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26.  TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (cont’d)

 (a)  Trade receivables (cont’d)
 
  Receivables that are impaired

   The Group’s trade receivables that are individually impaired at the reporting date and the movement of the allowance accounts used 
to record the impairment are as follows: 

  Group
  Individually impaired
     2011  2010
     RM’000  RM’000

  Trade receivables - nominal amount  2,713  2,476
  Less: Allowance for impairment  (2,713)  (2,476)

    – –

  Movement in the allowance accounts: 

  Group
     2011  2010
     RM’000  RM’000

  At 1 January  2,476  2,961
  Addition during the year  451  853
  Reversal for the year  (214)  (1,338)

  At 31 December  2,713  2,476

   Trade receivables that are individually determined to be impaired at the reporting date relate to debtors that are in signifi cant fi nancial 
diffi culties and have defaulted on payments. These receivables are not secured by any collateral or credit enhancements.

 (b)  Other receivables

   The amounts due from subsidiaries are non-trade in nature, unsecured, interest free and have no fi xed terms of repayment except for 
these amounts classifi ed as non-current which are not expected to be repaid within the foreseeable future. Further details on related 
party transactions are disclosed in Note 41.

   Included in sundry receivables of the Group is an amount of RM15,190,000 due from a purchaser for the disposal of a land as 
disclosed in Note 48. 
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26.  TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (cont’d)

 (b)  Other receivables (cont’d)

   Included in deposit are deposits paid for the acquisition of lands amounting RM63,525,314 (2010: RM30,846,842) as disclosed in 
Note 48. 

   The Group has no signifi cant concentration of credit risk included under sundry receivables that may arise from exposures to a single 
debtor or to groups of debtors except for debts due from subsidiaries and the amount due from a land purchaser as mentioned above.

  Other receivables that are impaired

  Movement in the allowance accounts: 

 Group  Company
       2011  2010  2011  2010
      RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000

   At 1 January   683  601  198,007  143,925
   Provision for the year  –  86  –  81,240
   Reversal for the year  –  –  (50,426) (27,158)
   Write off   (449)  (4)  (12) –

   At 31 December  234  683  147,569  198,007

27.  OTHER CURRENT ASSETS

 Group  Company
       2011  2010  2011  2010
      RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000

 Prepayments   878  874  34  47
 Accrued billings in respect of property development costs  91,409  10,541  –  –

       92,287  11,415  34  47

28.  CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

 Group  Company
       2011  2010  2011  2010
      RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000

 Deposits with licensed banks  52,978  158,665  989  988
 Cash on hand and at banks  66,861  81,796  1,841  927
 Cash held in foreign banks  244  125  – –

 Cash and bank balances  120,083  240,586  2,830  1,915
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28.  CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (cont’d)

 For the purpose of the cash fl ow: 

 Group  Company
       2011  2010  2011  2010
      RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000

 Cash and bank balances  120,083  240,586  2,830  1,915
 Less: Cash and cash equivalents not available for use  (5,009)  (7,846)  – – 

 Total cash and cash equivalents  115,074  232,740  2,830  1,915

  The interest rates for the balance of deposits with licensed banks ranged from 2.22% to 3.02% (2010: 1.20% to 3.38%) per annum and 
the maturities of deposits as at the end of the fi nancial year ranged from 30 to 365 days (2010: 7 to 365 days). 

  Included in cash at banks of the Group are amounts of RM42,645,161 (2010: RM44,667,876) held pursuant to Section 7A of the Housing 
Development (Control and Licensing) Act, 1966 and therefore restricted from use in other operations.

 Included in deposits with licensed banks of the Group are:

 (a)   Deposits held in trust by a trustee of RM410,000 (2010: RM2,286,000), representing cash and cash equivalents not available for use; 
and

 (b)   Deposits amounting to RM4,599,000 (2010: RM5,560,000) which were pledged as security for bank guarantees granted to the 
Group.

29.  SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE PREMIUM

 Number of ordinary
  shares of RM1 each
     2011  2010
    ’000 ’000

 Authorised
 At 1 January/ 31 December  1,000,000  1,000,000
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29.  SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE PREMIUM (cont’d)

    Number of   Amount
    ordinary 
     shares
     Share capital   2011   2010   2011   2010   2011   2010 
     (Issued and      Share   Share 
     fully paid)   Share  Share   Share   Share   option   option 
      capital   capital   premium   premium   reserve   reserve 
    ’000   RM’000   RM’000   RM’000   RM’000   RM’000   RM’000 

 Issued and fully paid:
 At 1 January 455,000   455,000   454,345   363,813   363,741   5,096   5,930 
 Ordinary shares pursuant to
  ESOS (Note 32) 3,118   3,118   655   374   72   –   – 
 Effects pursuant to ESOS on:
  - conversion  –   –   –   2,477   –   (2,477)  – 
  - grant  –   –   –   –   –   1,858   400 
  - forfeiture  –   –   –   –   –   (396)  (1,234)
 Ordinary shares pursuant to
  Warrants 2009/2019  1   1   –   –   –   –   – 

 At 31 December 458,119  458,119  455,000  366,664  363,813   4,081   5,096 

  The holders of ordinary shares (except treasury shares) are entitled to receive dividends as and when declared by the Company. All 
ordinary shares carry one vote per share without restrictions and rank equally with regard to the Company residual assets.

  During the fi nancial year, the Company increased its issued and paid-up ordinary shares capital from RM455,000,000 to RM458,118,959 
by way of the issuance of: 

 a)   3,118,359 ordinary shares of RM1 each for cash pursuant to the Company’s Employee Share Options Scheme at an average exercise 
price of RM1.12 per ordinary share; and

 b)  600 ordinary shares of RM1 each for cash pursuant to the Warrant 2009/2019 at an exercise price of RM1 per ordinary share.

  Up to the date of this report, the issued and paid up share capital was increased to RM460,456,159 by way of issuance of 2,337,200 
ordinary shares of RM1 each at an average exercise of RM1.12 purchased pursuant to the Company’s Employee Share Options Scheme. 

30.  OTHER RESERVES

 (a)  Foreign currency translation reserve 

   The foreign currency translation reserve represents exchange differences arising from the translation of the fi nancial statements of 
foreign operations whose functional currencies are different from that of the Group’s presentation currency.

 (b)  Share options reserve (“ESOS”)

   Employee share option reserve represents the equity-settled share options granted to employees (Note 32). The reserve is made up 
of the cumulative value of services received from employees recorded over the vesting period commencing from the grant date of 
equity-settled share options, and is reduced by the expiry or exercise of the share options. 
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30.  OTHER RESERVES (cont’d)
 
 (c)  Warrants reserve 2009/2019

  On 9 December 2009, the Company issued 129,812,791 free detachable Warrants 2009/2019.

  The main features of the Warrants are as follows:

  (i)   Each Warrant entitles the holder to subscribe for 1 new ordinary share of RM1.00 each in Dijaya at a price of RM1.00 per share; 

  (ii)  The Warrants may be exercised at any time up to 9 December 2019; and 

  (iii)   The shares arising from the exercise of Warrants shall rank pari passu in all respect with the existing ordinary shares of the 
Company, save and except that the new shares shall not be entitiled to any dividends, rights, allotments and/or other distributions, 
the entitlement date of which is prior to the allotment date of the new shares. 

  As at reporting date, 129,812,191 free detachable Warrants remain unexercised.

 (d)  Retained earnings

   Prior to the year of assessment 2008, Malaysian companies adopted the full imputation system. In accordance with the Finance 
Act 2007 which was gazetted on 28 December 2007, companies shall not be entitled to deduct tax on dividends paid, credited or 
distributed to its shareholders, and such dividends will be exempted from tax in the hands of the shareholders (“single tier system”). 
However, there is a transitional period of six years, expiring on 31 December 2013, to allow companies to pay franked dividends to 
their shareholders under limited circumstances. Companies also have an irrevocable option to disregard the 108 balance and opt to 
pay dividends under the single tier system. The change in the tax legislation also provides for the 108 balance to be locked-in as at 31 
December 2007 in accordance with Section 39 of the Finance Act 2007.

   The Company did not elect for the irrevocable option to disregard the S108 balance. Accordingly, during the transitional period, 
the Company may utilise the credit in the S108 balance to distribute cash dividend payments to ordinary shareholdings as defi ned 
under the Finance Act 2007. As at 31 December 2011, the Company has credit balance of S108 amounting RM41,303,982 (2010: 
RM46,999,505).

31.  SINKING FUND

  Group
     2011  2010
     RM’000  RM’000

 At 1 January  2,210  3,213
 Additions  1,006  897
 Claims made during the fi nancial year  (2,621)  (1,900)

 At 31 December  595  2,210

  Sinking fund of the Group is established for the purpose of covering costs of periodic major repairs or capital replacements in the golf and 
country resort of the Group. A fraction of 10% of monthly subscription fees received from members during the year are credited to this 
reserve.
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32.  EMPLOYEE SHARE OPTIONS SCHEME (“ESOS”) 

  The Dijaya’s Employee Share Options Scheme (“ESOS”) was implemented on 21 September 2005 and is governed by the Bye-Laws 
approved by the shareholders at an Extraordinary General Meeting (“EGM”) held on 24 June 2005 and was amended and approved by 
the shareholders at an EGM held on 3 October 2011.

 The salient terms of the new ESOS are as follows: 

 (i)   The Option Committee has the full discretion in determining the eligibility of executive directors and employees of the Group to 
participate in the ESOS provided that they are at the date of offer at least eighteen years of age and are employed by the Group and 
have served at least one continuous year with the Group, except for those holding job grades of Senior Managers and above, and 
have been confi rmed their positions in writing. 

 (ii)  The ESOS shall be in force for a period of 10 years from 21 September 2005 to 20 September 2015. 

 (iii)   The total number of shares to be issued under the ESOS shall not exceed in aggregate 10% of the issued share capital of the 
Company at any point of time during the tenure of the ESOS and out of which not more than 50% of the shares shall be allocated, 
in aggregate, to eligible executive directors and senior management. In addition, not more than 10% of the shares available under 
the ESOS shall be allocated to any individual eligible executive director or employee who, either singly or collectively through person 
connected to them, holds 20% or more in the issued and paid-up capital of the Company. 

 (iv)  No options shall be granted for less than 1,000 shares or more than the maximum allowable allotment of shares.

 (v)   The Option Committee shall have the discretion to determine the maximum number of options that are exercisable by the eligible 
Executive Directors and employees of the Group in a particular year.

 (vi)   The option price for each share shall be the weighted average of the share market price as quoted in the Daily Offi cial List issued 
by Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad for the 5 market days preceding the date on which the option is offered, with a discount that 
does not exceed 10% or such other percentage of discount as may be permitted by Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad or any other 
relevant authorities from time to time during the period of ESOS or at the par value of the shares of RM1 each, whichever is higher.

  
 (vii)  An offer made by the Option Committee shall be valid for a period of forty-fi ve days from the date of offer and may be accepted 

within this prescribed period by the eligible employees to whom the offer is made by written notice to the Option Committee of 
such acceptance accompanied by a payment to the Company of a nominal non-refundable sum of RM1.00 as consideration for the 
grant of the option. If the offer is not accepted in the manner aforesaid, such offer shall upon the expiry of the said forty-fi ve days 
automatically lapse and be null and void and of no further force and effect.

 (viii)  All new ordinary shares issued upon exercise of the options granted under the ESOS will rank pari passu in all respects with the then 
existing ordinary shares of the Company except that they will not be entitled to any dividend declared prior to the date of allotment.
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32.  EMPLOYEE SHARE OPTIONS SCHEME (“ESOS”) (cont’d)

 Movement of share options during the fi nancial year 

  The following table illustrates the number (“No.”) and weighted average exercise prices (“WAEP”) of, and movements in, share options 
during the fi nancial year:

        Group
        2011   2010
       No. WAEP (RM)  No. WAEP (RM)

 Outstanding at 1 January 2011  6,761,912  1.11  8,541,900  1.31
  - Granted    22,997,540  1.15  –  – 
  - Granted    326,550  1.11  1,233,154  1.11
  - Exercised   (762,200)  1.15  (655,230)  1.11
  - Exercised   (2,356,159)  1.11  –   – 
  - Forfeited    (548,577)  1.11  (2,357,912)  1.11

 Outstanding at 31 December 
  2011     26,419,066   –  6,761,912  1.11

 Exercisable at 31 December 
  2011     4,183,726  1.11  6,761,912  1.11
  2011     22,235,340  1.15  –   –

  The fair value of share options granted on 13 April 2010 and 10 October 2011 was estimated by using a black-scholes model, taking into 
account the terms and conditions upon which the options were granted. The fair value of share options measured at grant date and the 
assumptions are as follows:

        2011   2010

 Fair values of share options as at reporting date (RM):
  - 10 October 2011  0.23 –
  - 13 April 2010   –  0.35
 Weighted average share price  1.29  0.98
 Weighted average exercise price  1.15  1.11
 Expected volatility (%)  29  51
 Expected life (years)  4  5
 Risk free rate (%)  3.79  2.97

  The expected life of the options is based on historical data and is not necessarily indicative of exercise patterns that may occur. The 
expected volatility refl ects the assumption that the historical volatility is indicative of future trends, which may also not necessarily be the 
actual outcome. No other features of the option grant were incorporated into the measurement of fair value.
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33.  PROVISION FOR LIABILITIES

         Liquidated
        Provision of and
        shortfall for ascertained
       bumi quota  damages  Total
        RM’000  RM’000   RM’000

 Group 
 At 1 January 2010  12,898  1,999  14,897
 Utilisation of provision  –  (1,999)  (1,999)
 Additional provision  68  –  68
 Reversal of provision  (5,980)  –  (5,980)

 At 31 December 2010/2011  6,986  –  6,986

  Refers to quota imposed on housing development for Bumiputras only, whereby, a penalty may be imposed for shortfall in quotas not being 
met. 

34.  DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

 Deferred income tax as at 31 December relates to the following:

 Group   Transfer    Transfer
      to land  As at 31  to land
     held for   December  held for
   As at 1  property  Recognised 2010/ 1 Recognised property As at 31
   January Recognised develop- in profi t January in profi t develop- December
   2010 in equity ment  or loss 2011  or loss ment 2011
   RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

 Deferred tax liabilities:
 Accelerated capital allowances  10,305   –   –   523   10,828   8,363   –   19,191 
 Fair value adjustment on  58,221   –   –   993   59,214   (2,939)  (205)  56,070 
  business combination
 Others  12,294   6,576   (6,614)  (3,507)  8,749   (234)  –   8,515 

    80,820   6,576   (6,614)  (1,991)  78,791   5,190   (205)  83,776 

 Deferred tax assets:
 Provision for liabilities  (413)  –   –   –   (413)  (78)  –   (491)
 Unused tax losses 
  and unabsorbed
  capital allowances  (12,257)  –   –   (8,925)  (21,182)  (4,603)  –   (25,785)
 Others  (1,197)  –   –   1,197   –   –   –   – 

    (13,867)  –   –   (7,728)  (21,595)  (4,681)  –   (26,276)

    66,953   6,576   (6,614)  (9,719)  57,196   509   (205)  57,500
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34.  DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES (cont’d)

  Group
     2011  2010
     RM’000  RM’000

 Presented after appropriate offsetting as follows: 

 Deferred tax assets  26,276  21,595
 Deferred tax liabilities  (83,776)  (78,791)

    (57,500)  (57,196)

 Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the following items:

  Group
     2011  2010
     RM’000  RM’000

 Unused tax losses  4,410  4,410
 Unutilised capital allowances  1,054  29,326

  The unused tax losses and unabsorbed capital allowances of the Group are available indefi nitely for offsetting against future taxable profi ts 
of the respective entities within the Group, subject to no substantial change in shareholdings of those entities under the Income Tax Act, 
1967 and guidelines issued by the tax authority.

  Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of these items as they may not be used to offset taxable profi ts of other 
subsidiaries in the Group and they have arisen in subsidiaries that have a recent history of losses.

35.  SECURITY RETAINERS

  Security retainers are funds collected from members of the golf and country resort of the Group who joined prior to January 1993. These 
security retainers are refundable to the members on cessation of membership, i.e upon the expiry of the term of the membership license 
on 9 October 2051 or upon revocation (ie.termination of the membership at its discretion at any time before the expiry date). 

  Group
     2011  2010
     RM’000  RM’000

 As at 1 January  1,151  27,320
 Effect of adopting FRS139  –  (26,309)
 Unwinding of discount  153  170
 Utilisation  (30)  (30)

 As at 31 December  1,274  1,151
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36.  DEFERRED LICENSE FEES

  Group
     2011  2010
     RM’000  RM’000

 Cost 
 At 1 January  96,631  92,967 
 Additions  3,716  3,664

 At 31 December  100,347  96,631

 Accumulated amortisation
 At 1 January  22,517  20,422
 Amortisation during year  2,215  2,095

 At 31 December  24,732  22,517

 Net carrying amount  75,615  74,114

 Current  2,215  2,095
 Non-current  73,400  72,019

    75,615  74,114

 The deferred license fees refer to accrual and amortisation of license fees over 41 years which will expire on 9 October 2051. 

37.  BORROWINGS 

 Group  Company
       2011  2010  2011  2010
      RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000

 Short term borrowings 

 Secured: 
 Revolving credits   53,500  –  42,500  –
 Term loans    92,494  2,711  –  –
 Less: Unamortised issuance expenses  (265)  (145)  –  –

      145,729  2,566  42,500  –

 Long term borrowings

 Secured: 
 Bridging loans   107,957  174,239  –  –
 Term loans    749,233  34,411  –  – 
 Less: Unamortised issuance expenses  (11,565)  (887)  –  –

      845,625  207,763  –  –
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37.  BORROWINGS (cont’d)

 Group  Company
       2011  2010  2011  2010
      RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000

 Total borrowings 

 Revolving credits   53,500  –  42,500  – 
 Bridging loans   107,957  174,239  –  – 
 Term loans    841,727  37,122  –  –
 Less: Unamortised issuance expenses  (11,830)  (1,032)  –  – 

      991,354  210,329  42,500  – 

 Unamortised issuance expenses:

 At 1 January    1,032  –  –  – 
 Incurred during the year  11,196  1,032  –  – 
 Amortisation for the year  (398)  –  –  – 

 At 31 December   11,830  1,032  –  –

 Maturities of borrowings: 

 Not later than one year  145,994  2,711  42,500  – 
 Later than 1 year and not later in 5 years  416,833  136,224  –  –
 More than 5 years  440,357  72,426  –  – 
 Less: Unamortised issuance expenses  (11,830)  (1,032)  –  –

 Total     991,354  210,329  42,500  – 

 The range of interest rates per annum at the reporting date for borrowings were as follows: 

     2011  2010
     %   % 

 Revolving credit   7.85% - 8.60%  – 
 Bridging loan   5.15% - 5.17%  4.60%
 Term loan   4.60% - 5.69%  5.30%
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37.  BORROWINGS (cont’d)

  The revolving credits, bridging loan and term loans of the Group are secured by certain assets of the Group and of the Company as follows:

 (i)  Fixed charge over certain property, plant and equipment as disclosed in Note 15; 

 (ii)  Fixed charge over certain land held for property development and property development costs as disclosed in Note 16; 

 (iii)  Fixed charge over certain investment properties as disclosed in Note 17;

 (iv)   Legal assignment of all cashfl ows, sale or tenancy agreements, insurance policies, construction contracts, construction guarantees 
and performance bonds in relation to a project developed by a subsidiary; 

 (v)  Fixed and fl oating charge over the assets of certain subsidiaries;

 (vi)  An undertaking given by Tan Sri Dato’ Tan Chee Sing, a director of the Company; and

 (vii)  Corporate guarantees provided by the Company.

 Other information on fi nancial risks of borrowings are disclosed in Note 44.

  Company
     2011  2010
     RM’000  RM’000

 Unsecured corporate guarantees given to banks for credit facilities granted to certain subsidiaries  1,492,085  351,260

38.  TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

 Group  Company
       2011  2010  2011  2010
      RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000

 CURRENT
 Trade payables
  Third parties   149,141 105,857  –  –

 Other payables
  Other payables  83,087  55,336 1,997  1,446
  Amounts due to related companies
   - Subsidiaries  –  –  12,817  3,305
   - Non-controlling interest of subsidiaries  6,015  18,391  –  –
   - Directors of subsidiaries  57  57  –  –
  Advances from third parties  213  213  –  –

       89,372  73,997  14,814  4,751

       238,513  179,854  14,814  4,751
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38.  TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (cont’d)

 (a)  Trade payables 

  The normal trade credit term granted to the Group ranges from 30 to 90 days (2010: 30 to 90 days)

 (b)  Other payables 

  Other payables are mainly unsecured, interest free and have no fi xed terms of repayment.

  Further details on related party transactions are disclosed in Note 41.

  Other information on fi nancial risks of other payables are disclosed in Note 44. 

39.  OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES

  Group
     2011  2010
     RM’000  RM’000

 Advance progress billings in respect of property development costs  4,114 26,845 

40.  CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND ASSET

 Contingent asset

 Legal claim

  On 9 April 2007, Dijaya-Malind JV (Mauritius) Limited (“DMJML”) and Dijaya-Malind Properties (India) Private Limited (“DMPI”), both 
subsidiaries of the Company, and Starlite Global Enterprises (India) Limited (formerly known as Telangana Spinning & Weaving Mills 
Limited (“SGEIL”) had entered into a Deed of Novation cum Joint Development Agreement (“Agreement”) to facilitate DMPI to undertake 
the development of SGEIL’s land measuring approximately 25.4 acres in Hyderabad, India.

  Due to the breach of terms in the Agreement by SGEIL, a Notice of Termination of Agreement was issued to SGEIL on 3 August 2011 to 
claim for the refundable deposit as well as damages suffered by DMJML and DMPI. As SGEIL have not refunded the refundable deposit 
of Rs127,080,000 (approximately RM9,338,000) and failed to pay the damages within the stipulated 30 day period from the date of Notice 
of Termination, a Notice of Arbitration was issued to SGEIL on 11 February 2011 and application for interim reliefs was fi led on 17 February 
2011 against SGEIL before the Civil City Court of Hyderabad to restrain SGEIL from alienating the property under its control, and to seek 
interim order or injunction in favour of DMJML and DMPI, pending arbitration proceedings.

  On 22 July 2011, SGEIL sought an order for a security of Rs. 300 crores by way of an application fi led under s9 of the Arbitration and 
Conciliation Act 1996. The Directors are of the opinion that the application is baseless and frivolous.

 The hearing of the application for interim relief is fi xed on 18 April 2012, whilst the hearing of the arbitration is fi xed on 21 July 2012. 
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41.  SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

 (a)  Transactions with subsidiaries.

  Company
     2011  2010
     RM’000  RM’000

  Dividend income from subsidiaries  4,523  37,201

  Interest income derived from unwinding of discount on amount due from subsidiaries 13,426 12,786 

 (b)  Transactions with entities related to Tan Sri Dato’ Tan Chee Sing (Director of the Company).

 Group  Company
       2011  2010  2011  2010
      RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000

  Rental expenses payable to Elite Meridian Sdn. Bhd. –  105  –  31

  Rental income receivable from Inland Sports and 
   Recreation Club Sdn. Bhd.  406  135 – –

  Rental income from Valley Talent Solutions Sdn. Bhd
   (formerly known as Delta Fashion (M) Sdn. Bhd.)  3  372  –  –

  Rental income from TT Resources Bhd’s subsidiaries  120  120  –  –

  Rental income from TT Resources F&B Sdn. Bhd., 
   a subsidiary of TT Resources Bhd.  1,275  1,247  –  –

  Rental income from Ribuan Budaya Sdn. Bhd.  338  306  –  –

  Project management fees receivable from Istima Budi Sdn. Bhd.  –  389  –  389

  Project management fees receivable from Alam Harmoni Sdn. Bhd.  471  –  471  – 

  Insurance charges payable to Berjaya-Sompo Insurance Berhad  949   217  3  15

  Rental income from U Mobile Sdn. Bhd.  61  –  –  –

  Security charges from Gelombang Kreatif Sdn. Bhd.  7  – –  –

  Security charges from Lambang Potensi Sdn. Bhd.  15  –  –  –

  Security charges from Steady Perspective Sdn. Bhd.  24  –  –  –
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41.  SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (cont’d)

 (c)   Transactions with entities related to Tan Sri Dato’ Tan Chee Yioun (“Tan Sri Vincent Tan”), who is a brother of Tan Sri Dato’ 
Tan Chee Sing.

       Group   Company
        2011  2010  2011  2010
       RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000

  Rental income from Berjaya Starbucks
   Coffee Company Sdn. Bhd.  307  302  – –

  Rental income from Berjaya Roasters (M) Sdn. Bhd.  241  233  –  –

  Rental income from Berjaya Books Sdn. Bhd.  354  357  –  –

  Rental income from Cosway (M) Sdn. Bhd.  73  73  –  –

  Rental income from 7 Eleven (M) Sdn. Bhd.  124  128  –  –

  Rental income from Berjaya Pizza Company Sdn. Bhd.  209  –  –  –

  Purchase of marketable securities in Berjaya Corporation Berhad
    - Quoted shares  –  29,976  –  –
    - Irredeemable convertible shares –  3,314  –  – 

   The directors are of the opinion that all the above transactions were entered into in the normal course of business and have been 
established under terms that are no less favourable than those obtainable in transactions with unrelated parties. 

 (d)  Compensation of key management personnel 

   Key management personnel are defi ned as those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the 
activities of the Group either directly or indirectly. The key management personnel includes all the Directors of the Group, and certain 
members of senior management of the Group. 
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41.  SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (cont’d)

 (d)  Compensation of key management personnel (cont’d)

  The remuneration of directors and other members of key management during the year were as follows: 

       Group   Company
        2011  2010  2011  2010
       RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000

  Short-term employee benefi ts  12,489  7,848  382  381
  Post-employment benefi ts: 
   Defi ned contribution plan  1,459  867  –  –
   Share-based payment ESOS  451  494  –  –

       14,399  9,209  382  381

  Included in the total key management personnel are:

       Group   Company
        2011  2010  2011  2010
       RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000

  Directors’ remuneration (Note 11)  11,512  8,201  382  381

  Share options granted to key management personnel 

       Group   Company
        2011  2010  2011  2010
       RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000

  At 1 January   1,578  3,555  –  289
  Granted   6,528  268  –  –
  Exercised   (1,123)  (655)  –  –
  Forfeited   –  (1,590)  –  (289)

  At 31 December  6,983  1,578  –  –

  The share options were granted on the same terms and conditions as those offered to other employees of the Group (Note 32).
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42.  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

 Classifi cation of fi nancial instruments

  Financial assets and fi nancial liabilities are measured on an ongoing basis either at fair value or at amortised cost. The principal accounting 
policies of the Group described how the class of fi nancial instruments are measured, and how income and expenses, including fair value 
gains and losses, are recognised. The following table analysed the fi nancial assets and liabilities in the statement of fi nancial position by 
the class of fi nancial instrument to which they are assigned, and therefore by the measurement basis.

 Group

    Fair value   Financial
    through   liabilities at
   Loans and   profi t or   amortised
   receivables   loss   cost   Total 
   RM’000   RM’000  RM’000   RM’000 

 31 December 2011

 Assets
 Other investments  –   312   –   312 
 Security retainers accumulation fund  3,428   –   –   3,428 
 Trade and other receivables  156,514   –   –   156,514 
 Marketable securities  –   57,695   –   57,695 
 Cash and bank balances  120,083   –   –   120,083 

 Total fi nancial assets     338,032 
 Total non-fi nancial assets     2,133,063 

 Total assets     2,471,095 

 Liabilities
 Borrowings  –   –   991,354   991,354 
 Trade and other payables   –   –   238,513   238,513 
 Security retainers  –   –   1,274   1,274 

 Total fi nancial liabilities    1,231,141 
 Total non-fi nancial liabilities     171,355 

 Total liabilities    1,402,496 
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42.  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont’d)

 Classifi cation of fi nancial instruments (cont’d)

 Group

    Fair value   Financial
    through   liabilities at
   Loans and   profi t or   amortised
   receivables   loss   cost   Total 
   RM’000   RM’000  RM’000   RM’000 

 31 December 2010

 Assets
 Other investments  –   312   –   312 
 Security retainers accumulation fund  3,232   –   –   3,232 
 Trade and other receivables 77,781   –   –   77,781 
 Marketable securities  –   93,686   –   93,686 
 Cash and bank balances  240,586   –   –   240,586 

 Total fi nancial assets    415,597 
 Total non-fi nancial assets    1,124,698 

 Total assets    1,540,295 

 Liabilities
 Borrowings    –   –   210,329   210,329 
 Trade and other payables   –   –   179,854   179,854 
 Security retainers  –   –   1,151   1,151 

 Total fi nancial liabilities    391,334 
 Total non-fi nancial liabilities    189,340 

 Total liabilities    580,674
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42.  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont’d)

 Classifi cation of fi nancial instruments (cont’d)

 Company

    Fair value   Financial
    through   liabilities at
   Loans and   profi t or   amortised
   receivables   loss   cost   Total 
   RM’000   RM’000  RM’000   RM’000 

 31 December 2011

 Assets
 Other investments  –   312   –   312 
 Trade and other receivables
  - Non-current  157,546   –   –   157,546 
  - Current  385,654   –   –   385,654 
 Cash and bank balances  2,830   –   –   2,830 

 Total fi nancial assets    546,342 
 Total non-fi nancial assets    300,072 

 Total assets     846,414 

 Liabilities
 Borrowing  –   –   42,500   42,500 
 Other payables  –   –   14,814   14,814 

 Total fi nancial liabilities     57,314 

 31 December 2010

 Assets
 Other investments  –   312   –   312 
 Trade and other receivables
  - Non-current  155,711   –   –   155,711 
  - Current  293,974   –   –   293,974 
 Cash and bank balances  1,915   –   –   1,915 

 Total fi nancial assets    451,912 
 Total non-fi nancial assets     291,705 

 Total assets    743,617 

 Liability
 Other payables  –   –   4,751   4,751 

 Total fi nancial liabilities    4,751 
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43.  CLASSIFICATION OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS CARRIED AT FAIR VALUE

  The fair value measurement hierarchies used to measure fi nancial assets carried at fair value in the statements of fi nancial position as at 31 
December 2011 are as follows: 

 (a)  Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

 (b)   Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. prices) 
or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices). 

 (c)  Level 3: Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

    Level 1   Level 2   Level 3   Total
    RM’000   RM’000   RM’000   RM’000

 Group 
 As at 31 December 2011

 Asset
 FVTPL fi nancial assets  57,695  –  312  58,007

 Company
 As at 31 December 2011

 Asset 
 FVTPL fi nancial assets  –  –  312  312

  There were no material transfer between Level 1, Level 2 and Level 3 during the fi nancial year. 

   The Group and Company do not have any fi nancial liabilities carried at fair value nor any fi nancial instruments classifi ed as Level 2 as at 31 
December 2011.

43.  FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

 A.  Determination of fair value

  Amounts due from subsidiaries and advances to/ from subsidiaries.

   The fair values of these fi nancial instruments are estimated by discounting expected future cash fl ows at market incremental lending 
rate for similar types of lending, borrowing or leasing arrangements at the reporting date. 

  Financial instruments that are not carried at fair value and whose carrying amounts are reasonable approximation of fair value. 

   The carrying amounts of current fi nancial assets and liabilities are reasonable approximation of fair values, either due to their short-term 
nature or that they are fl oating rate instruments that are re-priced to market interest rates on or near the reporting date.

   The carrying amounts of the current portion of borrowings are reasonable approximations of fair values due to the insignifi cant impact 
of discounting.

   The fair values of non-current borrowings are estimated by discounting expected future cash fl ows at market incremental lending rate 
for similar types of lending, borrowing or leasing arrangements at the reporting date.
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44.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

  The Group and the Company are exposed to fi nancial risks arising from their operations and the use of fi nancial instruments. The key 
fi nancial risks include credit risk, liquidity risk, interest rate risk, foreign currency risk and market price risk.

  The Board of Directors reviews and agrees policies and procedures for the management of these risks, which are executed by the Finance 
Director. The Board Risk Management Committee provides independent oversight to the effectiveness of the risk management process.

  The following sections provide details regarding the Group’s and Company’s exposure to the above-mentioned fi nancial risks and the 
objectives, policies and processes for the management of these risks. 

 (a)  Credit risk

   Credit risk is the risk of loss that may arise on outstanding fi nancial instruments should a counterparty default on its obligations. The 
Group’s and the Company’s exposure to credit risk arises primarily from trade and other receivables. For cash and bank balances, the 
Group and the Company minimise credit risk by dealing exclusively with reputable fi nancial institutions. 

   The Group’s objective is to seek continual revenue growth while minimising losses incurred due to increased credit risk exposure. The 
Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers who wish to trade on credit 
terms are subject to credit verifi cation procedures. In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result 
that the Group’s exposure to bad debts is not signifi cant.

  Exposure to credit risk

   At the reporting date, the Group’s and the Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying amount of each 
class of fi nancial assets recognised in the statements of fi nancial position.

  Credit risk concentration profi le

   The Group determines concentrations of credit risk by monitoring the industry sector profi le of its trade receivables on an ongoing 
basis. The credit risk concentration profi le of the Group’s trade receivables at the reporting date are as follows: 

    2011   2010
    RM’000   % of total  RM’000   % of total

   Group
   Property development  53,924  93%  17,685  79% 
   Property investment  1,904  3%  1,809  8%
   Resorts operation  2,498  4%  2,823  13%

       58,326  100%  22,317  100%
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44.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (cont’d)

 (b)  Liquidity risk

   Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group or the Company will encounter diffi culty in meeting fi nancial obligations due to shortage of 
funds. The Group’s and the Company’s exposure to liquidity risk arises primarily from mismatches of the maturities of fi nancial assets 
and liabilities. The Group’s and the Company’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and fl exibility through 
the use of stand-by credit facilities.

   The Group’s and the Company’s liquidity risk management policy is to maintain suffi cient liquid fi nancial assets and stand-by credit 
facilities with several banks.

  Analysis of fi nancial instruments by remaining contractual maturities

   The table below summarises the maturity profi le of the Group’s and the Company’s liabilities at the reporting date based on contractual 
undiscounted repayment obligations. 

       2011
       RM’000
        On demand
       or within   One to  more than
        one year   fi ve years  fi ve years   Total 

   Group
   Financial liabilities:
   Trade and other payables  238,513  –  –  238,513
   Borrowings   145,023  544,608  482,633  1,172,264

   Total undiscounted fi nancial liabilities  383,536  544,608  482,633  1,410,777

   Company
   Financial liabilities:
   Other payables  14,814  –  –  14,814
   Borrowings   42,500  –  –  42,500

   Total undiscounted fi nancial liabilities  57,314  –  –  57,314

       2010
       RM’000
         On demand
        or within   One to 
         one year   fi ve years   Total

   Group
   Financial liabilities:
   Trade and other payables   179,854  –  179,854
   Borrowings    28,726  168,777  197,503

   Total undiscounted fi nancial liabilities   208,580  168,777  377,357
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44.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (cont’d)

 (b)  Liquidity risk (cont’d)

       2010
       RM’000
         On demand
        or within   One to 
         one year   fi ve years   Total

  Company
  Financial liabilities:
   Other payables   4,751  –  4,751

   Total undiscounted fi nancial liabilities   4,751  –  4,751

 (c)  Interest rate risk

    Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash fl ows of a fi nancial instrument will fl uctuate because of changes in market 
interest rates. The Group’s primary interest rate risk relates to interest-bearing borrowings.

    The investments in fi nancial assets including fi xed deposits are mainly short term in nature and they are not held for speculative 
purposes.

    The Group manages its interest rate exposure by using a mix of fi xed and fl oating rate debts and actively reviewing its debt portfolio, 
taking into account the investment holding period and nature of its assets.

   Interest rate sensitivity

    The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in interest rates, with all other variables held constant, 
of the Group’s profi t before tax (through the impact on fl oating rate borrowings).

          Group   Company
          RM’000   RM’000

  31 December 2011
  Borrowings denominated in Ringgit Malaysia
   Interest rates increase by 0.25 percentage point    10,688  –
   Interest rates decrease by 0.25 percentage point    10,688  –

  31 December 2010
  Borrowings denominated in Ringgit Malaysia
   Interest rates increase by 0.25 percentage point    112  – 
   Interest rates decrease by 0.25 percentage point    112  –

 (d)  Market price risk

   Market price risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash fl ows of the Group’s fi nancial instruments will fl uctuate because of changes 
in market prices. 
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44.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (cont’d)

 (d)  Market price risk (cont’d)

   The Group is exposed to equity price risk arising from its investment in quoted equity instruments. The quoted equity instruments in 
Malaysia are listed on the Bursa Malaysia. These instruments are classifi ed fair value through profi t or loss fi nancial assets. The Group 
does not have exposure to commodity price risk.

   The Group’s objective is to manage investment returns and equity price risk using a mix of investment grade shares with steady 
dividend yield and non-investment grade shares with higher volatility.

   At the reporting date, the Group’s equity portfolio consists of the equity portfolio comprises investment grade shares included in the 
Financial Times Stock Exchange (FTSE) Bursa Malaysia KLCI.

  Sensitivity analysis for equity price risk 

   At the reporting date, if the FTSE Bursa Malaysia KLCI had been 5% higher/lower, with all other variables held constant, the Group’s 
profi t net of tax would have been higher/lower RM2,898,300 (2010: RM4,684,300), arising as a result of higher/lower fair value gains 
on held for trading investments in equity instruments. 

 (e)  Foreign currency risk

   Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash fl ows of a fi nancial instrument will fl uctuate because of changes in 
foreign exchange rates. 

   The Group has transactional currency exposures arising from balances in other payables in a currency other than the functional 
currencies of Group. The foreign currency in which these transactions are denomiated is US Dollars (“USD”).

   The Group also hold cash and cash equivalents denominated in foreign currencies for working capital purposes. At the reporting date, 
foreign currency balances which is in USD amount to RM244,124 (2010: RM125,444) for the Group.

  Sensitivity analysis for foreign currency risk

   The following table demonstrates the sensitivity of the Group’s profi t net of tax to a reasonably possible change in the USD exchange 
rates against the respective functional currencies of the Group entities, with all other variables held constant.

      Group
      2011
      RM’000
      Profi t net of tax

  USD/RM - strengthened 5% (2010: 5%)  (131)
    - weakened 5% (2010: 5%)  131
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45.  OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS

 (a)  The Group as lessee

   The Group has entered into non-cancellable operating lease agreements for the use of offi ce premises and equipment. These leases 
have an average life of 3 years with renewal or purchase option included in the contracts. There are no restrictions placed upon the 
Group by entering into these leases.

  Future minimum rentals payable under non-cancellable operating leases at the reporting date are as follows: 

       Group   Company
       2011 2010 2011  2010 
       RM’000  RM’000   RM’000   RM’000

  Future minimum rentals payments: 
   Not later than 1 year  231  177  472  483
   Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years  350  213  2,019  1,965

       581  390  2,491  2,448

 (b)  The Group as lessor

   The Group has entered into cancellable operating lease agreements on its investment property portfolio. These leases have remaining 
cancellable lease terms of between 2 and 39 years. All leases include a clause to enable upward revision of the rental charge on an 
annual basis based on prevailing market conditions.

  Future minimum rentals receivable under non-cancellable operating leases at the reporting date are as follows: 

         Group
          2011   2010
          RM’000   RM’000

  Not later than 1 year    22,491  22,737
  Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years    23,230  18,446
  Later than 5 years    52,823  55,338

         98,544  96,521
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46.  COMMITMENTS

         Group
          2011   2010
          RM’000   RM’000

 Capital expenditure

 Capital commitment
 Approved and contracted for:
  - Land held for property development    745,990  277,622
  - Property, plant and equipment/property development costs     
   (mixed development in respect of a commercial and residential project)    906,307  46,548

         1,652,297  324,170

47.  SEGMENTAL INFORMATION

 (a)  Business segments:

   For management purposes, the Group is organised into business units based on their business segments, and has three reportable 
operating segments as follows: 

  (i)  Property and resort development -  development of residential and commercial properties 
     and provision of golfi ng and other sporting and recreational facilities  
 
  (ii)  Property investment  -  Operation of clubhouse and shopping mall

  (iii)  Investment holding  -  Investment income

  Except as indicated above, no operating segments has been aggregated to form the above reportable operating segments.

   Management monitors the operating results of its business units separately for the purpose of making decisions about resource 
allocation and performance assessment. Segmental performance is evaluated based on operating profi t or loss which, in certain 
respects as explained in the table below, is measured differently from operating profi t or loss in the consolidated fi nancial statements. 
Group fi nancing (including fi nance costs) and income taxes are managed on a group basis and are not allocated to operating 
segments. 
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47.  SEGMENTAL INFORMATION (cont’d)

  Inter-segment revenue are eliminated upon consolidation and refl ected in the ‘adjustment and eliminations’ column. All other adjustments 
and eliminations are part of detail reconciliation presented below: 

 Notes: Nature of adjustments and eliminations to arrive at the amounts reported in the consolidated fi nancial statements

 A.  Inter-segment revenues are eliminated on consolidation

 B.  Other material non-cash expenses consist of the following items as presented in the respective notes to the fi nancial statements

        2011  2010
        RM’000   RM’000

  Share based payments  1,858  400
  Impairment loss on fi nancial assets 451  939
  Fair value loss on marketable securities 5,211  12,267
  Provision for liabilities – 68

       7,520 13,674

 C.   The following items are added to/(deducted from) segment profi t to arrive at Profi t before tax from continuing operations presented in 
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income:

        2011   2010
        RM’000   RM’000

  Share of results of associates  6,361  6,605
  Share of results of jointly controlled entities  (91)  –
  Finance costs (11,359)  (6,001)

 D.  Additions to non-current assets consist of:

        2011   2010
        RM’000   RM’000

  Property, plant and equipment  45,247  157,662
  Investment properties  57,977  18,857
  Land held for property development  706,770  4,109

       809,994  180,628
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48.  SIGNIFICANT EVENTS

  During the fi nancial year, the Group through its various subsidiaries and jointly controlled entities entered into agreements to purchase 
various parcels of land located through West Malaysia. A summary of material purchase is presented below:

 Transactions where the conditions precedents are substantially met as at 31 December 2011 are as follows:

  Vendor Location of property Type Area Consideration
      RM’000

 (a) Danga Bay Sdn. Bhd. H.S.(D) 471884, PTB 22902,  Freehold Johor  258,812 (1)

   Bandar Johor Bahru, 
   District of Johor Bahru 
   and State of Johor.

 (b) Danga Bay Sdn. Bhd. H.S.(D) 471883, PTB 22901,  Freehold Johor  49,656 (1)

   Bandar Johor Bahru, 
   District of Johor Bahru 
   and State of Johor.

 (c) Paramount Landmark  Geran 51446 Lot 1055,  Freehold Johor  11,097 (1)

  Sdn. Bhd. Mukim Plentong, 
   District of Johor Bahru 
   and State of Johor.

 (d) Chunghwa Picture  PN 324855 for Lot 312205 and Leasehold Perak  3,233 (1)

  Tubes (Malaysia)  PN 324689 for Lot 312207, 
  Sdn. Bhd. Mukim and District of Kampar.

 (e) Makolin Electronics  PN 324876 for Lot 312208,  Leasehold Perak  2,399 (1)

  (M) Sdn. Bhd. Mukim and District of Kampar.

 (f) Chunghwa Picture  GRN 84178 - Lot 38513,  Freehold Selangor  385,461 (1)

  Tubes (Malaysia)  GRN 84179 - Lot 38514, 
  Sdn. Bhd. GRN 84180 - Lot 38515 and
   GRN 84181 - Lot 38516, 
   Pekan Country Heights, 
   District of Petaling, 
   State of Selangor.
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48.  SIGNIFICANT EVENTS (cont’d)

 Transactions where the conditions precedents are not met as at 31 December 2011 are as follows; 

  Vendor Location of property Type Area Consideration
      RM’000

 (a) Ong Sook Keok and  GRN 28425 - lot 784,  Freehold   Kuala Lumpur  43,123 (1)

  executors of estate of Seksyen 0057, 
  Loh Ah Moy Bandar Kuala Lumpur.

 (b) G.P.Y. (Holding) Sdn. Bhd. GRN 28463 - lot 779 and  Freehold   Kuala Lumpur  22,129 (1)

   GRN28423 - lot 780, 
   Seksyen 0057, 
   Bandar Kuala Lumpur.     

 (c) Taiyo Resort (KL) Berhad H.S.(D) 68253 - PT 14533,  Freehold   Selangor  228,000 (1)

   H.S.(D) 68256 - PT 14536, 
   Geran 63194 - Lot 12683, 
   Geran 53170 - Lot 1258, 
   Geran 27675 - Lot 27657, 
   Mukim Semenyih, 
   Daerah Ulu Langat.

 (d) Chief Minister of  Mukim 13, District of Timur Laut,  Freehold / Penang 1,072,203 (2)

  Penang (Incorporation) State of Pulau Pinang. Leasehold

 (e) Trident World Sdn. Bhd. 1,426 plots of land in  Freehold  Johor 220,000  (2)

   Taman Cahaya Kota Putri, 
   Mukim Plentong 
   Daerah Johor Bahru.

 (1) These are acquired via subsidiaries.    
 (2) These are acquired via jointly controlled entities

 During the fi nancial year, the Group through its subsidiary have disposed off a land being disclosed as follows;

  Purchaser Location of property Type Area Consideration
      RM’000

 (a) Fame Heritage PN 324855 - Lot 312205,  Leasehold   Perak  15,500
  Development Sdn. Bhd. PN324869 - Lot 312207 and 
   PN 324876 - Lot 312208, 
   Mukim and District of Kampar.     
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49.  SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 

  On 18 August 2011, the Company announced a proposed private placement of new ordinary shares of RM1.00 each up to 30% of the 
issued and paid-up share capital in Dijaya, to third party investors to be identifi ed and at an issue price to be determined later. On 5 March 
2012, the Company aborted the proposed private placement. 

  On 6 March 2012, the Company entered into a conditional amalgamation exercise agreement with Tan Sri Dato’ Tan Chee Sing (Director 
of the Company) and certain parties related to him (“Vendors”) pursuant to which Dijaya and the Vendors proposed to participate in and 
implement an asset amalgamation and rationalisation exercise involving the amalgamation of the assets and properties of Dijaya and its 
subsidiaries with certain identifi ed assets and properties of the Vendors for a total indicative consideration of RM948,696,998. The total 
indicative consideration will be satisfi ed partly in cash and partly via the issuance of 10-years 2% redeemable convertible unsecured loan 
stocks in Dijaya. 

50.  CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 

  The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to ensure that it maintains a strong credit rating and healthy capital ratios in 
order to support its business and maximise shareholder value.

  The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic conditions. To maintain or adjust 
the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. No 
changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes during the years ended 31 December 2011 and 31 December 2010.

  The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net debt divided by total capital plus net debt. The Group includes within net 
debt, loans and borrowings, trade and other payables, less cash and bank balances. Capital refers to equity attributable to the owners of 
the parent. 

       Group   Company
       2011 2010 2011  2010 
       RM’000  RM’000   RM’000   RM’000

 Borrowings    991, 354 210,329  42,500  –
 Trade and other payables  238,513  179,854  14,814  4,751
 Less: Cash and bank balances  (120,083)  (240,586)  (2,830)  (1,915)

 Net debt    1,109,784  149,597 54,484  2,836

 Equity attributable to the owners of the parent  950,629  898,836  789,100  738,866

 Total capital    950,629  898,836  789,100  738,866

 Capital and net debt  2,060,413  1,048,433  843,584  741,702

 Gearing ratio   0.54  0.14   0.06  0.00 
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51.  SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION - BREAKDOWN OF RETAINED EARNINGS/(ACCUMULATED LOSSES) INTO 
 REALISED AND UNREALISED

  The breakdown of the retained earnings/(accumulated losses) of the Group and of the Company as at 31 December 2011 and 31 
December 2010 into realised and unrealised profi ts is presented in accordance with the directive issued by Bursa Malaysia Securities 
Berhad dated 25 March 2011 and prepared in accordance with Guidance on Special Matter No. 1, Determination of Realised and 
Unrealised Profi ts or Losses in the Context of Disclosure Pursuant to Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad Listing Requirements, as issued 
by the Malaysian Institute of Accountants. 

        2011   2011
        Group   Company  
       RM’000 RM’000

 Total retained earnings/(accumulated losses) of the Company and its subsidiaries    
 - Realised profi ts / (losses)  40,168  (79,084)
 - Unrealised profi ts  32,269  – 

       72,437  (79,084)
 Total share of retained earnings from jointly controlled entities
 - Realised losses   (91)  – 
 
 Total share of retained earnings from associate    
 - Realised profi ts   22,041  –

       94,387  (79,084)
 Add: Consolidation adjustments  (11,901)  –

 Retained earnings/(accumulated losses) as per fi nancial statements  82,486  (79,084)

        2010   2010
        Group   Company  
       RM’000 RM’000

 Total retained earnings/(accumulated losses) of the Company and its subsidiaries   
 - Realised losses   (37,149)  (124,363)
 - Unrealised profi ts  28,105  –

       (9,044)  (124,363)
 Total share of retained earnings from associate    
 - Realised profi ts   19,646  –

       10,602  (124,363)

 Add: Consolidation adjustments  23,509  – 

 Retained earnings/(accumulated losses) as per fi nancial statements  34,111  (124,363)
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Distribution of Shareholdings

     No. of
   No. of  Shares
Size of shareholdings  Shareholders %  Held  %

1 - 99 310 3.80 4,808 #
100 to 1,000 2,262 27.70 2,108,737 0.46
1,001 to 10,000 4,631 56.72 18,884,280 4.10
10,001 to 100,000 869 10.64 24,568,856 5.33
100,001 to 23,031,685 * 87 1.07 156,698,515 34.02
23,031,686 and above ** 6 0.07 258,368,524 56.09

TOTAL 8,165 100.00 460,633,720 100.00

Notes :
* Less than 5% of total issued share capital
** 5% and above of total issued share capital
# Negligible

Substantial Shareholders as per the Register of Substantial Shareholders

    Direct Interest  Deemed Interest
   No. of  No. of 
Name  Shares Held  %  Shares Held %

Tan Sri Dato’ Tan Chee Sing 140,043,934 30.40 165,840,769(2) 36.00
Impeccable Ace Sdn Bhd 82,007,761 17.80 – –
Golden Diversity Sdn Bhd 83,833,008 18.20 – –
TAEL One Partners Ltd (“TAEL”)(1) 33,000,000 7.16 – –
United Overseas Bank Ltd (“UOBL”) – – 33,000,000(3) 7.16
Tan Sri Dato’ Seri Vincent Tan Chee Yioun – – 31,600,000(4) 6.86
Berjaya Corporation Berhad – – 31,600,000(5) 6.86
Berjaya Group Berhad – – 31,600,000(6) 6.86
Juara Sejati Sdn Bhd – – 31,600,000(7) 6.86

Directors’ Interests in Shares in the Company as per the Register of Directors’ Shareholdings

    Direct Interest  Deemed Interest
   No. of  No. of 
Name  Shares Held  %  Shares Held %

Tan Sri Dato’ Tan Chee Sing 140,043,934 30.40 165,840,769(1) 36.00
Dato’ Tong Kien Onn 35,000 0.01 89,250(2) 0.02
Loh Chen Peng 210,000 0.04 –
Kong Woon Jun 173,000 0.04 –
Dato’ Khoo Poh Chye –  100,000(2) 0.02

Notes :
(1) Deemed interested by virtue of his interests in Impeccable Act Sdn Bhd and Golden Diversity Sdn Bhd pursuant to Section 6A of the Act.
(2) Deemed interested by virtue of the shareholdings of his spouse.

SHARE CAPITAL
Authorised share capital  : RM1,000,000,000.00
Issued and paid-up share capital  : RM460,633,720.00

Class of shares  : Ordinary shares of RM1.00 each
Voting rights  : One vote per ordinary share held, on a poll

Notes :
(1)  TAEL is acting in its capacity as the general partners of The Asian Entrepreneur 

Legacy One, L.P.
(2)  Deemed interested by virtue of his interests in Impeccable Ace Sdn Bhd and 

Golden Diversity Sdn Bhd pursuant to Section 6A of the Companies Act, 1965 
(“Act”).

(3)  Deemed interested by virtue of its investment in The Asian Entrepreneur Legacy 
One, L.P. pursuant to Section 6A of the Act.

(4)  Deemed interested by virtue of his interest in Berjaya Corporation Berhad, the 
ultimate holding company of Berjaya Sompo Insurance Berhad and his interest in 
Berjaya Assets Berhad, the holding company of Sublime Cartel Sdn Bhd.

(5)  Deemed interested by virtue of its 100% interest in Berjaya Group Berhad, the 
penultimate holding company of Berjaya Sompo Insurance Berhad and its deemed 
interest in Berjaya Assets Berhad, the holding company of Sublime Cartel Sdn 
Bhd.

(6)  Deemed interested by virtue of its deemed interest in Berjaya Capital Berhad, the 
holding company of Berjaya Sompo Insurance Berhad and its deemed interest in 
Berjaya Assets Berhad, the holding company of Sublime Cartel Sdn Bhd.

(7)  Deemed interested by virtue of its interest in Berjaya Capital Berhad, the holding 
company of Berjaya Sompo Insurance Berhad and its deemed interest in Berjaya 
Assets Berhad, the holding company of Sublime Cartel Sdn Bhd.

analysis of 
shareholdings
as at 7 May 2012
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Thirty Largest Registered Shareholders according to the Record of Depositors
(Without aggregating the securities from different securities account belonging to the same Depositor)

No. Name of Shareholders  No. of Shares Held  %
1. Tan Chee Sing 63,463,704 13.78
2. Golden Diversity Sdn Bhd 54,975,000 11.93
3. CIMB Group Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd 47,722,059 10.36
 Pledged Securities Account For Tan Chee Sing, Dato
4. Amsec Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd 34,048,165 7.39
 Pledged Securities Account – Ambank (M) Bhd For Impeccable Ace Sdn Bhd
5. UOBM Nominees (Asing ) Sdn Bhd 33,000,000 7.16
 TAEL One Partiners Ltd
6. Impeccable Ace Sdn Bhd 25,159,596 5.46
7. Maybank Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd 22,000,000 4.78
 Pledged Securities Account For Impeccable Ace Sdn Bhd
8. Berjaya Sompo Insurance Berhad 21,600,000 4.69
9. Maybank Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd 16,908,008 3.67
 Pledged Securities Account For Golden Diversity Sdn Bhd
10. UOBM Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd 13,000,000 2.82
 United Overseas Bank Nominees (Pte) Ltd For Tan Chee Sing
11. CIMB Group Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd 11,025,000 2.39
 Pledged Securities Account For Golden Diversity Sdn Bhd
12. Alliance Group Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd 8,000,000 1.74
 Pledged Securities Account For Sublime Cartel Sdn Bhd
13. Amsec Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd 7,000,000 1.52
 Pledged Securities Account – Ambank (M) Berhad For Tan Chee Sing
14. Aneka Angkasa Sdn Bhd 6,215,400 1.35
15. Maybank Securities Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd 4,300,000 0.93
 Pledged Securities Account For The Tan Chee Sing
16. ABB Nominee (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd 4,025,000 0.87
 Pledged Securities Account For Tan Chee Sing
17. AllianceGroup Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd 3,500,000 0.76
 Pledged Securities Account For Goh Tian Chuan
18. Multi-Purpose Insurans Bhd 2,670,000 0.58
19. Amsec Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd 2,593,600 0.56
 Reka Antika Sdn Bhd
20. Citigroup Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd 2,446,000 0.53
 Exempt An For Eastspring Investments Berhad
21. Maybank Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd 2,001,000 0.43
 Pledged Securities Account For Juddy Chu Yen Tien
22. Sublime Cartel Sdn Bhd 2,000,000 0.43
23. RHB Capital Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd 1,500,000 0.33
 Pledged Securities Account For Tengku Adnan Bin Tengku Mansor
24. RHB Capital Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd 1,487,500 0.32
 Pledged Securities Account For Sow Gek Pong
25. RHB Capital Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd 1,461,100 0.32
 Firstwide Prestige Sdn Bhd
26. Maybank Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd 1,422,000 0.31
 Pledged Securities Account For Goh Tian Chuan
27. Sababumi (Sandakan) Sdn Bhd 1,220,000 0.26
28. Alliancegroup Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd 1,000,000 0.22
 Pledged Securities Account For Juddy Chu Yen Tien
29. Ooi Peng Cuan 1,000,000 0.22
30. Citigroup Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd 931,800 0.20
 CBNY For Dimensional Emerging Markets Value Fund

 TOTAL 397,674,932 86.33

analysis of
shareholdings

as at 7 May 2012
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Distribution of Warrant Holdings

   No. of  No. of
Size of Warrant Holdings  Warrant Holders %  Warrants Held  %

1 - 99 170 6.35 7,321 0.01
100 to 1,000 1,019 38.05 703,937 0.54
1,001 to 10,000 941 35.14 3,858,686 2.97
10,001 to 100,000 465 17.36 16,266,206 12.53
100,001 – 6,490,508 * 80 2.99 49,448,252 38.09
6,490,509 and above ** 3 0.11 59,525,789 45.86

TOTAL 2,678 100.00 129,810,191 100.00

Notes:
* Less than 5% of total warrants issued
** 5% and above of total warrants issued

Directors’ Interests in Warrants

    Direct Interest  Deemed Interest
   No. of  No. of  
Name  Warrants Held  %  Warrants Held %

Tan Sri Dato’ Tan Chee Sing 39,825,554 30.68 20,033,077(1) 15.43
Loh Chen Peng 60,000 0.05 – –

Note:
(1) Deemed interested by virtue of his interests in Impeccable Ace Sdn Bhd and Golden Diversity Sdn Bhd pursuant to Section 6A of the Companies Act, 1965.

WARRANT 2009/2019
No. of Warrants issued : 129,810,191
Exercise price of the Warrants : RM1.00
Expiry date of the Warrants : 8 December 2019
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Thirty Largest Registered Warrant Holders according to the Record of Depositors
(Without aggregating the securities from different securities account belonging to the same Depositor)

No. Name of Shareholders  No. of Shares  %
1. Amsec Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd 36,518,687 28.13
 Tan Chee Sing
2. Amsec Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd 12,630,789 9.73
 Impeccable Ace Sdn Bhd
3. HSBC Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd 10,376,313 7.99
 Exempt An For Credit Suisse
4. Amsec Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd 5,698,817 4.39
 Tasik Mewah Sdn Bhd
5. CIMSEC Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd 5,461,200 4.21
 CIMB Bank For Looi Boon Han
6. Golden Diversity Sdn Bhd 4,252,288 3.28
7. CIMB Group Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd 3,150,000 2.43
 Pledged Securities Account For Golden Diversity Sdn Bhd
8. Tng Kee Meng 2,320,000 1.79
9. Goh Cheah Hong 2,031,900 1.57
10. Amsec Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd 2,000,000 1.54
 Pledged Securities Account – Ambank (M) Berhad For Tan Chee Sing
11. Amsec Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd 1,895,080 1.46
 Warisan Istimewa Sdn Bhd
12. Tasik Mewah Sdn Bhd 1,778,000 1.37
13. ABB Nominee (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd 1,150,000 0.89
 Pledged Securities Account For Tan Chee Sing
14. Chin Kiam Hsung 984,400 0.76
15. Goh Buck Chooi 871,200 0.67
16. Yeo Pow Choo 820,000 0.63
17. Looi Boon Han 770,300 059
18. Chin Kian Fong 612,600 0.47
19. Geoffrey Lim Fung Keong 593,067 0.46
20. Public Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd 572,000 0.44
 Pledged Securities Account For Pui Joon Choi
21. Low Bee Keng 517,600 0.40
22. Affi n Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd 500,000 0.39
 Pledged Securities Account For Tan Sew Hoey (Tan Siew Hoey)
23. Tey Yee Yee 467,000 0.36
24. Amsec Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd 437,600 0.34
 PT Amcapital Indonesia For Leong Yee Fong
25. RHB Capital Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd 425,000 0.33
 Pledged Securities Account For Sow Gek Pong
26. Chong Yoke Lee 419,500 0.32
27. Low Ah Lin 400,033 0.31
28. Wong Lai Mon 380,000 0.29
29. Maybank Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd 373,500 0.29
 Pledged Securities Account For Tsu Cheng Hock
30. Maybank Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd 359,000 0.28
 Pledged Securities Account For Low Jeat Ghee

 TOTAL 98,765,874 76.08
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TROPICANA GOLF & 
COUNTRY RESORT BERHAD         

H.s.(D) 262313 PT 423 Land held for Leasehold 1991 –  1.70  – 0.64  – –
Mukim Bandar Damansara development (99 years)
Daerah Petaling  expiring on
Negeri Selangor  04.04.2127

H.s.(D) 98372 PT 31341 Land held for Leasehold 1991 –  3.20  –  0.78  – –
Mukim Sungei Buloh development (99 years)
Daerah Petaling  expiring on
Negeri Selangor   25.10.2090 

PN30650 Lot 213 Land held for Leasehold 1991 –  3.20  –  2.69  – –
Mukim Bandar Damansara development (99 years) 
Daerah Petaling  expiring on
Negeri Selangor   25.10.2090 

PN15851/15852  Land held for Leasehold 1991 –  1.03  –  0.05  – –
Lot 946/948  investment (99 years) 
Mukim Bandar Damansara  expiring on
Daerah Petaling  25.10.2090 
Negeri Selangor  

TROPICANA 
INDAH SDN BHD
         
Lot 52581 & 52582 Land held for Leasehold 1994 –  17.60  –  4.23  – –
Pekan Baru Sungai Buloh development (99 years) 
Daerah Petaling  expiring on
Negeri Selangor  24.04.2106 

DIJAYA PROPERTY 
SDN BHD
         
GRN 48088 Land held for Freehold 2008 –  63.06 –  46.88  – –
Lot 5717, Mukim Kajang development
Daerah Hulu Langat
Negeri Selangor  

GM 1293 Land held for Freehold 2008 –  2.97  –  2.21  – –
Lot 1953, Mukim Kajang development
Daerah Hulu Langat
Negeri Selangor
  
TROPICANA EDUCATION
MANAGEMENT SDN BHD         

HS (D) 240672 PT90197/240673 Land held for Leasehold 2010 –  6.07  –  31.71  31.05 Dec 2009
PT 91907/240674 PT 90286/240675 investment (99 years) 
PT 90198/240676 PT90287  expiring on
Pekan Baru Sungai Buloh,  27.09.2106
Daerah Petaling
Negeri Selangor 

list of
properties
as at 31 December 2011
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TROPICANA SERDANG 
SURIA SDN BHD 
(fka ASPEK ANALISA SDN BHD)         

PT 1789, 1791, 1793, 1794,  Land held for Leasehold 1996 –  5.90  –  1.02  – –
1795, 1796, 1797, 1798, 1799 development (99 years)
1800, 1801, 1802, 1803, 1804  expiring on
1805, 1806, 1807, 1808, 1809  21.06.2108
1810, 1811, 1812
9 1/2 Miles Jalan Sungai Besi
Serdang, Negeri Selangor
   
TROPICANA KL 
DEVELOPMENT SDN BHD
(fka ACE RHYTHM SDN BHD)
         
Lot 734 Seksyen 57 Land held for Freehold 2010 –  0.54  –  51.45  – –
Bandar Kuala Lumpur development  
  
TROPICANA DESA 
MENTARI SDN BHD 
(fka MAWAR HEBAT SDN BHD)
         
PT 579-604, PT 607-616 Land held for Leasehold  2010 –  1.76  –  19.89  – –
Mukim Damansara development (99 years) 
Daerah Petaling  expiring on 
Negeri Selangor  11.04.2101
 
TROPICANA SENIBONG SDN BHD 
(fka AMAN PETALING SDN BHD)
         
Geran 51446 Land held for Freehold 2011 –  4.05 –  11.51  – –
Lot 1055, Mukim Plentong development
Daerah Johor Bahru
Negeri Johor 

TROPICANA 
SUBANG DEVELOPMENT 
SDN BHD 
(fka TROPICANA MALL 
MANAGEMENT SDN BHD)
         
PT 12141 Lot 38513 Land held for Freehold 2011 –  88.49  –  385.46  – –
PT 12142 Lot 38514 development
PT 12143 Lot 38515
PT 12144 Lot 38516
Pekan Country Heights
Petaling, Selangor 

TROPICANA 
DANGA BAY SDN BHD
         
H.S.(D) 471884  Land held for Freehold 2010 – 25.14 –  208.08  – –
PT 22902 development
Bandar Johor Bahru
Daerah Johor Bahru
Negeri Johor 

H.S.(D) 471884  Land held for Freehold 2010 – 6.13 –  50.73  – –
PT 22902 investment
Bandar Johor Bahru
Daerah Johor Bahru
Negeri Johor

list of
properties

as at 31 December 2011
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TROPICANA 
GOLF & COUNTRY 
RESORT BERHAD
         
PN7972 Lot 205  Land under Leasehold 1991 –  5.20  –  1.72  – –
Mukim Bandar Damansara construction (99 years) 
Daerah Petaling  expiring on
Negeri Selangor   04.04.2127 

PN7974 Lot 201 Land under Leasehold 1991 –  8.20  –  0.38  – –
Mukim Bandar Damansara construction (99 years) 
Daerah Petaling  expiring on
Negeri Selangor  25.10.2090 

H.s.(D) 276798 PT 426 Land under Leasehold 1991 –  5.73  –  5.91  – –
Lot 426, Mukim Sungei Buloh construction (99 years)
Daerah Petaling  expiring on
Negeri Selangor   22.09.2109 

TROPICANA INDAH SDN BHD

PT No. 32431 to 32485 Land under Leasehold 1994 –  6.50  –  1.88  – –
Pekan Baru Sungai Buloh construction (99 years)
Daerah Petaling,  expiring on
Negeri Selangor  11.11.2101

PT No. 32199 to 32211 Land under Leasehold 1994 –  3.40  –  1.46  – –
Pekan Baru Sungai Buloh construction (99 years) 
Daerah Petaling,  expiring on
Negeri Selangor   27.05.2101 

PT No. 12400 to 12415 Land under Leasehold 1994 –  0.80  –  0.40  – –
Pekan Baru Sungai Buloh construction (99 years) 
Daerah Petaling  expiring on
Negeri Selangor   28.08.2097 

Lot No. 53725 to 53736 Land under Leasehold 1994 –  1.70  –  0.52  – –
Pekan Baru Sungai Buloh construction (99 years)
Daerah Petaling,  expiring on
Negeri Selangor   11.11.2101 

TROPICANA CITY SDN BHD 
         
HSD 136188 Lot PT8 Land under Freehold 1995 –  1.10  –  3.69  – –
Bandar Petaling Jaya construction
Tambahan 1
District Petaling
Negeri Selangor 

DIJAYA DEVELOPMENT SDN BHD
         
Geran 51952 Land under Freehold 2010 –  1.30  –  123.04  125.80 Nov 2009
Lot 194, Seksyen 58 Construction
Bandar Kuala Lumpur,
Daerah Kuala Lumpur,
Negeri Wilayah Persekutuan  

list of
properties
as at 31 December 2011
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DIJAYA PROPERTY SDN BHD
         
PT 56739-56766 Land under Freehold 2008 –  5.14  –  7.39  – –
PT 56768-56795 construction
PT 56797-56806
Mukim Cheras
Ulu Langat, Selangor  

PT 56808-56814 Land under Freehold 2008 –  2.05  –  2.92  – –
PT 56817-56827 construction
PT 56830-56833
Mukim Cheras
Ulu Langat, Selangor  

PT56767, PT 56796 Land under Freehold 2008 –  0.83  –  0.77  – –
PT56807, PT56815 construction
PT56816, PT56828
PT56829,
Mukim Cheras
Ulu Langat, Selangor  

PT56834-56843 Land under Freehold 2008 –  1.56  –  2.58  – –
PT 56844-56862 construction
Mukim Cheras
Ulu Langat, Selangor  

PT56863-56890 Land under Freehold 2008 –  2.35  –  3.90  – –
PT 56891-56915 construction
PT56917-56918
Mukim Cheras
Ulu Langat, Selangor  

PT56738 Land under Freehold 2008 –  1.04  –  1.43  – –
Mukim Cheras construction
Ulu Langat, Selangor  

PT56919 Land under Freehold 2008 –  1.87  –  2.60  – –
Mukim Cheras construction
Ulu Langat, Selangor

ARAH PELANGI SDN BHD         

Lot Nos. 405, 413, 417 & 715 Land under Freehold 1997 –  11.10  –  6.00  – –
Section 4 Town of Bukit Mertajam construction
District of Seberang Perai Tengah
Pulau Pinang 

TROPICANA DANGA BAY SDN BHD
         
H.S.(D) 471883 PT 22901 Land under Freehold 2010 –  6.00  –  49.66  – –
Bandar Johor Bahru construction
Daerah Johor Bahru
Negeri Johor  

list of
properties

as at 31 December 2011
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TROPICANA GOLF & 
COUNTRY RESORT BERHAD
         
Tropicana Golf & Country Resort Club and Leasehold 1994 19  121.80  –  119.39  – –
47410 Petaling Jaya Golf Course (99 years) 
Negeri Selangor   expiring on 
  25.10.2090 

PN30648 Lot 204 Showcase Leasehold 1991 –  0.90  –  4.26  – –
Mukim Bandar Damansara  (99 years) 
Daerah Petaling  expiring on
Negeri Selangor  25.10.2090

H.s.(D) 97760/98159  Bungalow Leasehold – – – 27,049  1.04  – –
PT 29946/30345 Lands (2pcs) (99 years)
Mukim Sungei Buloh  expiring on 
Daerah Petaling  25.10.2090
Negeri Selangor 

PN7974 Lot 201 Condominiums Leasehold 2005 to 4 – 10,077  0.07  – –
Mukim Bandar Damansara (8 units) (99 years) 2007
Daerah Petaling  expiring on
Negeri Selangor   25.10.2090 

PN 15853 Lot 950 Offi ce Lot Leasehold 2006 5 – 1,691  0.11  – –
Mukim Bandar Damansara (1 unit) (99 years)
Daerah Petaling  expiring on
Negeri Selangor   25.10.2090 

H.s.(D) 98270  Semi-D Leasehold 2003 9 – 3,910  0.37  – –
PT 30456 (1 unit) (99 years)
Mukim Sungei Buloh  expiring on
Daerah Petaling Negeri Selangor  25.10.2090 

PN31276/31280  Link Houses Leasehold 2005 5 – 4,670  0.71  – –
Lot 1089/1093  (2 units) (99 years) 
Mukim Bandar Damansara  expiring on
Daerah Petaling  25.10.2090
Negeri Selangor
  
TROPICANA CITY SDN BHD          

Geran 54431  3-Storey Freehold 2008 –  4.80  1,594,945  278.28  400.00 Dec 2011
Lot 45821, Seksyen 39 Shopping Mall
Bandar Petaling Jaya
Daerah Petaling
Negeri Selangor   

H.S. (D) 136187 12-Storey Freehold 2010 –  0.30  129,632  46.32  60.00 Dec 2011
Lot PT 7, Bandar Petaling Jaya Offi ce Tower
Tambahan 1
Daerah Petaling
Negeri Selangor   

Geran 54431  Tropics Service Freehold 2010 – – 8,722  4.49  – –
Lot 45821, Seksyen 39 Apartments 
Bandar Petaling Jaya (10 units)
Daerah Petaling
Negeri Selangor  

list of
properties
as at 31 December 2011
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TROPICANA INDAH SDN BHD
         
PT32519, 32542 & 32491 Villa Green 3A Leasehold 2008 3  0.21  8,998  3.00  – –
Pekan Baru Sungai Buloh (2 units) (99 years)
Daerah Petaling  expiring on
Negeri Selangor  11.11.2101
  

PT32197, 32198, 32209 Bungalow  Leasehold 1994 –  2.50  –  2.47  – –
32212, 32213 & 32214 Lands/3A (99 years)
Pekan Baru Sungai Buloh (6 units) expiring on 
Daerah Petaling  27.05.2101
Negeri Selangor

PT32278, 32285 & 32301 Bungalow Leasehold 1994 –  0.91  –  1.15  – –
Pekan Baru Sungai Buloh Lands/3B (99 years)
Daerah Petaling (3 units) expiring on 
Negeri Selangor   31.01.2099 

PT32409 Bungalow Leasehold 1994 –  0.20  –  0.29  – –
Pekan Baru Sungai Buloh Land/3C (99 years)
Daerah Petaling (1 unit) expiring on 
Negeri Selangor  31.01.2099

PT32325, 32328 Bungalow Leasehold 1994 –  1.30  –  1.37  – –
32342 & 32343 Lands/3D (99 years)
Pekan Baru Sungai Buloh (4 units) expiring on 
Daerah Petaling  31.01.2099
Negeri Selangor

PT32610, 32603 Bungalow Leasehold 1994 –  1.23  –  1.58  – –
32639 & 32637 Lands/3E (99 years)
Pekan Baru Sungai Buloh (4 units) expiring on 
Daerah Petaling  11.11.2101
Negeri Selangor 

PN34873 Casa Indah 1 Leasehold 2006 5 – 8,401  1.30  – –
Pekan Baru Sungai Buloh Condominiums (99 years)
Daerah Petaling (6 units) expiring on
Negeri Selangor   31.01.2099 

PT9741 Casa Indah 2 Leasehold 2009 3 – 4,908  0.95  – –
Pekan Baru Sungai Buloh Condominiums (99 years) 
Daerah Petaling (4 units) expiring on
Negeri Selangor  31.01.2099

DICORP LAND SDN BHD
         
Block D, Casa Suites Casa Suites Freehold 2008 4 – 6,523  3.58  – –
Jalan SS20/27 Service
Damansara Intan Apartments
47400 Petaling Jaya (8 units)
Negeri Selangor 

Damansara Intan Damansara Intan Freehold 1999 12 – 18,625  3.89  – –
Jalan SS 20/27 Business Park
Damansara Intan (13 units)
47400 Petaling Jaya
Negeri Selangor  

list of
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TROPICANA 
SERDANG SURIA SDN BHD
(fka ASPEK ANALISA SDN BHD)         

Lot No. 66117(PT1790) Fortune Park Leasehold 2007 4 – 27,894  2.83  – –
9 1/2 Miles Jalan Sungai Besi Apartments (99 years)  
Serdang, Negeri Selangor  (18 units) expiring on 
  21.06.2108 

TROPICANA 
SUNGAI BULOH SDN BHD 
(fka NADI JELITA SDN BHD)         

Penthouse Apartment Leasehold 1997 11 – 1,300  0.27  – –
Parcel No. 6 (1 unit) (99 years) 
Block A, Meranti Park  expiring on
Phase 1, Bukit Tinggi Resort  04.05.2094
Pahang Darul Makmur   

HSD 226728  Shop Lot Freehold 2011 – – 80,129  11.37  – –
PT No 9504 Lot 52587 (16 units)
Pekan Baru Sg Buloh
District Petaling
Negeri Selangor

list of
properties
as at 31 December 2011
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DIJAYA CORPORATION BERHAD 

Head Offi ce
Level 10 – 12 
Tropicana City Offi ce Tower
No. 3 Jalan SS 20/27
47400 Petaling Jaya 
Selangor Darul Ehsan, Malaysia
Tel :  + 603 7710 1018
Fax :  + 603 7725 3035
Email :  corpcomm@dijayacorp.com
Website  : www.DIJAYA.com.my

DIJAYA CORPORATION BERHAD 

Registered Offi ce
C-06-02, 6th Floor, Block C 
Wisma TT, No. 1, Jalan PJS 8/15 
Dataran Mentari 
46150 Petaling Jaya 
Selangor Darul Ehsan, Malaysia 
Tel : +603 5621 3808 
Fax  : +603 5621 3807

TROPICANA GOLF & 
COUNTRY RESORT BERHAD 

Clubhouse
Jalan Kelab Tropicana 
Tropicana Golf & Country Resort 
47410 Petaling Jaya 
Selangor Darul Ehsan, Malaysia 
Tel  : + 603 7804 8888 
Fax :  + 603 7804 3688 
Email  :  gm@tropicanagolf.com 
Website  :  www.tropicanagolf.com

TROPICANA CITY SDN BHD 

Marketing & Leasing
Lot B1-01, Basement 1 
Tropicana City Mall 
No. 3, Jalan SS 20/27 
47400 Petaling Jaya 
Selangor Darul Ehsan, Malaysia
Tel : + 603 7710 1818
Fax : + 603 7710 0202
Email : enquiries@tropicanacitymall.com
Website  : www.tropicanacitymall.com

SALES GALLERIES 
DIJAYA SALES GALLERY 

@Tropicana City Mall
Lot G23A, Ground Floor 
Tropicana City Mall 
No. 3 Jalan SS 20/27 
47400 Petaling Jaya 
Selangor Darul Ehsan, Malaysia 
Tel  : + 603 7728 2018 
Email  :  enquiry@dijayacorp.com

TROPICANA GRANDE 

Show Unit & Sales Offi ce
No. 10, Persiaran Tropicana, PJU 3 
Tropicana Golf & Country Resort 
47410 Petaling Jaya 
Selangor Darul Ehsan, Malaysia 
Tel  :  + 603 7806 3368 
Email  :  enquiry@dijayacorp.com

POOL VILLAS 
Show Unit & Sales Offi ce
No. 3, Jalan PJU 3/12G
Tropicana Indah Resort Homes
47100 Petaling Jaya 
Selangor Darul Ehsan, Malaysia 

TROPICANA CHERAS 

Sales Gallery
Persiaran Serdang Perdana
43300 Seri Kembangan
Selangor Darul Ehsan, Malaysia 
Tel  :  + 603 8948 9188
Email  :  enquiry@dijayacorp.com

TROPICANA DANGA BAY 

Sales Gallery
Lot PTB 22902, Teluk Danga
Jalan Persiaran Abu Bakar Sultan
80200 Johor Bahru
Johor Darul Takzim, Malaysia 
Tel  :  + 607 237 4188
Tel  :  + 607 237 4088

PROPERTY MANAGEMENT OFFICES 
TROPICANA MANAGEMENT SERVICES 
SDN BHD (TMS)

Property Management Offi ce
Jalan Kelab Tropicana 
Tropicana Golf & Country Resort 
47410 Petaling Jaya 
Selangor Darul Ehsan, Malaysia 
Tel  :  + 603 7804 8888 (General Line) 
  Ext. 513/119
Fax  :  + 603 7806 5044 
Email  : tms@tropicanagolf.com

TROPICANA CITY 

Property Management Offi ce
Tropicana City Mall & Offi ce 
Tower Lot B1-01, Basement 1 
Tropicana City Mall 
No. 3 Jalan SS 20/27 
47400 Petaling Jaya 
Selangor Darul Ehsan, Malaysia
Tel  :  + 603 7710 1818 
Fax  :  + 603 7710 0202 
Email  :  enquiries@tropicanacitymall.com 
Website  :  www.tropicanacitymall.com

Tropicana City Tropics
A3A-01 Tropics@Tropicana City 
No. 3 Jalan SS 20/27 
47400 Petaling Jaya 
Selangor Darul Ehsan, Malaysia 
Tel  :  + 603 7729 6822 
Fax  :  + 603 7729 3822 
Email  :  tropics@dijayacorp.com

TROPICANA INDAH SDN BHD 

Property Management Offi ce
Jalan Kelab Tropicana 
Tropicana Golf & Country Resort 
47410 Petaling Jaya 
Selangor Darul Ehsan, Malaysia 
Tel  :  + 603 7804 4722/
  + 603 7805 5855 
Fax  :  + 603 7806 5044 
Email  :  mpliew@dijayacorp.com
  zila@dijayacorp.com

corporate 
directory



190

CORPORATE DIRECTORY DIJAYA CORPORATION BERHAD
(47908-K)

ANNUAL REPORT 2011

CASA INDAH 1 CONDOMINIUMS 

Property Management Offi ce
B-G-05, Casa Indah 1 Condominiums 
No. 2A, Persiaran Surian 
Tropicana Indah, PJU 3 
Kota Damansara 
47410 Petaling Jaya 
Selangor Darul Ehsan, Malaysia 
Tel  :  + 603 6140 9198 
Fax  :  + 603 6140 9168 
Email  :  casaindahcondo@yahoo.com

CASA INDAH 2 CONDOMINIUMS 

Property Management Offi ce
A-02-01, Management Offi ce 
Casa Indah 2 Condominiums 
No. 2B Persiaran Surian 
Tropicana Indah Resort Homes, PJU 3 
Kota Damansara 
47410 Petaling Jaya 
Selangor Darul Ehsan, Malaysia 
Tel  :  + 603 6142 6288/6388 
Fax  :  + 603 6142 6788 
Email  :  casaindah2@dijayacorp.com

CASA TROPICANA CONDOMINIUMS 

Property Management Offi ce
B-5-17, Block B 
Casa Tropicana 
No. 5, Jalan Persiaran Tropicana, PJU 3 
Tropicana Golf & Country Resort 
47410 Petaling Jaya 
Selangor Darul Ehsan, Malaysia
Tel :  + 603 7883 0982
Fax :  + 603 7883 0292
Email :  casatropicana@dijayacorp.com

CASA SUITES 

Property Management Offi ce
Management Offi ce, Ground Floor
Block D, Casa Suites @ Damansara Intan 
No. 1, Jalan SS 20/27 
47400 Petaling Jaya 
Selangor Darul Ehsan, Malaysia 
Tel  :  + 603 7725 8229
Fax  :  + 603 7727 9611 
Email  :  casasuites@dijayacorp.com

CASA KIARA 2 CONDOMINIUMS 

Property Management Offi ce
Casa Kiara 2 
Lobby Level 
No. 14 Jalan Kiara 5, Bukit Kiara 
50480 Kuala Lumpur 
Wilayah Persekutuan, Malaysia 
Tel  :  + 603 6203 9229 
Fax  :  + 603 6203 9339 
Email  :  casakiara2@dijayacorp.com

FORTUNE PARK APARTMENTS 

Property Management Offi ce
A-5 Pangsapuri Suria Perdana 
(Fortune Park Apartments) 
Taman Serdang Perdana 
Seksyen 4
 43300 Sri Kembangan 
Selangor Darul Ehsan, Malaysia 
Tel  :  + 603 8944 9331 
Fax  :  + 603 8944 9332 
Email  :  fortunepark@dijayacorp.com

DAMANSARA INTAN 

Property Management Offi ce
328, 3rd Floor 
Block A, Damansara Intan 
No. 1 Jalan SS 20/27 
47400 Petaling Jaya 
Selangor Darul Ehsan, Malaysia
Tel :  + 603 7118 3111
Fax :  + 603 7118 3222
Email :  gracewong@dijayacorp.com

MERCHANT SQUARE BUSINESS PARK 

Property Management Offi ce
No. 1, Jalan Tropicana Selatan 1, PJU 3 
47410 Petaling Jaya 
Selangor Darul Ehsan, Malaysia 
Tel  :  + 603 7883 0866 
Fax  :  + 603 7883 0966 
Email  :  merchantsquare@dijayacorp.com

TSB COMMERCIAL CENTRE 
SUNGAI BULOH 

Property Management Offi ce
No. 15, Jalan Nautika C U20/C 
TSB Commercial Centre 
Sungai Buloh, Seksyen U20 
40160 Shah Alam 
Selangor Darul Ehsan, Malaysia 
Tel  :  + 6019 364 3097/
  + 6019 364 3059

ARENA MENTARI BUSINESS PARK 

Property Management Offi ce
Basement
Block C, Wisma TT 
No. 1, Jalan PJS 8/15
Dataran Mentari 
46150 Petaling Jaya 
Selangor Darul Ehsan, Malaysia 
Tel  :  + 603 5621 1979 
Fax  :  + 603 5621 1980 
Email  :  istimabudi@gmail.com
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NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING ANNUAL REPORT 2011DIJAYA CORPORATION BERHAD
(47908-K)

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN THAT the 33rd Annual General Meeting of Dijaya Corporation Berhad (“Dijaya” 
or “Company”) will be held at Ballroom 1, Tropicana Golf & Country Resort, Jalan Kelab Tropicana, 47410 
Petaling Jaya, Selangor Darul Ehsan on Thursday, 28 June 2012 at 11.00 a.m. for the following purposes:-

As Ordinary Business

1  To receive and adopt the Audited Financial Statements for the 
year ended 31 December 2011 together with the Reports of the 
Directors and Auditors thereon.

    Please see Note (i) below

2  To approve the payment of a fi rst and fi nal dividend of 3% or 3 sen 
per share less 25% Malaysian Income Tax in respect of the fi nancial 
year ended 31 December 2011. Resolution 1

3.  To re-elect the following Directors who retire by rotation in 
accordance with Article 97 of the Company’s Articles of Association 
and, being eligible, have offered themselves for re-election:-

 3.1  Datuk Seri Panglima Mohd Annuar Bin Zaini Resolution 2
 3.2  Dickson Tan Yong Loong Resolution 3
 3.3  Tang Vee Mun Resolution 4

4.  To re-elect the following Directors who retire in accordance with 
Article 103 of the Company’s Articles of Association and, being 
eligible, have offered themselves for re-election:-

 4.1  Dato’ Khoo Poh Chye Resolution 5
 4.2  Koong Wai Seng Resolution 6
 4.3  Diana Tan Sheik Ni Resolution 7

5  To approve the payment of Directors’ fees amounting to 
RM253,480.00 for the fi nancial year ended 31 December 2011.

    Resolution 8

6.  To re-appoint Messrs Ernst & Young as Auditors of the Company 
until the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting and to 
authorise the Directors to fi x their remuneration. Resolution 9

As Special Business

7.  To consider and if thought fi t, to pass the following resolution as an 
Ordinary Resolution, with or without modifi cations:-

  Authority for Directors to issue shares pursuant to Section 
132D of the Companies Act, 1965

  
  “RESOLVED THAT pursuant to Section 132D of the Companies 

Act, 1965 and subject always to the Companies Act, 1965, the 
Company’s Articles of Association and the approval of the relevant 
authorities, the Directors of the Company be and are hereby 
authorised to issue shares in the Company from time to time to 
such person(s) and upon such terms and conditions and for such 
purposes as the Directors may in their absolute discretion deem 
fi t provided that the aggregate number of shares to be issued 
pursuant to this resolution does not exceed 10% of the issued 
capital of the Company for the time being and that the Directors 
be and are hereby also empowered to obtain the approval for the 
listing of and quotation for the additional shares so issued, on Bursa 
Malaysia Securities Berhad and that such approval shall continue in 
force until:-

 a)   the conclusion of the Annual General Meeting commencing 
next after the date of which this approval was given; or

 b)   the expiration of the period within which the next Annual 
General Meeting after that date is required by law to be held, 

  whichever is the earlier; but any approval may be revoked or varied 
by the Company in general meeting.”  Resolution 10

    
8.  To transact any other business for which due notice shall have 

been given in accordance with the Companies Act, 1965 and the 
Company’s Articles of Association.

notice of annual 
general meeting
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ANNUAL REPORT 2011

NOTICE OF DIVIDEND ENTITLEMENT AND PAYMENT

NOTICE IS ALSO HEREBY GIVEN THAT the fi rst and fi nal dividend 
of 3% or 3 sen per share less 25% Malaysian Income Tax in respect 
of the fi nancial year ended 31 December 2011, if approved by the 
shareholders of the Company at the 33rd Annual General Meeting of 
the Company, will be paid on 6 September 2012 to the shareholders 
registered in the Record of Depositors of the Company at the close of 
business on 9 August 2012.

Shareholders of the Company will only be entitled to the dividend in 
respect of:-

(a)    shares deposited into the depositor’s securities accounts before 
12.30 p.m. on 7 August 2012 (in respect of shares which are 
exempted from mandatory deposit);

(b)  shares transferred into their securities account before 4.00 p.m. on 
9 August 2012 for ordinary transfers; and

(c)    shares bought on Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad on a cum 
entitlement basis according to the Rules of Bursa Malaysia 
Securities Berhad.

By Order of the Board
DIJAYA CORPORATION BERHAD

TEH PENG PENG
Company Secretary

Petaling Jaya
6 June 2012

NOTES:-

(i)  Section 169 of the Companies Act, 1965 requires the Company to lay the 
audited fi nancial statements and the reports of the directors and the auditors 
thereon at its annual general meeting. Article 67 of the Company’s Articles of 
Association specifi es that one of the ordinary businesses to be transacted at an 
annual general meeting of the Company is to consider and to adopt the audited 
fi nancial statements. As such, this agenda item no. 1 is not a business which 
requires a resolution to be put to vote by the shareholders. This agenda item is 
for discussion and receipt only.

(ii)   For the purpose of determining a member who shall be entitled to attend this 
33rd Annual General Meeting, the Company shall be requesting Bursa Malaysia 
Depository Sdn Bhd in accordance with Article 62(3) of the Company’s Articles 
of Association and Section 34(1) of the Securities Industry (Central Depositories) 
Act 1991, to issue a General Meeting Record of Depositors as at 21 June 2012. 
Only a depositor whose name appears on such Record of Depositors shall be 
entitled to attend the meeting or appoint proxies to attend and/or vote on his/her 
behalf in the meeting.

(iii)  A member entitled to attend and vote at the meeting is entitled to appoint a proxy 
or proxies (subject always to a maximum of two (2) proxies) to speak, attend and 
vote in his/her stead. A proxy may but need not be a member of the Company and 
Section 149(1)(b) of the Companies Act, 1965 shall not apply to the Company. 
There is no restriction as to the qualifi cation of the proxy.

(iv)   Where a member is an authorised nominee as defi ned under the Securities 
Industry (Central Depositories) Act, 1991, it may appoint at least one (1) proxy in 
respect of each securities account it holds with ordinary shares of the Company 
standing to the credit of the said securities account.

(v)   Where a member of the Company is an exempt authorised nominee which holds 
ordinary shares in the Company for multiple benefi cial owners in one securities 
account (as defi ned under the Securities Industry (Central Depositories) Act 
1991), there is no limit to the number of proxies which the exempt authorised 
nominee may appoint in respect of each account is holds.

(vi)   To be valid, the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies, under the hand of the 
appointer or his/her attorney duly authorised in writing, must be completed and 
deposited at the Company’s Registered Offi ce at C-06-02, 6th Floor, Block C, 
Wisma TT, No. 1, Jalan PJS 8/15, Dataran Mentari, 46150 Petaling Jaya, Selangor 
Darul Ehsan not less than 48 hours before the time set for holding the meeting or 
at any adjournment thereof.

(vii)   If the appointer is a corporation, the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies 
must be executed under its seal or under the hand of its duly authorised attorney.

Explanatory Note on Special Business

Proposed Ordinary Resolution 10
Authority for Directors to issue shares pursuant to Section 132D of the 
Companies Act, 1965

The general mandate sought by the Company under the proposed Ordinary Resolution 
10 is to renew the previous general mandate granted to the Directors at the 32nd 
Annual General Meeting held on 22 June 2011 to issue shares pursuant to Section 
132D of the Companies Act, 1965. As at the date of this notice, no new shares in the 
Company were issued under the previous general mandate, which will lapse at the 
conclusion of the 33rd Annual General Meeting and hence, no proceeds was raised 
therefrom.

The proposed Ordinary Resolution 10, if passed, will empower the Directors of the 
Company to issue and allot not more than 10% of the Company’s total issued share 
capital speedily without having to convene a general meeting. This authority, unless 
revoked or varied by the Company in general meeting, will expire at the conclusion of 
the 34th Annual General Meeting of the Company.

Instances for which the Company may issue new shares under this general mandate 
include but not limited to the purpose(s) of complying with public shareholding spread 
requirements, meeting any Bumiputera equity requirements, raising fund through 
private placement for the Group’s investments, working capital and/or acquisitions, 
and/or allowing the entry of strategic partners.

Statement Accompanying the Notice of Annual General Meeting

Pursuant to paragraph 8.27(2) of the Listing Requirements of Bursa Malaysia Securities 
Berhad, the notice convening an annual general meeting is to be accompanied by a 
statement furnishing details of individuals who are standing for election as director. 
This requirement excludes directors who are standing for re-election.

No individual is standing for election as a Director at the 33rd Annual General Meeting 
of the Company.

notice of annual 
general meeting



proxy form
DIJAYA CORPORATION BERHAD

(47908-K)
Incorporated in Malaysia

I/We (full name in block capitals)

NRIC No./Company No. CDS Account No.

of (full address)

being a member/members of DIJAYA CORPORATION BERHAD hereby appoint (full name as per NRIC in block capitals)

 NRIC No.

of (full address)

or failing him/her NRIC No.

of (full address)

or failing him/her, the Chairman of the meeting as my/our proxy to vote for me/us on my/our behalf at the 33rd Annual General Meeting of the Company 
to be held at Ballroom 1, Tropicana Golf & Country Resort, Jalan Kelab Tropicana, 47410 Petaling Jaya, Selangor Darul Ehsan on Thursday, 28 June 2012 
at 11.00 a.m. or at any adjournment thereof.

 NO. RESOLUTIONS FOR AGAINST
 - To receive and adopt the Audited Financial Statements for the year ended Not applicable
  31 December 2011 together with the reports of the Directors and Auditors thereon.

 1.  To approve a fi rst and fi nal dividend of 3% or 3 sen per share less 25% Malaysian Income Tax
  in respect of the fi nancial year ended 31 December 2011.

 2. To re-elect Datuk Seri Panglima Mohd Annuar Bin Zaini as Director.

 3. To re-elect Mr Dickson Tan Yong Loong as Director.

 4. To re-elect Mr Tang Vee Mun as Director.

 5. To re-elect Dato’ Khoo Poh Chye as Director.

 6. To re-elect Mr Koong Wai Seng as Director.

 7. To re-elect Ms Diana Tan Sheik Ni as Director.

 8. To approve the payment of Directors’ fees amounting to RM253,480.00 for the fi nancial year
  ended 31 December 2011.

 9. To re-appoint Messrs Ernst & Young as Auditors and to authorise the Directors to fi x their remuneration.

 10. To authorise Directors to issue shares up to 10% of the issued capital for the time being pursuant 
  to Section 132D of the Companies Act, 1965.

Please indicate with an “X” in the appropriate spaces how you wish your votes to be cast. In the absence of specifi c directions, your proxy will vote or abstain 
from voting at his discretion.
 No. of shares held
 

Signature/Seal of Shareholder(s) Contact no.

Signed this  day of 2012

Notes:-
(i)   Section 169 of the Companies Act, 1965 requires the Company to lay the audited fi nancial statements and the reports of the directors and the auditors thereon at its annual 

general meeting. Article 67 of the Company’s Articles of Association specifi es that one of the ordinary businesses to be transacted at an annual general meeting of the 
Company is to consider and to adopt the audited fi nancial statements. As such, this agenda item no. 1 is not a business which requires a resolution to be put to vote by the 
shareholders. This agenda item is for discussion and receipt only.

(ii)   For the purpose of determining a member who shall be entitled to attend this 33rd Annual General Meeting, the Company shall be requesting Bursa Malaysia Depository 
Sdn Bhd in accordance with Article 62(3) of the Company’s Articles of Association and Section 34(1) of the Securities Industry (Central Depositories) Act 1991, to issue a 
General Meeting Record of Depositors as at 21 June 2012. Only a depositor whose name appears on such Record of Depositors shall be entitled to attend the meeting or 
appoint proxies to attend and/or vote on his/her behalf in the meeting.

(iii)   A member entitled to attend and vote at the meeting is entitled to appoint a proxy or proxies (subject always to a maximum of two (2) proxies) to speak, attend and vote in his/
her stead. A proxy may but need not be a member of the Company and Section 149(1)(b) of the Companies Act 1965 shall not apply to the Company. There is no restriction 
as to the qualifi cation of the proxy.

(iv)   Where a member is an authorised nominee as defi ned under the Securities Industry (Central Depositories) Act, 1991, it may appoint at least one (1) proxy in respect of each 
securities account it holds with ordinary shares of the Company standing to the credit of the said securities account.

(v)   Where a member of the Company is an exempt authorised nominee which holds ordinary shares in the Company for multiple benefi cial owners in one securities account 
(as defi ned under the Securities Industry (Central Depositories) Act 1991), there is no limit to the number of proxies which the exempt authorised nominee may appoint in 
respect of each account is holds.

(vi)   To be valid, the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies, under the hand of the appointer or his/her attorney duly authorised in writing, must be completed and deposited at 
the Company’s Registered Offi ce at C-06-02, 6th Floor, Block C, Wisma TT, No. 1, Jalan PJS 8/15, Dataran Mentari, 46150 Petaling Jaya, Selangor Darul Ehsan not less 
than 48 hours before the time set for holding the meeting or at any adjournment thereof.

(vii)  If the appointer is a corporation, the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be executed under its seal or under the hand of its duly authorised attorney.



THE COMPANY SECRETARY
DIJAYA CORPORATION BERHAD (47908-K)

C-06-02, 6th Floor, Block C, Wisma TT
No.1, Jalan PJS 8/15 
Dataran Mentari
46150 Petaling Jaya
Selangor Darul Ehsan
Malaysia

If undelivered, please return to:-
SYMPHONY SHARE REGISTRARS SDN. BHD. (378993-D)

Level 6, Symphony House
Pusat Dagangan Dana 1
1, Jalan PJU 1A/46
47301 Petaling Jaya
Selangor Darul Ehsan
Malaysia

Affi x
Stamp

1st fold here

2nd fold here



DIJAYA CORPORATION BERHAD (47908-K)

Level 10-12
Tropicana City Offi ce Tower
No 3, Jalan SS 20/27
47400 Petaling Jaya
Selangor Darul Ehsan, Malaysia
Tel : 03-7710 1018
Fax : 03-7725 3035
www.DIJAYA.com.my




